University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

2007

Some extensions of Cochran's theorem

Jianhua Hu University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Hu, Jianhua, "Some extensions of Cochran's theorem" (2007). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 4691. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/4691

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

SOME EXTENSIONS OF

COCHRAN'S THEOREM

by

JIANHUA HU

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through Mathematics and Statistics in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2007

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-35069-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-35069-0

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



All rights reserved, 2007

© Jianhua Hu

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Abstract

The aim of this dissertation is to obtain the distributions of matrix quadratic forms (MQFs) in a normal random matrix and some extensions of Cochran's theorem. The main contribution of this dissertation consists of the following two parts.

1. Let Y be an $n \times p$ multivariate normal random matrix with mean μ and general covariance Σ_Y . In this dissertation, a general covariance Σ_Y of Y means that the collection of all np elements in Y has an arbitrary $np \times np$ covariance matrix. For the symmetric matrix W, a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions is derived for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY to have a noncentral Wishart distribution. Then a multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning the noncentral Wishartness and independence of matrix quadratic forms is obtained. Some examples and the usual versions of Cochran's theorem are presented as special cases of this result.

2. Let Y be an $n \times p$ multivariate normal random matrix with mean μ and general covariance matrix Σ_Y . For the symmetric matrix W, a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions is derived for a matrix quadratic form to be distributed as a difference of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices (DINWRM). A multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices of Cochran's theorem concerning differences of Cochran's theorem c

In addition to the above contribution, for the first part, we use a matrix approach

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

to present the proven result for the zero mean 0 case. This case has been solved by Masaro and Wong (2004a). They used Jordan algebra representations to obtain a general multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning Wishartness and independence. Their result and proof is more mathematically involved. Further, we provide a discrete representation version of Cochran's theorem.

For the second part, we use a matrix approach to present the proven result for the mean zero case. This case has been solved by Masaro and Wong (2004b). They used Jordan algebra homomorphisms to obtain the necessary and sufficient conditions for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_iY$ to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as *differences of independent Wishart random matrices (DIWRMs)*. Their result and proof is more mathematically involved. Our presentation provides a discrete representation version of Cochran's theorem concerning DIWRMs. I dedicate my efforts to:

v

my parents for their love and support; my wife, for her love, support and encouragement

Acknowledgements

I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my advisor, Dr. S. Ejaz Ahmed, for his guidance and help in the process of my PhD program. I would also like to express my sincere appreciation to Dr. James S Frank, Dean of Faculty of Graduate Studies & Research, for supporting my research at the later stage of my PhD study program.

Special thanks go to Dr. Serge Provost, my dissertation external examiner, for taking his precious time to read through my thesis and provide helpful suggestions.

I am very grateful to all of the members of my dissertation advisory committee, Dr. Scott Goodwin, Dr. Tim Traynor and Dr. Severien Nkurunziza. I appreciate their time and their constructive, helpful feedback, which greatly improved the quality of this dissertation.

I sincerely thank the Student Support Branch, the Ministry of Education and Training of Ontario for awarding me 2002-2003, 2003-2004 and 2004-2005 successive three academic year Ontario Graduate Scholarships and 2005-2006 academic year Ontario Graduate Scholarship in Science and Technology.

I would like to thank the Department of Mathematics and Statistics, and the University of Windsor, for giving me financial support in terms of graduate teaching assistantships, tuition scholarships and a bursary.

I would like to thank my professors Dr. Karen Y. Fung, Dr. Myron Hlynka, Dr. Zhiguo Hu, Dr. Sudhir R Paul and Dr. Chi Song Wong for guiding me in my graduate course study.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents for their patience, understanding, and support for my long study period. I would like to thank my wife for her patience, understanding, support and sacrifice throughout my graduate studies.

vi

List of Nomenclature

\mathbb{R} :	the real number set
\mathbb{R}^p :	the Euclidean space of dimension p consisting $p\times 1$ real vectors
A :	the determinant of square matrix A
tr(A):	the trace of matrix A
$\mathbb{M}_{n imes p}$:	the set of $n \times p$ matrices over real set \mathbb{R}
<,>:	trace inner product
< S >:	the linear span of a given set S
$\ A\ $:	the trace norm of matrix A
\mathbb{S}_p :	the set of symmetric matrices of order p
I_p :	the identity matrix of order p
A^+ :	the Moore-Penrose inverse of matrix A
$sr(\mathbf{s}):$	the spectral radius of square matrix \mathbf{s}
\mathbb{N}_p :	the set of nonnegative definite matrices of order p over real set $\mathbb R$
n.n.d.:	nonnegative definite
\mathcal{N}_0 :	the neighborhood of 0
$A^{lpha}:$	the α th n.n.d. root of A for $\alpha > 0$
$A^{-lpha}:$	the α th n.n.d. root of A^+ for $\alpha > 0$
<i>vec</i> ():	vec operator
\otimes :	the Kronecker product
K_{np} :	the commutation matrix of order np
E_{ij} :	the symmetric matrix of order p whose ij th entry and ji th entry
	both are 1 and all other entries 0

vii

	아이들은 것 같은 것이 아파 이 것을 수 없는 것이 같이 많이 있는 것이다.
\mathbb{E}_p :	the set of matrices E_{ij} , $1 \le i \le j \le p$, called the basic basis
	of the set \mathbb{S}_p
\mathbb{H}_p :	the set of matrices $HE_{ij}H'$, $1 \leq i \leq j \leq p$, for $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, where
	H is an orthogonal matrix such that $H'\Sigma H$ is diagonal and
	$\mathbb{H}_p = \{ HE_{ij}H': E_{ij} \in \mathbb{E}_p \}, \text{ called the similar basis (of the } \mathbb{S}_p)$
	associated with Σ .
\mathbb{K}_0	set $\{\mathbf{t}: \Lambda \mathbf{t} \Lambda = 0, \ \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p\}$
ĸ	$ ext{set} \ \{ \mathbf{h} : \Sigma \mathbf{h} \Sigma = 0, \ \mathbf{h} \in \mathbb{H}_p \}$
$\mathcal{N}_{m{p}}(m{\mu},\Sigma)$:	multivariate normal distribution with mean vector
	$oldsymbol{\mu}$ and covariance matrix Σ
$\mathcal{N}_{n imes p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$:	multivariate normal distribution with mean matrix
	$oldsymbol{\mu}$ and covariance matrix Σ_Y
$\mathcal{W}_p(m,\Sigma)$:	Wishart distribution with m degrees of freedom
	and covariance matrix Σ of order p
$\mathcal{W}_p(m,\Sigma,oldsymbol{\lambda})$:	noncentral Wishart distribution with m degrees of freedom,
	covariance matrix Σ of order p and non-centrality matrix $oldsymbol{\lambda}$
$M_Q(\mathbf{s}), M(\mathbf{s}):$	the moment generating function of matrix quadratic form ${\cal Q}$
MQF:	matrix quadratic form
MQFs:	matrix quadratic forms
DIWRM :	difference of independent Wishart random matrices
DIWRMs:	differences of independent Wishart random matrices
DINWRM :	difference of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices

Contents

	Abstract	iii
	Dedication	v
	Acknowledgements	vi
	List of Nomenclature	vii
1	Introduction and Literature	1
	1.1 Cochran's Theorem	1
	1.2 Literature Review	3
	1.3 Our Motivation and Research Results	9
	1.4 The Organization of this Dissertation	11
2	Notations and Preliminaries	15
	2.1 Matrix Algebra	15
	2.2 Central and Noncentral Wishart Distributions	22
	2.3 Matrix Quadratic Forms (MQFs) and Moment Generating Functions	25

CONTENTS

3	ΑN	Iultivariate Version of Cochran's Theorem on Noncentral Wishar	entral Wishart-	
	nes	s and Independence	32	
	3.1	Wishartness of a Matrix Quadratic Form (MQF)	33	
	3.2	Wishartness and Independence of MQFs	55	
	3.3	Noncentral Wishartness of a MQF	65	
	3.4	Noncentral Wishartness and Independence of Matrix Quadratic Forms	75	
4	AI	Multivariate Version of Cochran's Theorem Concerning DIN	- - -	
	WF	tMs	84	
	4.1	Conditions for a MQF to be Distributed as a DIWRM	85	
	4.2	Conditions for MQFs to be an Independent Family of Random Matrices		
		Distributed as DIWRMs	100	
	4.3	Conditions for a MQF to be Distributed as a DINWRM \ldots	107	
	4.4	Conditions for MQFs to be an Independent Family of Random Matrices		
		Distributed as DINWDs	112	
5	Cor	clusions and Future Research	117	
	5.1	Model One	117	
	5.2	Model Two $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	118	
$\mathbf{A}_{]}$	ppen	dix	121	
Bi	ibliog	graphy	127	
V	ita A	uctoris	137	

x

Chapter 1

Introduction and Literature

1.1 Cochran's Theorem

It is well-known that Cochran's theorem plays an important role in the distribution theory for (matrix) quadratic forms in normal random variables and in the application of the theory of statistics, such as the theory of least squares, variance component analysis, estimation including MINQUE theory and testing of hypothesis and time series analysis. This has attracted many scholars to research and develop the extensions of Cochran's theorem for over seventy years.

In general, for a set of symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l of order n, the necessary and sufficient algebraic conditions are expected to characterize the probability statement that a set of matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$, where Y is an $n \times p$ normally distributed random matrix, is an independent family of central or noncentral Wishart random matrices. This is one problem that extensions of Cochran's theorem intend to solve. For convenience of statement, it is called **the** original problem in this dissertation.

The property of a matrix quadratic form being distributed as a (noncentral) Wishart random matrix is called the (noncentral) Wishartness of the matrix quadratic form. The property that a quadratic form in a normal random vector is distributed as a (noncentral) chi-square random variable is called the (noncentral) chi-squareness of the quadratic form.

Note that, in the original problem, the symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l do not need to be nonnegative definite, then, it is quite natural for statisticians to discuss whether a matrix quadratic form is distributed as a difference of two independent (noncentral) Wishart random matrices. This is called **the extended problem** in this dissertation for the sake of differentiating from the original problem.

The extended problem is formally stated as follows: For the symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l of order n, the necessary and sufficient algebraic conditions are expected to characterize the probability statement that a set of matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$, where Y is an $n \times p$ normally distributed random matrix, is an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent (noncentral) Wishart random matrices. The extended problem is also one problem that the extensions of Cochran's theorem intend to solve.

Although the extended problem is different from the original problem, a new theorem stating the necessary and sufficient algebraic conditions to characterize the original problem or the extended problem is called a new version or an extension of Cochran's theorem. So far, many versions of Cochran's theorem concerning the original problem have been obtained and some versions of Cochran's theorem concerning the extended problem have been developed.

In the next section, we shall review the literature for the original problem and the extended problem.

1.2 Literature Review

Cochran investigated the distribution of quadratic forms in a normal random vector. His well-known result of the algebraic characterization of the chi-squareness and independence of quadratic forms in a normal random vector was published in Proceedings of the Combridge Philosophical Society in 1934. Cochran (1934) proved that the sum of ranks r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_l of the symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l being their order n is a necessary and sufficient algebraic condition for the quadratic forms $\mathbf{y}'W_1\mathbf{y}$, $\mathbf{y}'W_2\mathbf{y}, \ldots, \mathbf{y}'W_l\mathbf{y}$, where \mathbf{y} is an n-variate normally distributed random vector with mean vector $\mathbf{0}$ and population covariance matrix I_n , to be an independent family of chi-square random variables with r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_l degrees of freedom, respectively. This is the well-known Cochran's theorem in statistics.

Since 1934, Cochran's result has become a cornerstone of the theory of analysis of variance in experimental designs, regression analysis and data analysis. Many scholars have been attracted to generalize Cochran's result in the univariate normal system. Madow (1940) generalized the result for \mathbf{y} with nonzero mean vector $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ while Chipman and Rao (1964) extended Cochran's theorem to \mathbf{y} with positive definite population covariance matrix Σ . Various extensions of Cochran's result and their interrelationships were given by Ogasawara and Takahashi (1951), James (1952),

Graybill and Marsaglia (1957), Khatri (1963, 1968), Banerjee (1964), Chipman and Rao (1964), Rayner and Livingst (1965), Loynes (1966), Shanbhag (1966, 1968), Banerjee and Nagase(1976), Good (1969), Styan (1970) and Anderson and Styan (1982).

The independence of two quadratic forms with the case $\Sigma = I_n$ were investigated by Craig (1943) and Sakamoto (1944). Parallel results were then obtained and extended to the singular case by Ogasawara and Takahashi (1951), and by Khatri (1963), for nonzero mean, and by Good (1963) and Shanbhag (1966) for zero mean only. The corresponding results for the independence of two second degree polynomial quadratic expressions were established by Laha (1956).

The interested reader can further refer to Johnson and Kotz (1970), Styan (1970), Rao and Mitra (1971), Searle (1971), Rao (1973), Khatri (1980), Driscoll and Gundberg (1986) and the references therein for various univariate versions of Cochran's theorem and their interrelationships.

In the earlier 60's, Khatri (1962, 1963) extended Cochran's theorem from the univariate case to the multivariate case. With the development and applications of statistics, matrix quadratic forms have extensive applications in multivariate analysis of dispersion and in multiple regression in time series analysis, see Anderson (1971) and Rao (1973) for several examples. It was also noted that the covariance matrix of the normal random matrix Y is the structure of a Kronecker product in those applications. For example, the asymptotic distribution of some maximum likelihood estimates in linear stochastic models is normal with dispersion matrix of the form of a Kronecker product, see Anderson (1971).

4

Thus, there are numerous papers developing some extensions of Cochran's theorem concerning the Wishartness and independence of matrix quadratic forms in a normal random matrix with the covariance structure of a Kronecker product. Namely, the various necessary and sufficient conditions for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of (noncentral) Wishart random matrices were established for situations where the covariance matrix of Y is the Kronecker product $A \otimes \Sigma$ of the design covariance A and the population covariance Σ . We refer the interested reader to Rao and Mitra (1971), Khatri (1980), Fang and Wu (1984), Siotani *et al.* (1985), Fan (1986), de Gunst (1987), Mathai and Provost (1992), Baksalary *et al.* (1994), Vaish and Chaganty (2004), Tian and Styan (2005) and the reference therein.

Since the application of matrix quadratic forms is more and more extensive there are also a number of important instances where the covariance matrix Σ_Y of Y cannot be represented as the form of the Kronecker product $A \otimes \Sigma$ of the design covariance A and the population covariance Σ , see Anderson *et al.* (1986), Pavur (1987), Rao and Kleffe (1988), Mathew (1989) and Wong *et al.* (1995). So scholars started to extend Cochran's theorem to the cases that the covariance of the normal random matrix Y is a general nonnegative definite matrix Σ_Y , namely, the collection of all np elements in Y has an arbitrary $np \times np$ covariance matrix.

Pavur (1987) obtained the distribution of matrix quadratic forms on condition that the underlying matrix W is nonnegative definite, the population covariance Σ is nonsingular and the covariance structure of Y does not need to be the form of a Kronecker product. Wong *et al.* (1991) obtained a set of necessary and sufficient

conditions for the general case except for placing restrictions on the column space of Σ_Y , extending Pavur's results. A verifiable version of Cochran's theorem was also obtained by Wong and Wang (1993) for the case where the underlying matrices are nonnegative definite. Later, refinements and simpler proofs of the main result in Wong and Wang (1993) were obtained by Mathew and Nordstrom (1997) and Wong et al. (1999). Wang et al. (1996) obtained a version of Cochran's theorem for multivariate components of variance models, where the covariance Σ_Y is the sum of a series Kronecker products and underlying matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l are nonnegative definite. They extended the result of Wong and Wang (1993) to the case of matrix quadratic express. Wong (2000) collects these necessary and sufficient algebraic conditions developed in the 90's. Also see Dumais and Styan (1998) for an extensive bibliography on Cochran's theorem prior to 1998.

The underlying matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l associated with the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$ are symmetric rather than nonnegative definite. This was a condition assumed in Cochran's univariate version in 1934. So it is our motivation to obtain a fully general multivariate version of Cochran's theorem. Under the condition that the underlying matrices W_i 's associated with matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_iY$'s are symmetric, the original problem becomes much harder. because the matrices W_i 's can no longer be factorized into square roots as can be done in the case of nonnegative definite matrices.

Masaro and Wong (2003) obtained a set of verifiable, but cumbersome, necessary and sufficient conditions about the Wishartness of the matrix quadratic form Y'WY

6

with the symmetric matrix W in a normal random matrix Y with mean **0** and general covariance Σ_Y .

Recently, Masaro and Wong (2004a) used Jordan algebra homomorphisms to further obtained a quite generalized extension of Cochran's theorem. They extended the problem to the case of the \mathbb{H}_p^d -valued matrix quadratic forms in a real, complex or quaternionic normal random matrix Y with zero mean and general covariance, where \mathbb{H}_p^d denotes the family of $n \times n$ Hermitian matrices over \mathbb{A}_d . Here \mathbb{A}_d is \mathbb{R} (the set of real numbers), \mathbb{C} (the set of complex numbers) or \mathbb{H} (the set of the division ring of quarternions) according to d = 1, 2 or 4. However, their generalization is far away from the topic with which some statisticians are concerned.

In addition, Cochran's theorem has been extended and generalized in other directions. It was noted that Cochran's theorem on the distributions of quadratic forms in normal random variables can be equivalently formulated as a rank additivity result for symmetric idempotent matrices. The various generalizations of Cochran's theorem regarding the underlying matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l with certain properties were obtained by Anderson and Styan (1982), Styan and Takemura (1983), Baksalary and Hauke (1990), Šemrl (1996), Behboodian (2001), Waterhouse (2001), Lešnjak (2004) and Tian and Styan (2005). Anderson and Fang (1987) extended Cochran's theorem from normal distributions to elliptical contoured distributions including the case of tripotent matrices and left-special distributions. An interested reader can find the further extensions of Cochran's theorem in elliptically contoured distributions in Zhang (1989), Anderson and Fang (1990), Fang and Zhang (1990), Wang and Wong (1995), Wong and Cheng (1998, 1999). Another important extension of Cochran's theorem is one called the extended problem in Section 1.1. Luther (1965) established the equivalence between a quadratic form distributed as the unique difference of two independent chi-square random variables and the tripotency of the underlying matrix of this quadratic form. The other discussion and corresponding results concerning a difference of two independent chisquare random variables and the tripotency of the underlying matrix can be found in Graybill (1969), Rao and Mitra (1971) and Anderson and Styan (1982). More generally, Baldessari (1967) obtained the necessary and sufficient conditions for a quadratic form, in normal random variables, to be distributed as a given linear combination of independent chi-square random variables, generalizing the results of Graybill and Marsaglia (1957) and Luther (1965). Later, Tan (1977) extended Baldessari's result to singular normal random variables. Khatri (1977) further extended the result of Baldessari (1967) to a singular covariance matrix, to a quadratic form family and to a quadratic expression family.

Tan (1975) extended the extended problem from univariate case to multivariate case. He gave a set of necessary and sufficient conditions for matrix quadratic expressions, in a normal random matrix with a Kronecker product $A \otimes \Sigma$ covariance matrix, to be independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices. Mathai (1993) introduced the noncentral generalized Laplacian distribution and obtained some univariate versions of Cochran's theorem. The distribution considered in Mathai (1993) is, with a change of scale, one considered in Graybill (1969). Wong and Wang (1995) extended Tan's results to the case of a general covariance matrix. They gave a set of necessary and sufficient conditions for matrix quadratic expressions to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices.

Recently, Masaro and Wong (2004b) obtained a set of verifiable, but cumbersome, necessary and sufficient conditions for a matrix quadratic form, in a normal random matrix Y with zero mean and general covariance, to be distributed as a difference of two independent Wishart random matrices with a diagonal common covariance Λ . Further, they used certain Jordan algebra homomorphisms to derive a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions for matrix quadratic forms, in a normal random matrix Y with zero mean and general covariance, to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent Wishart random matrices.

1.3 Our Motivation and Research Results

The underlying matrices associated with matrix quadratic forms are symmetric rather than nonnegative definite. This was a condition assumed in Cochran's univariate version in 1934. So, differentiating from the existing research results, it has been our motivation and goal to use a matrix approach to establish a fully general multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning the (noncentral) Wishartness and independence of matrix quadratic forms under the quit general conditions. For instance, the underlying matrices of matrix quadratic forms are symmetric, not necessarily nonnegative definite, and the random matrix Y has a normal distribution with general covariance structure, not necessarily Kronecker product nor positive definite. Moreover, our motivation and goal also include the development of a fully general multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning differences of independent (noncentral) Wishart random matrices under the same conditions via a matrix approach.

This dissertation will focus its attention on our goals: 1) to develop the multivariate versions of Cochran's theorem concerning the central or noncentral Wishartness and independence of matrix quadratic forms; 2) to develop the multivariate versions of Cochran's theorem concerning the independence and the differences of independent central or noncentral Wishart distributions.

Our research results consist of the following two parts.

1. Let Y be an $n \times p$ multivariate normal random matrix with mean μ and general covariance Σ_Y . In the dissertation, the general covariance Σ_Y of Y means that the collection of all np elements in Y has an arbitrary $np \times np$ covariance matrix. For the symmetric matrix W, a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions is derived for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY to have a noncentral Wishart distribution. Then a multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning the noncentral Wishartness and independence of matrix quadratic forms is obtained. Some examples and the usual versions of Cochran's theorem are presented as special cases of this result.

2. Let Y be an $n \times p$ multivariate normal random matrix with mean μ and general covariance matrix Σ_Y . For the symmetric matrix W, a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions is derived for a matrix quadratic form to be distributed as a difference of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices (DINWRM). A multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices (DINWRMs) is obtained. Two usual versions of Cochran's theorem concerning differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices are presented as special cases of our result.

In addition, for the first part, we use a matrix approach to present the proven result for the zero mean case. This case has been solved by Masaro and Wong (2004a). They used Jordan algebra representations to obtain a general multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning Wishartness and independence. Their result and proof is more mathematically involved. Our presentation provides a discrete representation version of Cochran's theorem.

For the second part, we use a matrix approach to present the proven result for the mean zero case. This case has also been solved by Masaro and Wong (2004b). They used Jordan algebra homomorphisms to obtain the necessary and sufficient conditions for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent Wishart random matrices (DIWRMs). Their result and proof is also more mathematically involved. Our presentation provides a discrete representation version of Cochran's theorem concerning DIWRMs.

1.4 The Organization of this Dissertation

This dissertation falls into five chapters. Chapter 1 introduces Cochran's theorem, follows the track of its development and reviews the literature on various versions of

Cochran's theorem during several decades. Chapter one also states our motivation and research results which are some extensions of Cochran's theorem.

Chapter 2 deals with the notations and preliminaries which are useful to the subsequent chapters. It includes matrix algebra, e.g. Kronecker products, the Moore-Penrose inverse. It introduces Wishart distributions, noncentral Wishart distributions, matrix quadratic forms and the moment generating functions. It also states some useful lemmas which are used in the derivation of our main results.

Chapter 3 is entirely devoted to the development of the multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning the central or noncentral Wishartness and independence of matrix quadratic forms in normal random matrix Y with mean μ and general covariance Σ_Y . For the symmetric matrix W, a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 3.3.1) is derived for the matrix quadratic form Y'WYto be distributed as a noncentral Wishart random matrix. For the symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l , a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 3.4.2) is obtained for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of Wishart random matrices. Some examples and applications are presented. The usual versions of Cochran's theorem are presented as special cases of these results (from Corollary 3.3.4 to Corollary 3.4.5). As the intermediate result, we use a matrix approach to obtain a discrete representation version of Masaro and Wong's recent result (2004a). Namely, a set of succinct and verifiable necessary and sufficient conditions is established for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY with the symmetric matrix W to be distributed as a Wishart random matrix (Theorem 3.1.3 and Theorem 3.1.1 for a special case). Then a set of succinct and verifiable necessary and

12

sufficient conditions is developed for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ with the symmetric matrices W_1 , W_2 , ..., W_l to be an independent family of Wishart random matrices (Theorem 3.2.4 and Theorem 3.2.3 for a special case). Some examples and applications are presented. Also, we use the matrix approach to present the main result (Theorem 3.2.9) obtained by Masaro and Wong (2004a).

Chapter 4 is devoted to the multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning differences of independent central or noncentral Wishart random matrices. Let Y be normal random matrix with mean μ and general covariance Σ_Y . For the symmetric matrix W, a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 4.3.1) is derived for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY to be distributed as a difference of two independent noncentral Wishart random matrices. For the symmetric matrices W_1 , W_2, \ldots, W_l of order n, a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 4.4.1) is obtained for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices. Some special cases are presented (from Corollary 4.4.2 to Corollary 4.4.4). As an intermediate result, we use a matrix approach to obtain a refined and improved version of Masaro and Wong's recent result (2004b). Namely, a set of succinct and verifiable necessary and sufficient conditions is established for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY with the symmetric matrices W to be distributed as a difference of two independent Wishart random matrices (Theorem 4.1.2 and Theorem 4.1.1 for a special case). Then a set of succinct and verifiable necessary and sufficient conditions is developed for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$ with the symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l to be an inde-

pendent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent Wishart random matrices (Theorem 4.2.2 and Theorem 4.2.1 for a special case). Some special cases are presented (from Corollary 4.2.3 to Corollary 4.2.6). Also, we use the matrix approach to present the main result (Theorem 4.1.8) obtained by Masaro and Wong (2004b).

Chapter 5 outlines some considerable topics and ideas on the problems discussed in above chapters for the future research.

The appendix attaches the proof of a set of necessary and sufficient conditions, obtained by Masaro and Wong (2004b), for a matrix quadratic form, in a normal random matrix with zero mean **0** and general covariance Σ_Y , to be distributed as a difference of two independent Wishart random matrices with a diagonal common covariance Λ .

Finally, the index of symbols lists the common symbols used in this dissertation.

Chapter 2

Notations and Preliminaries

Chapter 2 will deal with the notations and preliminaries which are useful to the subsequent chapters. It includes some concepts of matrix algebra, e.g. the trace inner product, the Cartesian product, Kronecker Products, the Moore-Penrose inverse, the idempotency, the tripotency and the commutation matrix. It defines Wishart distributions and noncentral Wishart distributions, and matrix quadratic forms and their moment generating functions. It also states some useful lemmas which are used in the derivation of our main results in the subsequent chapters.

2.1 Matrix Algebra

In this dissertation, we shall use $\mathbb{M}_{n \times p}$ to denote the set of $n \times p$ matrices over the real set \mathbb{R} . The trace inner product <,> equipped in $\mathbb{M}_{n \times p}$ is defined as

 $\langle A, B \rangle = tr(AB') \text{ for all } A, \ B \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times p},$ (2.1)

15

where B' is the transpose of B. We shall use $\|.\|$ to denote the trace norm in the matrices set $\mathbb{M}_{n \times p}$, defined as $||A||^2 = \langle A, A \rangle$. We shall use \mathbb{S}_p to denote the set of symmetric matrices of order p over the real set \mathbb{R} and use $\prod_{i=1}^{l} \mathbb{S}_p$ to denote the Cartesian product of the symmetric matrices set \mathbb{S}_p equipped with the trace inner product \langle, \rangle defined as

$$\langle (\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{i}}), (\tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{i}}) \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{l} \langle \mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{i}}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{i}} \rangle \text{ for all } \mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{i}}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathbf{i}} \in \mathbb{S}_{p}, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, l.$$
(2.2)

We shall use r(A) to denote the rank of matrix A and use A^+ to denote the Moore-Penrose inverse of matrix A if, for the matrix A, there exists a matrix A^+ such that $A^+AA^+ = A^+$, $AA^+A = A$, $(AA^+)' = AA^+$ and $(A^+A)' = A^+A$. When A is nonnegative definite (n.n.d.) and $\alpha > 0$, A^{α} will denote the α th n.n.d. root of A, $A^{-\alpha}$ will denote the α th n.n.d root of A^+ , and A^0 will denote A^+A ; thus $A^0 = A^{\alpha}A^{-\alpha} = A^{-\alpha}A^{\alpha}$.

We shall use bold-face lower case symbols or light-face upper case symbols to denote matrices or vectors. We shall use \mathbb{N}_p to denote the set of nonnegative definite matrices of order p over the real set \mathbb{R} .

We shall use \mathbf{e}_{ij} to denote the matrix whose ijth entry is 1 and all other entries 0 and E_{ij} to denote the symmetric matrix of order p whose ijth entry and jith entry both are 1 and all other entries 0. Write

$$\mathbb{E}_p = \{ E_{ij} : 1 \le i \le j \le p \}.$$

We shall call \mathbb{E}_p the basic basis of the set \mathbb{S}_p .

We shall use sr(A) to denote the spectral radius of the square matrix A, i.e. $sr(A) = max\{|\lambda| : \lambda \text{ is an eigenvalue of square matrix } A\}.$ The square matrix A is said to be idempotent if $A^2 = A$, to be tripotent if $A^3 = A$. The matrices A and B are said to be orthogonal if A'B = 0, and A is said to be primitive in a family if A is non-zero and can not be written as the sum of two nonzero orthogonal idempotent elements in the family.

For the nonnegative definite matrix Σ of order p, there exists an orthogonal matrix H, i.e. $H'H = I_p$ where I_p denotes the identity matrix of order p, such that $H'\Sigma H = diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \ldots, \sigma_p]$. Write

$$\mathbb{H}_p = \{ H_{ij} \equiv H E_{ij} H' : 1 \le i \le j \le p, \ E_{ij} \in \mathbb{E}_p \}$$

We shall call \mathbb{H}_p the similar basis (of the set \mathbb{S}_p) associated with Σ . The "similar" is due to the similarity between the matrix H_{ij} in \mathbb{H}_p and the matrix E_{ij} in \mathbb{E}_p .

Lemma 2.1.1. If A is a nonnegative definite matrix of order np with rank r(A) = q, then there exists a $q \times np$ matrix L of rank q such that

$$A = L'L, \ L \equiv [L_1, L_2, \dots, L_p].$$
(2.3)

with $L_i \in \mathbb{M}_{q \times n}$.

For the $n \times p$ matrix Y, we shall write Y into $Y = [\mathbf{y}_1, \mathbf{y}_2, \dots, \mathbf{y}_n]'$, $\mathbf{y}_i \in \mathbb{R}^p$, where \mathbb{R}^p is the p dimensional real space, and use vec(Y) to denote the np dimensional vector $[\mathbf{y}_1', \mathbf{y}_2', \dots, \mathbf{y}_n']'$. Here the *vec* operator transforms a matrix into a vector by stacking the rows of the matrix one underneath the other. For A in $\mathbb{M}_{n \times q}$ and B in $\mathbb{M}_{p \times r}$, we shall define the Kronecker product of matrices A and B, denoted by $A \otimes B$, as $A \otimes B = [a_{ij}B]$. The Kronecker product is also often called the direct product or the tensor product. The connection between the Kronecker product and the *vec* of matrices is often used in the calculations of our results.

Lemma 2.1.2. If $A \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times q}$, $B \in \mathbb{M}_{p \times r}$ and $C \in \mathbb{M}_{q \times r}$ then

$$(A \otimes B)vec(C) = vec(ACB').$$

$$(2.4)$$

Moreover, the Kronecker product \otimes also has the following properties, see Rao and Mitra (1971), Chapter 1, Kruskal (1975) and Muirhead (1982), Chapter 2.

$$(A \otimes C)(B \otimes D) = (AB) \otimes (CD), \ (A \otimes B)' = A' \otimes B',$$
(2.5)

$$tr(A \otimes B) = tr(A)tr(B), \ (A \otimes B)^+ = A^+ \otimes B^+.$$
(2.6)

The following lemma will be often used in the proofs of our results in the subsequent chapters.

Lemma 2.1.3. For A, B and C, AB'B = CB'B is equivalent to AB' = CB', and B'BA = B'BC is equivalent to BA = BC.

Proof. For A, B and C, multiplying both sides of the equation AB' = CB' on the right by B yields equation AB'B = CB'B.

Conversely, multiplying both sides of the equation AB'B = CB'B on the right, respectively, by A' and C' yields equations AB'BA' = CB'BA' and AB'BC' = CB'BC'. It follows that

$$||AB' - CB'||^2 = \langle AB' - CB', AB' - CB' \rangle = tr((AB' - CB')(AB' - CB')')$$
$$= tr(AB'BA' - AB'BC' - CB'BA' + CB'BC') = 0,$$

i.e. AB' = CB'.

Similarly, it is easy to prove the equivalence between BA = BC and B'BA = B'BC.

The following lemma is due to Masaro and Wong (2004a).

Lemma 2.1.4. Suppose A and B are symmetric matrices of order p with $A^2 = A$ and AB + BA = 2B. Then AB = BA.

The vectors vec(Y) and vec(Y') clearly contain the same np components, but in a different order. We shall define the commutation matrix K_{np} of order np as follows

$$K_{np}vec(Y') = vec(Y), \ Y \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times p}$$

Note the fact that the commutation matrix K_{np} is the unique $np \times np$ permutation matrix which transforms vec(Y') into vec(Y). The commutation matrix $K_{n\times p}$ has the following properties, see Magnus and Neudecker (1975) or Magnus and Neudecker (1991), Chapter 2.

$$K'_{nn} = K_{pn} \text{ and } K_{np} K_{pn} = I_{np}.$$
 (2.7)

The key property of the commutation matrix $K_{n \times p}$ enables us to interchange the two matrices of a Kronecker product.

Lemma 2.1.5. Let A be a $p \times q$ matrix and B an $n \times r$ matrix. Then

$$K_{np}(A \otimes B)K_{qr} = B \otimes A, \quad K_{pn}(B \otimes A)K_{rq} = A \otimes B.$$
(2.8)

With the commutation matrix $K_{n \times p}$, the relation of the covariance matrix Σ_Y of Y and the covariance matrix $\Sigma_{Y'}$ of Y' can be easily expressed as

$$\Sigma_Y = \Sigma_{vec(Y)} = \Sigma_{K_{np}vec(Y')} = K_{np}\Sigma_{Y'}K'_{np} \quad \text{or} \quad \Sigma_{Y'} = K'_{np}\Sigma_YK_{np}. \tag{2.9}$$

(2.9) implies that the covariance matrix $\Sigma_{Y'}$ and the covariance matrix Σ_Y are similar.

Lemma 2.1.6. Let Σ_Y and Σ be nonnegative definite matrices of order np and p, respectively, W be a symmetric matrix of order n and s, \tilde{s} be symmetric matrices of order p. Let

$$F(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{ ilde{s}}, W, \Sigma_Y) = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s}) \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{ ilde{s}}) \Sigma_Y$$

and

$$\Theta(\mathbf{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}, W, L) = L(\mathbf{s} \otimes W)L'L(\tilde{\mathbf{s}} \otimes W)L'.$$

Then

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma\mathbf{s})]\Sigma_{Y} = F(\mathbf{s},\tilde{\mathbf{s}},W,\Sigma_{Y}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{s}},\mathbf{s},W,\Sigma_{Y})$$
(2.10)

is equivalent to

$$L[(\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma\mathbf{s}) \otimes W]L' = \Theta(\mathbf{s},\tilde{\mathbf{s}},W,L) + \Theta(\tilde{\mathbf{s}},\mathbf{s},W,L)$$
(2.11)

where $\Sigma_{Y'} = L'L, L = [L_1, L_2, ..., L_p], q = rank(\Sigma_Y), L_i \in \mathbb{M}_{q \times n}, i = 1, 2, ..., p.$

Proof. There is a $q \times np$ matrix L with $q = rank(\Sigma_{Y'})$ such that $\Sigma_{Y'} = L'L$ from Lemma 2.1.1. Since by (2.7)-(2.9)

$$\Sigma_{Y'}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}}\otimes W)\Sigma_{Y'} = K'_{np}\Sigma_Y K_{np}K'_{np}(W\otimes\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}})K_{np}K'_{np}\Sigma_Y K_{np}$$
$$= K'_{np}\Sigma_Y(W\otimes\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}})\Sigma_Y K_{np},$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_{Y'}(\mathbf{s} \otimes W) \Sigma_{Y'}(\mathbf{\tilde{s}} \otimes W) \Sigma_{Y'} \\ &= K'_{np} \Sigma_Y K_{np} K'_{np} (W \otimes \mathbf{s}) K_{np} K'_{np} \Sigma_Y \times K_{np} K'_{np} (W \otimes \mathbf{\tilde{s}}) K_{np} K'_{np} \Sigma_Y K_{np} \\ &= K'_{np} \Sigma_Y (W \otimes \mathbf{s}) \Sigma_Y (W \otimes \mathbf{\tilde{s}}) \Sigma_Y K_{np}. \end{split}$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

(2.10) is equivalent to

$$\Sigma_{\mathbf{Y}'}[(\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}}+\tilde{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\otimes W]\Sigma_{\mathbf{Y}'}=\Theta(\mathbf{s},\tilde{\mathbf{s}},W,\Sigma_{\mathbf{Y}'})+\Theta(\tilde{\mathbf{s}},\mathbf{s},W,\Sigma_{\mathbf{Y}'}).$$
(2.12)

Using L'L to replace $\Sigma_{Y'}$ in Eq. (2.12) above equation and then by Lemma 2.1.3, we have completed the proof of the desired result.

We shall repeatedly use (2.11) to replace (2.10) in the proofs of the results in the subsequent chapters.

The following property is useful when we focus our attention on the set \mathbb{S}_p .

Lemma 2.1.7. The following statements (a) and (b) are equivalent.

(a) For any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$\Sigma_{V}(W \otimes \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\Sigma_{V} = \Sigma_{V}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{V}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{V}; \qquad (2.13)$$

(b) For any $\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{\tilde{s}} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma\mathbf{s})]\Sigma_{Y} = F(\mathbf{s},\tilde{\mathbf{s}},W,\Sigma_{Y}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{s}},\mathbf{s},W,\Sigma_{Y}).$$
(2.14)

Proof. Since

$$\Sigma_Y(W\otimes \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y=rac{1}{2}[\Sigma_Y(W\otimes \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y+\Sigma_Y(W\otimes \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y],$$

it suffices to show that (a) \implies (b). Note that for $\mathbf{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma\mathbf{s})]\Sigma_{Y} = \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{Y}\left(W \otimes \left[(\mathbf{s} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}})\Sigma(\mathbf{s} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}) - (\mathbf{s} - \tilde{\mathbf{s}})\Sigma(\mathbf{s} - \tilde{\mathbf{s}})\right]\right)\Sigma_{Y}$$

Since $\mathbf{s} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}, \mathbf{s} - \tilde{\mathbf{s}} \in \mathbb{S}_p$, with (a) and simple operations, we obtain (2.14) and that completes the proof.

We shall use $\langle S \rangle$ to denote the linear span of a given set S. The following lemma is due to Wong and Wang (1995).

Lemma 2.1.8. Let $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (a) $\Sigma \neq \mathbf{0}$;
- $(b) < \{(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^n \mathbf{s} : \mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p\} >= \mathbb{S}_p \text{ for positive integer } n.$

Lemma 2.1.9. The following conditions are equivalent.

- $(a) < \{\mathbf{s}E_{ii}\mathbf{s} : \mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p\} >= \mathbb{S}_p \text{ for any } E_{ii} \in \mathbb{E}_p, i = 1, 2, \dots, p;$
- $(b) < \{\mathbf{s}E_{ii}\mathbf{s}E_{jj}\mathbf{s} : \mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p\} >= \mathbb{S}_p \text{ for any } i, j \in \{1, 2, \dots, p\}.$

2.2 Central and Noncentral Wishart Distributions

Let **y** be a $p \times 1$ real random vector with mean vector μ and covariance matrix Σ . Namely,

$$\boldsymbol{\mu} = E(\mathbf{y}); \ \boldsymbol{\Sigma} = Cov(\mathbf{y}) = E(\mathbf{y} - E(\mathbf{y}))(\mathbf{y} - E(\mathbf{y}))',$$

where E denotes the expected value. If \mathbf{y} is a multivariate normal distribution then we write $\mathbf{y} \sim \mathcal{N}_p(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma})$ where ~ means distributed as. In the case of $\boldsymbol{\Sigma}$ being nonsingular the density function of \mathbf{y} is given by

$$f(\mathbf{y}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{p/2} |\Sigma|^{1/2}} exp\{-\frac{1}{2} < \mathbf{y} - \boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma^{-1}(\mathbf{y} - \boldsymbol{\mu}) > \}.$$
 (2.15)

In the case of Σ being singular, there exists a $p \times q$ matrix L of rank $q \ (< p)$ such that

$$\mathbf{y} = \boldsymbol{\mu} + L\mathbf{z}.$$

Then

$$E(\mathbf{y}) = \boldsymbol{\mu} + LE(\mathbf{z}), \ \Sigma = Cov(\mathbf{y}) = LCov(\mathbf{z})L'$$

implying that there exists a $q \times 1$ vector \mathbf{z} such that $\mathbf{z} \sim \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{0}, I_q)$ and \mathbf{z} has its density function. See Mathai *et al.* (1995), Chapter 1, and Muirhead (1982), Chapter 1, for more details about the multivariate normal distribution.

The $n \times p$ random matrix Y taking the real values in set $\mathbb{M}_{n \times p}$ is said to have a real multivariate normal distribution with mean (matrix) $\mu_Y \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times p}$ and covariance (matrix) $\Sigma_Y \in \mathbb{N}_{np}$ if the vector vec(Y) has a multivariate normal distribution $\mathcal{N}_{np}(vec(\mu_Y), \Sigma_Y)$. In this case we write $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mu, \Sigma_Y)$. $\mathcal{N}_{p \times 1}(\mu, \Sigma)$ is nothing else but $\mathcal{N}_p(\mu, \Sigma)$.

Definition 2.2.1. If A = X'X, where X is an $m \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{m \times p}(\mathbf{0}, I_m \otimes \Sigma)$ with $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, then A is said to have the (central) Wishart distribution with m degrees of freedom and covariance matrix Σ .

We shall use $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ to denote the Wishart distribution with m degrees of freedom and covariance Σ of order p, and write $A \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ if A has this distribution, where the subscript on \mathcal{W} denotes the size of the matrix A. A is also said to be a Wishart random matrix.

When $m \geq p$, A = X'X is nonsingular and then the Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ has a density function. When m < p, A = X'X is singular and the Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ does not have a density function, see the references Muirhead (1982), Chapter 3 and Chapter 10, Eaton (1983), Chapter 8, and Srivastava (2003) for more details. The Wishart distribution generalizes the chi-square distribution.

We shall use $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma)$ to denote that Y'WY has the distribution of the difference of two independent Wishart random matrices with distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma)$ and $\mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma)$. In this case, Y'WY is said to be distributed as a difference of independent Wishart random matrices (DIWRM).

Properties of Wishart distributions are given in the following two lemma.

Lemma 2.2.1. If $Y'WY \sim W_p(m, \Sigma)$ and H is a $p \times k$ matrix of rank k, then $(YH)'W(YH) \sim W_k(m, H'\Sigma H).$

Lemma 2.2.2. If $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma)$ and H is a $p \times k$ matrix of rank k, then $(YH)'W(YH) \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, H'\Sigma H) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, H'\Sigma H)$.

Definition 2.2.2. If A = X'X, where X is an $m \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{m \times p}(\mu, I_m \otimes \Sigma)$ with $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, then A is said to have the **noncentral Wishart distribution** with m degrees of freedom, covariance matrix Σ and noncentrality matrix $\lambda = \mu' \mu$.

We shall write that A is $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \lambda)$ or $A \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \lambda)$. A is also said to be a noncentral Wishart random matrix

The noncentral Wishart distribution generalizes the noncentral chi-square distribution in the same way that the Wishart distribution generalizes the chi-square distribution. The Wishart distribution is one special noncentral Wishart distribution with $\mu = 0$ and then $\lambda = 0$.

We shall use $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2)$ to denote that Y'WYhas the distribution of the difference of two independent noncentral Wishart random
matrices with $\mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1)$ and $\mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2)$. In this case, Y'WY is said to be distributed as a difference of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices (DINWRM).

The properties of noncentral Wishart distributions are given in the following two lemma.

Lemma 2.2.3. If $Y'WY \sim W_p(m, \Sigma, \lambda)$ and H is a $p \times k$ matrix of rank k, then $(YH)'W(YH) \sim W_k(m, H'\Sigma H, H'\lambda H).$

Lemma 2.2.4. If $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2)$ and H is a $p \times k$ matrix of rank k, then $(YH)'W(YH) \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, H'\Sigma H, H'\lambda_1 H) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, H'\Sigma H, H'\lambda_2 H)$.

Above lemmas will be used repeatedly in the subsequent chapters.

2.3 Matrix Quadratic Forms (MQFs) and Moment

Generating Functions

Let \mathbf{y} be a $p \times 1$ real normal random vector. Then for the symmetric matrix W of order p, $\mathbf{y}'W\mathbf{y}$ is called a quadratic form in a normal random vector \mathbf{y} . Theoretical results on $\mathbf{y}'W\mathbf{y}$ as well as applications and generalizations are available from Mathai and Provost (1992). To distinguish it from the quadratic form, we shall call $\mathbf{y}'W\mathbf{y} + \mathbf{a}'\mathbf{y} + d$ a quadratic expression in \mathbf{y} where \mathbf{a} is a $p \times 1$ vector and d is a real number. Regarding quadratic forms and quadratic expressions we refer the interested reader to Mathai et al. (1995), Chapter 2, for more details.

For the symmetric matrix W of order n, we shall call Y'WY a matrix quadratic

form (MQF) in a normal random matrix Y and call Y'WY + B'Y + Y'B + C a matrix quadratic expression in a normal random matrix Y where B is a $p \times n$ matrix and C is a symmetric matrix of order p. In this dissertation, we shall focus our attention on the matrix quadratic form Y'WY as well as a family of matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$. We shall use Q to denote Y'WY as well as Y'WY + B'Y + Y'B + C without distinction.

We are interested in whether the matrix quadratic form Y'WY is distributed as a Wishart random matrix in the case $\mu = 0$ or a noncentral Wishart random matrix in the case $\mu \neq 0$. Necessary and sufficient conditions for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY to have a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m,\Sigma)$ or a noncentral Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \lambda)$ will be investigated. The property of the matrix quadratic form Y'WYdistributed as a Wishart random matrix is called its Wishartness. In the similar way, the property of the matrix quadratic form Y'WY distributed as a noncentral Wishart random matrix is called its **noncentral Wishartness**. For a set of symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l of order n, we are interested in the independence as well as Wishartness or noncentral Wishartness of the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$. We are also interested whether a set of matrix quadratic forms is an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent (noncentral) Wishart random matrices.

Definition 2.3.1. If Q is a matrix quadratic form, the moment generating function, denoted by $M_Q(\mathbf{s})$, of Q is defined as

$$M_Q(\mathbf{s}) = E(e^{\langle \mathbf{s}, Q \rangle}), \ \mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p.$$
(2.16)

We often write $M(\mathbf{s})$ instead of $M_Q(\mathbf{s})$ for short.

For the symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l of order n, we have a set of matrix quadratic expressions $\{Q_i\}_{i=1}^l$, where $Q_i = Y'W_iY + B'Y + Y'B + C$, $B_i \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times p}$, $C_i \in \mathbb{S}_p$, $i = 1, 2, \ldots, l$. The following lemma, due to Wong *et al.* (1991), gives the joint moment generating function $M(\mathbf{s})$ of a set of matrix quadratic expressions $\{Q_i\}_{i=1}^l$.

Lemma 2.3.1. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l be symmetric matrices of order n. Then the joint moment generating function $M(\mathbf{s})$ of matrix quadratic expressions Q_1, Q_2, \ldots, Q_l is given by

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = |I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*|^{-1/2} exp\{\langle \mathbf{s}, \ \boldsymbol{\lambda} \rangle + 2 \langle \boldsymbol{\mu}^*, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_Y^{1/2} (I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*)^{-1} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_Y^{1/2} \boldsymbol{\mu}^* \rangle \}$$
(2.17)

where $\mathbb{S} = \mathbb{S}_p \times \mathbb{S}_p \times \cdots \times \mathbb{S}_p$ (*l* times), $\mathbf{s} = (\mathbf{s}_i) \in \mathbb{S}$, $\Sigma^* = \Sigma_Y^{1/2} [\sum_{i=1}^l (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i)] \Sigma_Y^{1/2}$, $\boldsymbol{\mu}^* = \sum_{i=1}^l vec(W_i \boldsymbol{\mu} \mathbf{s}_i + B_i \mathbf{s}_i), \ \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i \boldsymbol{\mu} + B'_i \boldsymbol{\mu} + \boldsymbol{\mu}' B_i + C_i \in \mathbb{S}_p, \ \boldsymbol{\lambda} = (\boldsymbol{\lambda}_i) \in \mathbb{S}$ and $sr(\Sigma^*) < \frac{1}{2}$.

Proof. Let $Q = (Q_i)$, then for $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$<\mathbf{s}, Q>= <(\mathbf{s}_{i}), (Q_{i}) >= \sum_{i=1}^{l} <\mathbf{s}_{i}, Q_{i} >$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{l} \{<\mathbf{s}_{i}, Y'W_{i}Y > + <\mathbf{s}_{i}, B'_{i}Y > + <\mathbf{s}_{i}, Y'B_{i} > + <\mathbf{s}_{i}, C_{i} > \}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{l} \{ + 2 < Y, B_{i}\mathbf{s}_{i} > + <\mathbf{s}_{i}, C_{i} > \}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{l} \{ + 2 < vec(Y), vec(B_{i}\mathbf{s}_{i}) > + <\mathbf{s}_{i}, C_{i} > \}.$$
(2.18)

Let $vec(Z) \sim \mathcal{N}_{np}(\mathbf{0}, I)$, then $vec(Y) = vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) + \Sigma_Y vec(Z) \sim \mathcal{N}_{np}(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), \Sigma_Y)$ and (2.18) becomes

$$<\mathbf{s},Q>=< vec(Z), \Sigma^* vec(Z)>+2 < vec(Z), \Sigma^{1/2}_Y \boldsymbol{\mu}^*>+<\mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}>$$

Thus by (2.16)

$$\begin{split} M(\mathbf{s}) =& E(exp\{\langle \mathbf{s}, Q \rangle\} \\ =& \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{np/2}} \int_{\Re^{np}} exp\{-\frac{1}{2} < vec(\mathbf{z}), vec(\mathbf{z}) \rangle + < vec(\mathbf{z}), \Sigma^* vec(\mathbf{z}) \rangle \\ &+ 2 < vec(\mathbf{z}), \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \boldsymbol{\mu}^* \rangle + \langle \mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\lambda} \rangle \} d\mathbf{z} \\ =& \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{np/2}} \int_{\Re^{np}} exp\{-\frac{1}{2} < vec(\mathbf{z}) - \boldsymbol{\alpha}, (I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*)(vec(\mathbf{z}) - \boldsymbol{\alpha}) \rangle \\ &+ \langle \mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\lambda} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} < (I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*)\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle \} d\mathbf{z}. \end{split}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = 2(I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*)^{-1}\Sigma_Y^{1/2}\boldsymbol{\mu}^*$. Therefore, for $sr(\Sigma^*) < 1/2$,

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = |I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*|^{-1/2} exp\{\langle \mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\lambda} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle (I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*) \boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\alpha} \rangle \}$$

= $|I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*|^{-1/2} exp\{\langle \mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\lambda} \rangle + 2 \langle \boldsymbol{\mu}^*, \Sigma_Y^{1/2} | I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*|^{-1} \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \boldsymbol{\mu}^* \rangle \}.$

Let us discuss the moment generating functions of some special and useful matrix quadratic forms. The following two corollaries are the immediate consequences from Lemma 2.3.1.

Corollary 2.3.2. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, I_n \otimes \Sigma)$, then, the moment generating function $M(\mathbf{s})$ of Y'Y is given by

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = |I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}|^{-n/2} exp\{\langle \mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\lambda} \rangle + 2 \langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}, \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2} (I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \rangle\}$$
(2.19)

for all $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$ such that $sr(\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}) < 1/2$ with $\boldsymbol{\lambda} = \boldsymbol{\mu}'\boldsymbol{\mu}$.

Proof. In Lemma 2.3.1, taking $\Sigma_Y = I_n \otimes \Sigma$, l = 1, $W_1 = I_n$ and $\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{s}_1 \in \mathbb{S}_p$, for all $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$ such that $sr(\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}) < 1/2$, we obtain from (2.5)

$$\Sigma^* = \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_1 \otimes \mathbf{s}_1) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} = (I_n \otimes \Sigma^{1/2}) (I_n \otimes \mathbf{s}) (I_n \otimes \Sigma^{1/2}) = I_n \otimes \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}.$$

So

$$|I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*|^{-1/2} = |I_n \otimes I_p - 2I_n \otimes \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}|^{-1/2}$$
$$= (|I_n|^p |I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}|^n)^{-1/2} = |I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}|^{-n/2}$$

and

$$\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*)^{-1} \Sigma_Y^{1/2} = (I_n \otimes \Sigma^{1/2}) (I_{np} - 2I_p \otimes \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} (I_n \otimes \Sigma^{1/2})$$
$$= I_n \otimes [\Sigma^{1/2} (I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2}].$$

Thus

$$< \mu^*, \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (I_{np} - 2\Sigma^*)^{-1} \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \mu^* > = < vec(\mu \mathbf{s}), \ vec(\mu \mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2} (I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2}) >$$

 $= < \mu' \mu, \ \mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2} (I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} >,$

implying that (2.19) holds.

By Definition 2.2.2, (2.19) is the moment generating function of a random matrix distributed as the noncentral Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(n, \Sigma, \lambda)$ with $\lambda = \mu' \mu$. For convenience, we can use (2.19) to extend $\mathcal{W}_p(n, \Sigma, \lambda)$ so that the case n = 0 or $\Sigma = \mathbf{0}$ is included.

Corollary 2.3.3. Let \mathbf{y} be a $p \times 1$ random vector normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_p(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma)$. Then the moment generating function $M(\mathbf{s})$ of $\mathbf{y}\mathbf{y}'$ is given by

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = |I_n - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}|^{-1/2}$$

for all $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$ such that $sr(\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}) < 1/2$.

The following corollary follows from Lemma 2.3.1, Corollary 2.3.2 and independence.

Corollary 2.3.4. Let Q_1 and Q_2 be independent symmetric matrices of order p distributed, respectively, as $W_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1)$ and $W_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2)$. Then the moment generating function $M(\mathbf{s})$ of $Q = Q_1 - Q_2$ is given by

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = |I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}|^{-m_1/2} |I_p + 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}|^{-m_2/2} exp\{\langle \mathbf{s}, \lambda_1 - \lambda_2 \rangle + 2\Phi_1 + 2\Phi_2\}$$
(2.20)

 $\begin{aligned} & \text{for all } \mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p \text{ such that } sr(\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}) < 1/2, \text{ where } \Phi_1 = < \boldsymbol{\lambda}_1, \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2} (I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \\ & \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} > \text{ and } \Phi_2 = < \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2, \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2} (I_p + 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} >. \end{aligned}$

In fact, (2.20) is the moment generating function of a random matrix distributed as a difference of two independent noncentral Wishart random matrices with $\mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1)$ and $\mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2)$. For convenience, we can use (2.20) to extend $\mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1)$ - $\mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2)$ so that the case $m_1 = 0$ or m_2 or $\Sigma = 0$ is included.

The following lemma is useful in studying a difference of two independent Wishart random matrices. It can be obtained by imitating the proof of Theorem 2.3 in Wong *et al.* (1991).

Lemma 2.3.5. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$. Then the following statements are equivalent propositions.

- (a) $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma);$
- (b) For any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$|I_{np} - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}| = |I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{m_1}|I_p + 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{m_2};$$

(c) The matrix Σ_Y^{1/2}(W⊗s)Σ_Y^{1/2} and the diagonal matrix diag[I_{m1}⊗Σ^{1/2}sΣ^{1/2}, -I_{m2}⊗ Σ^{1/2}sΣ^{1/2}, 0] ∈ S_{np} have the same characteristic polynomial for all s ∈ S_p; and
(d) For any positive integer k and any s ∈ S_p,

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s}))^k = [m_1 + (-1)^k m_2] tr(\Sigma \mathbf{s})^k.$$

Proof. By Corollary 2.3.4 and analytic continuation, (a) and (b) are equivalent. Note that (b) amounts to

$$(b') |I_{np} - \Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}| = |I_p - \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{m_1}|I_p + \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{m_2}.$$

Replacing s with s/λ ($\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$) in (b'), we have

$$|\lambda I_{np} - \Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}| = |\lambda I_p - \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{m_1}|\lambda I_p + \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{m_2}|\lambda I_{(n-m_1-m_2)p} - \mathbf{0}|,$$

implying that (c) holds and vice versa. (c) means that $\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}$ and $diag[I_{m_1} \otimes \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}, -I_{m_2} \otimes \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}, \mathbf{0}]$ in \mathbb{S}_{np} have the same spectrum $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{np}$, equivalently, for any positive integer k and any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$tr\left(\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W\otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}\right)^k = tr\left(diag[I_{m_1}\otimes \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}, -I_{m_2}\otimes \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}, \mathbf{0}]\right)^k$$

namely,

$$tr\left(\Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}(W\otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}\right)^{k} = tr\left(diag[I_{m_{1}}\otimes(\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})^{k}, -I_{m_{2}}\otimes(\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})^{k}, \mathbf{0}]\right)$$
$$= [tr(I_{m_{1}}) + (-1)^{k}tr(I_{m_{2}})]tr(\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})^{k},$$

which proves the equivalence between (c) and (d).

Chapter 3

A Multivariate Version of Cochran's Theorem on Noncentral Wishartness and Independence

Let Y be an $n \times p$ multivariate normal random matrix with mean μ and general covariance Σ_Y . The expression "general covariance" Σ_Y of Y implies that the collection of all np elements in Y has an arbitrary $np \times np$ covariance matrix. For a set of nonzero symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l of order n, we shall discuss necessary and sufficient conditions for matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of noncentral Wishart random matrices with some integers m_1, m_2, \ldots, m_l and non-centrality matrices $\lambda_1, \lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_l$.

For the symmetric matrix W of order n, a set of necessary and sufficient conditions is derived for the noncentral Wishartness of matrix quadratic form Y'WY (Theorem 3.3.1) in Section 3.3. For a set of symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l of order n, a set of necessary and sufficient conditions is obtained for matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of noncentral Wishart random matrices (Theorem 3.4.2) in Section 3.4. An example and the usual versions of Cochran's theorem are presented as the special cases of our result.

In addition, as the intermediate result, we use a matrix approach to present the proven result for the mean **0** case. This case has been solved by Masaro and Wong (2004a). They used Jordan algebra representations to obtain a general multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning Wishartness and independence. Their result and proof is more mathematically involved. In our presentation, we provide a discrete representation version of Cochran's theorem in Section 3.1-3.2. For details, in Section 3.1, we shall establish a set of succinct necessary and sufficient conditions, in terms of verifiable matrix equations, for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY with the symmetric matrix W to have a Wishart distribution. In Section 3.2, we shall develop a set of succinct necessary and sufficient conditions for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$ with the symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l to be an independent family of Wishart random matrices. In addition some examples and applications or corollaries are discussed.

3.1 Wishartness of a Matrix Quadratic Form (MQF)

First let us consider the simple case where the covariance Σ of the Wishart distribution is a diagonal matrix. In this dissertation, without a special claim, we shall use Λ to denote a diagonal matrix of order p in the following form.

$$\Lambda \equiv diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_r, 0, \dots, 0], \ r = r(\Lambda), \ \sigma_i > 0 \ (i = 1, 2, \dots, r).$$

The following theorem provides us with the necessary and sufficient conditions for a matrix quadratic form to have a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Lambda)$.

Theorem 3.1.1. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ with general covariance Σ_Y and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Lambda)$ for a nonnegative integer m if and only if there exists a Λ in \mathbb{N}_p such that for any elements $\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}$ in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{t}\Lambda \tilde{\mathbf{t}} + \tilde{\mathbf{t}}\Lambda \mathbf{t})]\Sigma_{Y} = F(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}, W, \Sigma_{Y}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}, \mathbf{t}, W, \Sigma_{Y})$$
(3.1)

where $F(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}, W, \Sigma_Y) = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \tilde{\mathbf{t}})\Sigma_Y$ with

$$\{\mathbf{t}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p\} = \{\mathbf{t}: \Lambda \mathbf{t}\Lambda = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p\}$$
(3.2)

and

$$m = tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Lambda^+))/r(\Lambda).$$
(3.3)

Proof. By Lemma 2.1.1, decompose $\Sigma_{Y'}$ as

$$\Sigma_{Y'} = L'L, \quad L = [L_1, L_2, \dots, L_p]$$

with $L_i \in \mathbb{M}_{q \times n}$ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ and $r(\Sigma_{Y'}) \leq q \leq np$.

Let

$$B_{ij} = (L_i W L'_j + L_j W L'_i) / 2 \sqrt{\sigma_i \sigma_j}, \ i, j \le r.$$

Then Theorem 2.1 of Masaro and Wong (2003) tells us that (3.1)-(3.3) are equivalent to the following conditions:

(A1)
$$r(L_iWL'_i) = m > 0$$
 $(i = 1, 2, ..., r);$
(A2) $tr(L_iWL'_i) = m\sigma_i$ $(i = 1, 2, ..., r);$
(A3) $L_iWL'_j + L_jWL'_i = 0$ for *i* or $j > r;$
(B1) $B^2_{ii} = B_{ii};$
(B2) $4B^2_{ij} = B_{ii} + B_{jj}$ $i \neq j;$
(B3) $B_{ii}B_{jj} = 0$ $i \neq j;$
(B4) $B_{ii}B_{ij} + B_{ij}B_{ii} = B_{ij}$ $i \neq j;$ and
(B5) $B_{ij} = 2(B_{ik}B_{jk} + B_{jk}B_{ik})$ for distinct i, j, k .
Note that from (B1)-(B5), we also obtain

$$B_{ij} = B_{ii}B_{ij}B_{jj} + B_{jj}B_{ij}B_{ii}, \quad i \neq j$$

$$(3.4)$$

and then

$$B_{ii}B_{jk} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad B_{ij}B_{kl} = \mathbf{0} \quad \text{for distinct } i, j, k, l.$$
(3.5)

First of all, suppose conditions (A1)-(A3) and (B1)-(B5) hold. We shall show that (3.1)-(3.3) hold.

For convenience, we shall use the 4-dimensional subscript to represent a pair of elements in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p . For example, if $\mathbf{t} = E_{ii}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{t}} = E_{ij}$, $1 \leq i < j \leq r$, we use (ii, ij) to represent $(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}})$. By the structure of Λ and (A3), we only need to consider these elements E_{ij} , $1 \leq i \leq j \leq r$, in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p . Then we divided all 4-dimensional subscripts from these elements E_{ij} , $1 \leq i \leq j \leq r$ into the following seven classes. Let

$$C_{1} = \{(ii, ii): 1 \leq i \leq r\},\$$

$$C_{2} = \{(ij, ij): 1 \leq i < j \leq r\},\$$

$$C_{3} = \{(ii, jj): 1 \leq i, j \leq r; i \neq j\},\$$

$$C_{4} = \{(ii, ij) \cup (ij, ii): 1 \leq i < j \leq r\},\$$

$$C_{5} = \{(ik, jk): 1 \leq i, j < k \leq r; i, j \text{ distinct}\},\$$

$$C_{6} = \{(ii, i'j') \cup (i'j', ii): 1 \leq i, i' < j' \leq r; i, i', j' \text{ distinct}\}; \text{ and}\$$

$$C_{7} = \{(ij, i'j'): 1 \leq i < j \leq r, 1 \leq i' < j' \leq r; i, j, i', j' \text{ distinct}\}.$$

Then

$$\bigcup_{i=1}^{i} C_{i} = \{(ij, i'j'): 1 \le i \le j \le r, 1 \le i' \le j' \le r\}$$

 $\frac{1}{7}$

Write $\Omega = \{E_{ij} : 1 \leq i \leq j \leq r\}$. Then $\Omega = \bigcup_{i=1}^{7} C_i$. So any 4-dimensional subscript (ij, i'j') must be the element of one and only one set of C_1, C_2, \ldots, C_7 .

From Lemma 2.1.6, to prove (3.1), it is equivalent to show that for any pair of elements in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p , we have

$$L[(\mathbf{t}\Lambda\tilde{\mathbf{t}} + \tilde{\mathbf{t}}\Lambda\mathbf{t}) \otimes W]L' = \Theta(\mathbf{t},\tilde{\mathbf{t}},W,L) + \Theta(\tilde{\mathbf{t}},\mathbf{t},W,L).$$
(3.6)

Eq. (3.6) follows from (B1)-(B5) and (3.4) with simple matrix calculations.

Exactly as in the proof of Lemma 2.1.6, (3.2) is equivalent to Eq. (3.7). So, proving (3.2) is equivalent to showing that for any element \mathbf{t} in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p ,

$$\{\mathbf{t}: L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W) L' = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}_0 \tag{3.7}$$

where $\mathbb{K}_0 = \{\mathbf{t} : \Lambda \mathbf{t} \Lambda = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p\}.$

Since

$$\mathbb{K}_0 = \{\mathbf{t} : \Lambda \mathbf{t} \Lambda = \mathbf{0}\} = \{E_{ij} : i \text{ or } j > r\}$$

and from (A3)

$$[\mathbf{t}: L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L' = \mathbf{0}] = \{E_{ij}: i \text{ or } j > r\},\$$

This means that Eq. (3.7) holds.

By (2.8), (2.9), (A1) and (A2),

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Lambda^+)) = tr(L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L') = tr(Ldiag[\frac{1}{\sigma_1} \otimes W, \frac{1}{\sigma_2} \otimes W, \dots, \frac{1}{\sigma_l} \otimes W]L')$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^r tr(L_iWL'_i)/\sigma_i = rm,$$

which proves (3.3).

Next, suppose (3.1), (3.2) and (3.3) hold, we shall show that (A1)-(A3) and (B1)-(B5) hold.

Taking $(ij, i'j') \in C_1$, the left side value of (3.6) is

$$2L((E_{ii}\Lambda E_{ii})\otimes W)L'=2\sigma_i^2B_{ii},$$

while the right side value of (3.6) is $2\sigma_i^2 B_{ii} B_{ii}$. Eq. (3.6) implies that (B1)holds.

Taking $(ij, i'j') \in C_2$, the left side value of of (3.6) is

$$2L((E_{ij}\Lambda E_{ij})\otimes W)L' = 2\sigma_i\sigma_j(B_{ii} + B_{jj})$$

while the right side value of (3.6) is $8\sigma_i\sigma_j B_{ij}B_{ij}$. Eq. (3.6) means that (B2) holds.

Taking $(ij, i'j') \in C_3$, the left side of (3.6) is

$$L((E_{ii}\Lambda E_{jj}+E_{jj}\Lambda E_{ii})\otimes W)L'=\mathbf{0},$$

while the right side of (3.6) is

$$\sigma_i \sigma_j (B_{ii} B_{jj} + B_{jj} B_{ii}).$$

Eq. (3.6) implies that $B_{ii}B_{jj} = -B_{ii}B_{jj}$, or $B_{ii}B_{jj}$ is skew-symmetric. Then

$$||B_{ii}B_{jj}|| = \langle B_{ii}B_{jj}, B_{ii}B_{jj} \rangle = tr(B_{ii}B_{jj}(B_{ii}B_{jj})') = tr(B_{ii}B_{jj}) = 0,$$

so $B_{ii}B_{jj} = 0$, thus (B3) holds.

Taking $(ij, i'j') \in C_4$, the left side of Eq. (3.6) is

$$L(E_{ii}\Lambda E_{ij}\otimes W)L' + L(E_{ij}\Lambda E_{ii}\otimes W)L' = 2\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}\sigma_i B_{ij},$$

while the right side of Eq. (3.6) is

$$2\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}\sigma_i(B_{ii}B_{ij}+B_{ij}B_{ii}).$$

(B4) follows from Eq. (3.6) and equivalently from (3.1).

Taking $(ij, i'j') \in C_5$, the left side of Eq. (3.6) is

$$L(E_{ik}\Lambda E_{jk}\otimes W)L' + L(E_{jk}\Lambda E_{ik}\otimes W)L' = 2\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}\sigma_k B_{ij},$$

while the right side of Eq. (3.6) is

$$4\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}\sigma_k(B_{ik}B_{jk}+B_{jk}B_{ik}).$$

Eq. (3.6) implies that (B5) holds.

As above discussed, (B1)-(B5) follow from (3.1).

By eq. (3.7),

$$\{\mathbf{t}: L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L' = \mathbf{0}\} \cap \mathbb{E}_p = \{\mathbf{t}: \Lambda \mathbf{t}\Lambda = \mathbf{0}\} \cap \mathbb{E}_p = \{E_{ij}: i \text{ or } j > r\},\$$

that implies

$$L(E_{ij} \otimes W)L' = \mathbf{0}$$
 for i or $j > r$, i.e. $L_iWL'_i + L_jWL'_i = \mathbf{0}$ for i or $j > r$

So (A3) follows.

Let

then we define the operation \circ on \mathbb{S}_a as

$$S_1 \circ S_2 = rac{1}{2}(S_1S_2 + S_2S_1) \;\; ext{for any } S_1, \; S_2 \in \mathbb{S}_a$$

Note that $B_{ij} = L(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\sigma_i \sigma_j}} E_{ij} \otimes W) L' \in \mathbb{S}_a$ $(1 \le i < j \le r)$. By (3.1), the set \mathbb{S}_a is closed under the operation \circ . From the above proofs of (B1)-(B5), we have obtained these facts that under the operation \circ , $\{B_{ij}: 1 \le i < j \le r\}$ is a basis of the set \mathbb{S}_a , only if $B_{11}, B_{22}, \ldots, B_{rr}$ and $B_{i_1i_1} + B_{i_2i_2} + \cdots + B_{i_ki_k}$ $(\{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_k\} \subset \{1, 2, \ldots, r\})$ are idempotent elements of \mathbb{S}_a . Moreover, $B_{11}, B_{22}, \ldots, B_{rr}$ are nonzero, orthogonal. They can not be written as the sum of two non-zero orthogonal idempotent elements of \mathbb{S}_a . So each of $B_{11}, B_{22}, \ldots, B_{rr}$ is a primitive idempotent of \mathbb{S}_a and therefore each of them has same rank, say (c > 0), i.e. $r(B_{ii}) = r(L_iWL'_i) = c, i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$, (see for example, Jacobson (1968)). Moreover, by (3.3),

$$m = tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Lambda^+))/r(\Lambda) = tr(L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L')/r = \sum_{i=1}^r tr(B_{ii})/r = \sum_{i=1}^r r(B_{ii})/r = c$$

which proves condition (A1).

And since

$$tr(L_iWL'_i) = \sigma_i tr(B_{ii}) = \sigma_i r(B_{ii}) = \sigma_i r(L_iWL'_i) = \sigma_i m,$$

(A2) holds and, therefore, the proof is complete.

39

Note that (3.1) and (3.2) determine the Wishartness of the matrix quadratic forms Y'WY while (3.3) determines its m degrees of freedom if Y'WY has a Wishart distribution.

We provide an example to illustrate the application of Theorem 3.1.1. This example was discussed in Masaro and Wong (2003).

Examples 3.1.2. Let $Y = (Y_{ij})_{3\times 2} \sim \mathcal{N}_{3\times 2}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ with

$$\Sigma_{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{2} & \mathbf{0}_{2 \times 2} & A \\ \mathbf{0}_{2 \times 2} & \mathbf{0}_{2 \times 2} & \mathbf{0}_{2 \times 2} \\ A' & \mathbf{0}_{2 \times 2} & I_{2} \end{bmatrix} \quad where \ A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$W = \left| \begin{array}{ccc} 1 & a & 0 \\ a & b & c \\ 0 & c & 0 \end{array} \right|, \quad a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then, we discuss the Wishartness of the matrix quadratic form Y'WY and determine its degrees of freedom if Y'WY has a Wishart distribution.

Proof. The basic base is

$$\mathbb{E}_{2} = \left\{ E_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, E_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, E_{22} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \right\}$$

For the diagonal matrix $\Lambda = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$, to determine the Wishartness of the matrix

quadratic form Y'WY, by Theorem 3.1.1, it suffices to verify (3.1)-(3.2).

Taking $(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}) = (E_{11}, E_{12})$, we have

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (E_{11}\Lambda E_{12} + E_{12}\Lambda E_{11})]\Sigma_{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{12} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & B \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ B & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}$$

where $B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and

$$F(E_{11}, E_{12}, W, \Sigma_Y) + F(E_{12}, E_{11}, W, \Sigma_Y) = \begin{bmatrix} E_{12} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & B \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ B & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}$$

So (3.1) holds for $(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}) = (E_{11}, E_{12})$. Similarly, when $(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}) = (E_{11}, E_{11})$, (E_{12}, E_{12}) , (E_{11}, E_{22}) , (E_{12}, E_{22}) , (E_{22}, E_{22}) , respectively, (3.1) also holds. Here we can use a Matlab programming to do these computations.

Obviously,
$$\mathbb{K}_0 = \emptyset$$
. Let $\mathbf{t} = \begin{bmatrix} t_1 & t_3 \\ \\ t_3 & t_2 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{H}_p$. Then $\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}$, or

i.e. $t_1 = t_2 = t_3 = 0$. We obtain

 $\{\mathbf{t}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p\} = \emptyset,$

which implies that (3.2) holds.

So (3.1) and (3.2) imply that the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a Wishart distribution.

Finally, its degrees of freedom are given by (3.3). We have

$$m = \frac{1}{2}tr\left(\begin{bmatrix}I_2 & \mathbf{0} & A\\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0}\\ A' & \mathbf{0} & I_2\end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix}I_2 & aI_2 & \mathbf{0}\\ aI_2 & bI_2 & cI_2\\ \mathbf{0} & cI_2 & \mathbf{0}\end{bmatrix}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}tr\left(\begin{bmatrix}I_2 & aI_2 + cA & \mathbf{0}\\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0}\\ A' & aA' + cI_2 & \mathbf{0}\end{bmatrix}\right) = \frac{1}{2}tr(I_2) = 1.$$

Hence, it follows from Theorem 3.1.1 that $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_2(m, I_2)$ with m = 1.

Now we shall discuss the general case, where the covariance Σ of the Wishart distribution $W_p(m, \Sigma)$ is a general nonnegative definite matrix of order p.

Theorem 3.1.3. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ for a nonnegative integer m if and only if there exists a matrix Σ in \mathbb{N}_p such that for any elements $\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{h}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}} + \tilde{\mathbf{h}}\Sigma\mathbf{h})]\Sigma_{Y} = F(\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}, W, \Sigma_{Y}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}, \mathbf{h}, W, \Sigma_{Y})$$
(3.8)

with

$$\{\mathbf{h}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}$$
(3.9)

where $\mathbb{K} \equiv \{\mathbf{h}: \Sigma \mathbf{h} \Sigma = \mathbf{0}, \mathbf{h} \in \mathbb{H}_p\}$ and

$$m = tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma).$$
(3.10)

Proof. Since $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, by lemma 2.1.1, there is an orthogonal matrix H of order p such that $H'H = I_p$ and

$$H'\Sigma H = diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_r, 0, \dots, 0] \equiv \Lambda, \ r = r(\Sigma), \ \sigma_i > 0, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

And $YH \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_{YH})$, where $\Sigma_{YH} = (I \otimes H')\Sigma_Y(I \otimes H)$, follows from Lemma 2.1.2 and $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$.

Let

$$\mathbf{t} = H'\mathbf{h}H$$
 for any $\mathbf{h} \in \mathbb{H}_p$

The function $\mathbf{t} = H'\mathbf{h}H$ is a one to one map from the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ onto the basic base \mathbb{E}_p . By replacing \mathbf{h} , $\tilde{\mathbf{h}}$, Σ and Σ_Y , respectively, with $H\mathbf{t}H'$, $H\tilde{\mathbf{t}}H'$, $H\Lambda H'$ and $(I \otimes H)\Sigma_{YH}(I \otimes H')$ in (3.8)-(3.10), we obtain that for any elements \mathbf{t} and $\tilde{\mathbf{t}}$ in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p ,

$$\Sigma_{YH}[W \otimes (\mathbf{t}\Lambda \tilde{\mathbf{t}} + \tilde{\mathbf{t}}\Lambda \mathbf{t})]\Sigma_{YH} = F(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}, W, \Sigma_{YH}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}, \mathbf{t}, W, \Sigma_{YH}),$$
(3.11)

$$\{\mathbf{t}: \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}_0 \text{ and}$$
(3.12)

$$m = tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \Lambda^+))/r(\Lambda).$$
(3.13)

By Theorem 3.1.1, (3.11)-(3.13) are the necessary and sufficient conditions for H'Y'WYHto have a Wishart distribution $W_p(m, \Lambda)$. So $Y'WY \sim W_p(m, \Sigma)$ follows from Lemma 2.2.1. The equivalence between (3.11)-(3.13) and (3.8)-(3.10) tells us that the converse holds as well.

Remark 3.1.4. Note that, given the covariance matrix Σ , (3.8) and (3.9) determine the Wishartness of the matrix quadratic form Y'WY while (3.10) determines its degrees of freedom if Y'WY has a Wishart distribution.

Theorem 3.1.3 is an important result of this chapter. Now let us discuss an example and some corollaries as special cases of Theorem 3.1.3.

Examples 3.1.5. Let $Y = (Y_{ij})_{3 \times 2} \sim \mathcal{N}_{3 \times 2}(0, \Sigma_Y)$ with

$$\Sigma_{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} A & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & B \end{bmatrix} \text{ where } A = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } B = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$W = \begin{vmatrix} 4 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & -1 & 0 \\ 2 & 0 & 1 \end{vmatrix} \in \mathbb{S}_3.$$

then, we discuss the Wishartness of the matrix quadratic form Y'WY and determine its degrees of freedom if Y'WY has a Wishart distribution.

Proof. Consider the covariance $\Sigma = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5}{2} & \frac{3}{2} \\ \frac{3}{2} & \frac{5}{2} \end{bmatrix}$. There exists an orthogonal matrix $H = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \\ -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} \end{bmatrix}$ such that $H'\Sigma H = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$. Then the similar base \mathbb{H}_2 associ-

ated with Σ is given by

$$\mathbb{H}_{2} = \left\{ H_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}, \ H_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \ H_{22} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \right\}$$

To determine the Wishartness of the matrix quadratic form Y'WY, by Theorem 3.1.3, it suffices to verify (3.8) and (3.9).

Taking $(\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}) = (H_{11}, H_{12})$, we have

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (H_{11}\Lambda H_{12} + H_{12}\Lambda H_{11})]\Sigma_{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & 2AH_{12}B \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ 2BH_{12}A & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$F(H_{11}, H_{12}, W, \Sigma_Y) + F(H_{12}, H_{11}, W, \Sigma_Y) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 2AH_{12}H_{11}B \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 2BH_{11}BH_{12}A & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Since

$$2AH_{12}B = 2AH_{12}H_{11}B$$
 and $2BH_{12}A = 2BH_{11}BH_{12}A$

(3.8) holds for $(\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}) = (H_{11}, H_{12})$. Similarly, when

$$(\mathbf{h}, \mathbf{h}) = (H_{11}, H_{11}), (H_{11}, H_{22}), (H_{12}, H_{12}), (H_{12}, H_{22}), (H_{22}, H_{22}),$$

respectively, (3.8) holds for them. Here we also use a Matlab programming for this algebraic computation.

Obviously,
$$\mathbb{K} = \emptyset$$
. Let $\mathbf{h} = \begin{bmatrix} h_1 & h_3 \\ h_3 & h_2 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{H}_2$. Then $\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}$ or

$$\begin{vmatrix} 4A\mathbf{h}A & \mathbf{0} & 2A\mathbf{h}B \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ 2B\mathbf{h}A & \mathbf{0} & B\mathbf{h}B \end{vmatrix} = \mathbf{0},$$

i.e. $h_1 + h_2 + 2h_3 = 0$, $h_1 = h_2$, $h_1 + h_2 - 2h_3 = 0 \Rightarrow h_1 = h_2 = h_3 = 0$. It means that $\{\mathbf{h} : \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}, \mathbf{h} \in \mathbb{H}_2\} = \emptyset$, which (3.9) holds.

So (3.8) and (3.9) imply that matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a Wishart distribution.

Finally, its degrees of freedom are given by (3.10). We have

$$\begin{split} m &= tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W \otimes \Sigma^{+}))/r(\Sigma) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}tr\left(\begin{bmatrix} A & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & B \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 4\Sigma^{+} & 2\Sigma^{+} & 2\Sigma^{+} \\ 2\Sigma^{+} & -\Sigma^{+} & \mathbf{0} \\ 2\Sigma^{+} & \mathbf{0} & \Sigma^{+} \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}tr\left(\begin{bmatrix} 4A\Sigma^{+} & 2A\Sigma^{+} & 2A\Sigma^{+} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ 2B\Sigma^{+} & \mathbf{0} & B\Sigma^{+} \end{bmatrix} \right) = \frac{1}{2}[tr(4A\Sigma^{+}) + tr(B\Sigma^{+})] = 1. \end{split}$$

Hence, it follows from Theorem 3.1.1 that the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_2(1, \Sigma)$.

In Theorem 3.1.3, if the covariance Σ_Y of Y is replaced with the Kronecker product $A \otimes \Sigma$ where A is a nonnegative definite matrix of order n, Theorem 3.1.3 is reduced to the following corollary which was proved by Khatri (1963) and de Gunst (1987).

Corollary 3.1.6. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, A \otimes \Sigma)$ for some $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$. Then, for $W \in \mathbb{S}_n$, the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ for some $m \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if

$$AWAWA = AWA; (3.14)$$

$$AWA \neq \mathbf{0}; and$$
 (3.15)

$$m = r(AW). \tag{3.16}$$

Proof. Using $A \otimes \Sigma$ to replace Σ_Y in (3.8) and (3.9), by (2.5), we obtain (3.14) and (3.15). By (2.5), (2.6) and (3.10),

$$m = tr((A \otimes \Sigma)(W \otimes \Sigma^{+}))/r(\Sigma) = tr(AW \otimes \Sigma\Sigma^{+})/r(\Sigma)$$
$$= tr(AW)tr(\Sigma^{0})/r(\Sigma) = tr(AW),$$

so (3.16) holds and the desired result has been obtained.

In Theorem 3.1.3, if we replace the covariance Σ_Y of Y with the sum of special Kronecker products, we have the following corollary which was also discussed in Masaro and Wong (2004a).

Corollary 3.1.7. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$. Suppose $\Sigma_Y = \sum_{i=1}^r A_i \otimes E_{ii}, r \leq p, A_i \in \mathbb{N}_n, i = 1, 2, ..., r, and <math>W \in \mathbb{S}_n$. Then the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$, where $\Sigma = \sum_{i=1}^r \sigma_i E_{ii}$, for some $m \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if there exist real numbers $\sigma_k > 0, k = 1, 2, ..., r$, such that for all $i, j, k \leq r$,

$$A_i W A_k W A_j = \sigma_k A_i W A_j; \tag{3.17}$$

$$A_i W A_j \neq \mathbf{0}; \ and$$
 (3.18)

$$m = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sigma_i} tr(A_i W).$$
(3.19)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Proof. From (3.1), (3.2) and (3.3), replacing Σ_Y and Σ with $\sum_{i=1}^{\prime} A_i \otimes E_{ii}$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{\prime} \sigma_i E_{ii}$, respectively, we obtain that for any $\mathbf{t} = (t_{ij}), \tilde{\mathbf{t}} = (\tilde{t}_{ij}) \in \mathbb{E}_p$,

$$\sum_{i,j,k=1}^{\prime} (\sigma_k A_i W A_j - A_i W A_k W A_j) \otimes E_{ii} (\mathbf{t} E_{kk} \tilde{\mathbf{t}} + \tilde{\mathbf{t}} E_{kk} \mathbf{t}) E_{jj} = \mathbf{0}$$

or

$$\sum_{i,j,k=1}^{r} (\sigma_k A_i W A_j - A_i W A_k W A_j) \otimes (t_{ik} \tilde{t}_{kj} + \tilde{t}_{ik} t_{kj}) \mathbf{e_{ij}} = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (3.20)$$
$$\left\{ \mathbf{t} : \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} A_i W A_j \otimes E_{ii} \mathbf{t} E_{jj} = \mathbf{0} \right\} = \left\{ \mathbf{t} : \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} E_{ii} \mathbf{t} E_{jj} = \mathbf{0} \right\}.$$
Namely,

$$\left\{\mathbf{t}: \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} A_i W A_j \otimes E_{ii} \mathbf{t} E_{jj} = \mathbf{0}\right\} = \left\{\mathbf{t}: \mathbf{t} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0}_{r \times r} & \ast \\ \ast & \ast \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{E}_p\right\}$$
(3.21)

and

$$m = tr\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} A_i W \otimes E_{ii} \Sigma^+\right) / r(\Sigma) = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{r} tr(A_i W) tr(E_{ii} \Sigma^+).$$
(3.22)

Note that $t_{ik}\tilde{t}_{kj} + \tilde{t}_{ik}t_{kj}$ can take the value 0 or 1 or 2 for any $i, k, j \leq r$. So (3.20) is equivalent to (3.17) and (3.21) is equivalent to (3.18). Since

$$\Sigma^+ = \sum_{i=1}^r \frac{1}{\sigma_i} E_{ii}$$

(3.22) becomes

$$m = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{r} tr(A_i W) tr\left(E_{ii} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sigma_k} E_{kk}\right) = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sigma_i} tr(A_i W),$$

therefore, we have completed the proof of the desired result.

48

Corollary 3.1.8. Let \mathbf{y} be an $n \times 1$ random vector normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_n(\mathbf{0}, C)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then the quadratic form $\mathbf{y}'W\mathbf{y}$ has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_1(m, 1)$, that is, a chi-square distribution with m degrees of freedom for a nonnegative integer m if and only if

$$CWCWC = CWC; and$$
 (3.23)

$$m = r(CW). \tag{3.24}$$

Proof. In the univariate case p = 1, $\Sigma_Y = C$, $\Sigma = 1$ (if $Q \sim \mathcal{W}_1(m, \sigma)$, then $Q/\sigma \sim \chi^2(m)$) and $\mathbf{h} = 1$. (3.8) is reduced to (3.23), (3.9) is reduced to an identity and (3.10) is reduced to (3.24).

In fact, (3.23) and (3.24) imply that m = r(CWC), see Styan (1970).

In Theorem 3.1.3, if the covariance Σ_Y of Y is nonsingular, Theorem 3.1.3 reduces to the following corollary.

Corollary 3.1.9. In Theorem 3.1.3, suppose Σ_Y is nonsingular. Then the matrix quadratic Y'WY follows a Wishart distribution $W_p(tr(W), \Sigma)$ if and only if there exists a matrix $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that

$$W\otimes\Sigma=(W\otimes I)\Sigma_Y(W\otimes I)$$

Proof. Since Σ_Y is nonsingular, Σ must be nonsingular from (3.9). The desired condition follows from (3.8). Since

$$\begin{split} \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \\ &= \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (I \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) (W \otimes I) \Sigma_Y (W \otimes I) (I \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \\ &= \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (I \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) (W \otimes \Sigma) (I \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \\ &= \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y^{1/2}, \end{split}$$

 $\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y^{1/2}$ is idempotent. So by (3.10),

$$m = tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma) = r(\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \Sigma^{-1})\Sigma_Y^{1/2})/r(\Sigma)$$
$$= r(W \otimes \Sigma^{-1})/r(\Sigma) = r(W).$$

With some matrix operations, the following sufficient condition is easily derived from Corollary 3.1.9.

Corollary 3.1.10. In Theorem 3.1.3, if Σ_Y is nonsingular and $Y'WY \sim W_p(m, \Sigma)$, then Σ is a nonsingular covariance matrix and the W is a nonnegative definite matrix.

Corollary 3.1.10 tells us that the algebraic conditions obtained in Theorem 3.1.3 do determine not only the distribution of a matrix quadratic form but also the property of the underlying matrix W being nonnegative definite in the case of nonsingular Σ_Y . So when Σ_Y is nonsingular and W is symmetric rather than nonnegative definite, the matrix quadratic form Y'WY does not have any Wishart distribution. When Wis symmetric rather than nonnegative definite and the Wishartness of Y'WY holds, then Σ_Y must be a singular matrix. In addition, when Σ is singular and Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$, then Σ_Y must be a singular matrix.

If we use the set \mathbb{S}_p to replace the similar base \mathbb{H}_p in Theorem 3.1.3, we can easily obtain the following result.

Theorem 3.1.11. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(0, \Sigma_Y)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ for some $m \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if there exists $a \Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$\Sigma_{Y}(W \otimes \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\Sigma_{Y} = F(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{s}, W, \Sigma_{Y})$$
(3.25)

with

$$\{\mathbf{s}: \ \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = 0\} = \{\mathbf{s}: \ \Sigma \mathbf{s}\Sigma = \mathbf{0}\}$$
(3.26)

and

$$m = tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma).$$

Proof. By Lemma 2.1.7, (3.25) is equivalent to that for any $\mathbf{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (s\Sigma\tilde{s} + \tilde{s}\Sigma s)]\Sigma_{Y} = F(\mathbf{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}, W, \Sigma_{Y}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}, \mathbf{s}, W, \Sigma_{Y}).$$
(3.27)

Since it is obvious to prove Eq. (3.8) from Eq. (3.27), it suffices to show that Eq. (3.27) follows from Eq. (3.8) and condition (3.26) is equivalent to condition (3.9).

Assume that Eq. (3.8) holds. For any \mathbf{s} , $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}$ in set \mathbb{S}_p , \mathbf{s} and $\tilde{\mathbf{s}}$ can be expressed as the linear combinations of $\mathbf{h}_{ij} \in \mathbb{H}_p$, $1 \leq i \leq j \leq p$, i.e.

$$\mathbf{s} = \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le p} s_{ij} \mathbf{h}_{ij}, \ s_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}$$

and

$$ilde{\mathbf{s}} = \sum_{1 \le k \le l \le p} ilde{s}_{kl} \mathbf{h}_{kl}, \; ilde{s}_{kl} \in \mathbb{R}$$

Then we have

$$\begin{split} & \Sigma_{Y} [W \otimes (\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma\mathbf{s})] \Sigma_{Y} \\ &= \sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq p} \sum_{1 \leq k \leq l \leq p} s_{ij} \tilde{s}_{kl} \Sigma_{Y} [W \otimes (\mathbf{h}_{ij}\Sigma\mathbf{h}_{kl} + \mathbf{h}_{kl}\Sigma\mathbf{h}_{ij})] \Sigma_{Y} \\ &= \sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq p} \sum_{1 \leq k \leq l \leq p} s_{ij} \tilde{s}_{kl} [F(\mathbf{h}_{ij}, \mathbf{h}_{kl}, W, \Sigma_{Y}) + F(\mathbf{h}_{kl}, \mathbf{h}_{ij}, W, \Sigma_{Y})] \\ &= F(\sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq p} s_{ij}\mathbf{h}_{ij}, \sum_{1 \leq k \leq l \leq p} \tilde{s}_{kl}\mathbf{h}_{kl}, W, \Sigma_{Y}) + F(\sum_{1 \leq k \leq l \leq p} \tilde{s}_{kl}\mathbf{h}_{kl}, \sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq p} s_{ij}\mathbf{h}_{ij}, W, \Sigma_{Y}) \\ &= F(\mathbf{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}, W, \Sigma_{Y}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}, \mathbf{s}, W, \Sigma_{Y}), \end{split}$$

that implies that Eq. (3.27) holds.

Note that (3.26) is equivalent to

$$\{\mathbf{s}: \ \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{YH} = 0\} = \{\mathbf{s}: \ \Lambda \mathbf{s}\Lambda = 0\}$$
(3.28)

where H is an orthogonal matrix such that

$$H'\Sigma H = \Lambda \equiv diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_r, 0, \dots, 0], r = r(\Sigma), \text{ with } \sigma_i > 0, i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

And (3.9) is equivalent to (3.12). So it suffices to show that (3.12) is equivalent to (3.28).

Suppose condition (3.12) holds. Let $\mathbb{T} = {\mathbf{t}_{ij} \in \mathbb{E}_p : \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{t}_{ij})\Sigma_{YH} \neq \mathbf{0}},$ a subset of \mathbb{E}_p . Then the set $\langle \mathbb{T} \rangle$ is a subset of \mathbb{S}_p and, for any nonzero $\mathbf{s} \in \langle \mathbb{T} \rangle$, we have

$$\Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{YH} \neq 0.$$

It implies that

$$\{\mathbf{s}: \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}\} = < \{\mathbf{t}: \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}, \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p\} > .$$

Since

$$\{\mathbf{s}:\ \Lambda\mathbf{s}\Lambda=\mathbf{0}\}=<\{\mathbf{t}:\ \Lambda\mathbf{t}\Lambda=\mathbf{0},\ \mathbf{t}\in\mathbb{E}_p\}>=<\mathbb{K}_0>$$

Eq. (3.28) holds from (3.12).

Conversely, suppose Eq. (3.28) holds. Since

$$\{\mathbf{t}: \ \Lambda \mathbf{t} \Lambda = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p\} = \{\mathbf{s}: \ \Lambda \mathbf{s} \Lambda = \mathbf{0}\} \cap \mathbb{E}_p$$

and

$$\{\mathbf{t}: \ \Sigma_{YH}(W\otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{t}\in \mathbb{E}_p\} = \{\mathbf{s}: \ \Sigma_{YH}(W\otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}\}\cap \mathbb{E}_p,$$

condition (3.12) holds. So the proof is complete.

Masaro and Wong (2004a) essentially obtained Theorem 3.1.11 as the special case of their main result by using Jordan algebra homomorphisms in their technical report. Their result was obtained for very general case and the proof is more mathematically involved. In this thesis, we consider the set S_p and use a matrix approach stated in this section to obtain the same result as Masaro and Wong. So, the result given in Theorem 3.1.11 has the advantage to be less mathematically involved while it gives the same result as in Masaro and Wong (2004a).

Putting Theorem 3.1.3, Theorem 3.1.11 and Corollary 2.3.1 of Wong *et al.* (1991) together, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 3.1.12. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Suppose P is an idempotent square matrix of order p. Then the following statements (a)-(g) are equivalent.

(a) Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ with m degrees of freedom and covariance matrix Σ .

(b) There exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$|I_{np} - \Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}| = |I_p - \Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^m.$$

(c) There exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$|I_{np} - \Sigma_V^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_V^{1/2}| = |I_{np} - P \otimes (\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})|$$

(d) There exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

 $\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}$ and $P \otimes (\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})$ are similar.

(e) There exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$tr(\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W\otimes {f s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2})^k = mtr(\Sigma^{1/2}{f s}\Sigma^{1/2})^k, \ k=1,2,...$$

(f) There exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = F(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{s}, W, \Sigma_Y)$$

with $\{\mathbf{s}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \{\mathbf{s}: \Sigma \mathbf{s}\Sigma = \mathbf{0}\}$ and $m = tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma);$

(g) There exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}\left[W\otimes(\mathbf{h}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}}+\tilde{\mathbf{h}}\Sigma\mathbf{h})\right]\Sigma_{Y}=F(\mathbf{h},\tilde{\mathbf{h}},W,\Sigma_{Y})+F(\tilde{\mathbf{h}},\mathbf{h},W,\Sigma_{Y})$$

with $\{\mathbf{h}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \{\mathbf{h}: \Sigma\mathbf{h}\Sigma = \mathbf{0}\}$ and $m = tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma)$.

It is seen that (g) of Corollary 3.1.9 is easy to verify, compared to the rest.

3.2 Wishartness and Independence of MQFs

We have studied the Wishartness of a matrix quadratic form in a normal random matrix in Section 3.1. In this section we focus our attention on the Wishartness and independence of a set of matrix quadratic forms.

Before establishing our succinct and verifiable multivariate version of Cochran's Theorem, we give the following necessary and sufficient condition for the independence of a set of matrix quadratic forms. The more general result refers to Lemma 3.4.1 in Section 3.4.

Lemma 3.2.1. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l be symmetric matrices of order n. Then the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ are independent if and only if for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, l\}$ and any $\mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{t}_j$ in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p ,

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{t}_j) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}.$$
(3.29)

Proof. Suppose the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ are independent. For distinct i, j and any $\mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{t}_j \in \mathbb{E}_p$, the trace inner products $< \mathbf{t}_i, Y'W_iY >$ and $< \mathbf{t}_j, Y'W_jY >$ are independent. Since

$$\langle \mathbf{t}_i, Y'W_iY \rangle \ge \langle vec(Y), (W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i)vec(Y) \rangle = vec(Y)'(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i)vec(Y)$$

and vec(Y) has multivariate normal distribution $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$, we obtain

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}$$

from Theorem 4s of Searle (1971), which (3.29) holds.

Conversely, suppose that for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any $\mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{t}_j \in \mathbb{E}_p$, condition (3.29) holds. Then for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any $\mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{s}_j \in \mathbb{S}_p$, condition (3.29) still holds, namely. for any $\mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{s}_j \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}.$$
(3.30)

Let $Y'WY = (Y'W_iY)$. To show that the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$,

 $\ldots, Y'W_lY$ are independent, it suffices to show that

$$M_{Y'WY}(\mathbf{s}) = \prod_{i=1}^{l} M_{Y'W_iY}(\mathbf{s}_i)$$

for $\mathbf{s} = (\mathbf{s}_i)$ in \mathcal{N}_0 where \mathcal{N}_0 is a neighborhood of $\mathbf{0}$ in $\mathbb{S} = \mathbb{S}_p \times \mathbb{S}_p \times \ldots \times \mathbb{S}_p$ (l times). Now,

$$M_{Y'WY}(\mathbf{s}) = E(exp < (\mathbf{s}_i), (Y'W_iY) >) = E\left(exp\sum_{i=1}^l < \mathbf{s}_i, Y'W_iY >\right)$$
$$= E\left(exp < vec(Y), \sum_{i=1}^l (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i)vec(Y) >\right)$$
$$= E\left(exp < vec(Y)vec(Y)', \sum_{i=1}^l (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) >\right)$$

By Corollary 2.3.3,

$$M_{Y'WY}(\mathbf{s}) = \left| I_n \otimes I_p - 2\Sigma_Y \left(\sum_{i=1}^l (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \right) \Sigma_Y \right|^{-1/2}$$

Then by condition (3.30),

$$(I_n \otimes I_p - 2\Sigma_Y \sum_{i=1}^l (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y) = \prod_{i=1}^l [I_n \otimes I_p - 2\Sigma_Y (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y].$$

Thus

$$M_{Y'WY}(\mathbf{s}) = \prod_{i=1}^{l} |I_n \otimes I_p - 2\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i)\Sigma_Y|^{-1/2} = \prod_{i=1}^{l} M_{Y'WY}(\mathbf{s}_i)$$

and the proof is complete.

If $\Sigma_Y = A \otimes \Sigma$ for some $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$ and $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, Lemma 3.2.1 is reduced to the following well known result.

Corollary 3.2.2. In Lemma 3.2.1, suppose $\Sigma_Y = A \otimes \Sigma$ for some $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$ and $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, then the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ are independent if and only if $AW_iAW_jA = \mathbf{0}$ for all distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$.

Based on Theorem 3.1.1, Theorem 3.1.3 and Lemma 3.2.1, we shall develop a succinct and verifiable multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning the Wishartness and independence of matrix quadratic forms in a normal random matrix Y with mean **0** and covariance matrix Σ_Y .

First, we focus our attention on the case where the common covariance of Wishart $\mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Lambda)$ random matrices is a diagonal matrix Λ .

Theorem 3.2.3. Suppose that Y is an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l are symmetric matrices of order n. Then a set of matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_iY$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ is an independent family of Wishart $\mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Lambda)$ random matrices for some $m_i \in \{0, 1, 2, \ldots\}$ if and only if there exists a $\Lambda \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that the following statements (a) and (b) hold.

(a) For any $i \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any elements \mathbf{t}_i and $\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i$ in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p ,

$$\Sigma_{Y} \left[W_{i} \otimes (\mathbf{t}_{i} \Lambda \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i} + \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i} \Lambda \mathbf{t}_{i}) \right] \Sigma_{Y} = F(\mathbf{t}_{i}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i}, W_{i}, \Sigma_{Y}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i}, \mathbf{t}_{i}, W_{i}, \Sigma_{Y})$$

where $F(\mathbf{t}_i, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i, W_i, \Sigma_Y) = \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i)\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i)\Sigma_Y$ with $\{\mathbf{t}_i : \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i)\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}_0$ and $m_i = tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma)$; and

(b) For any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, l\}$,

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}.$$
(3.31)

Proof. Let $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ be an independent family of Wishart $\mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Lambda)$ random matrices. Then statements (a) and (b) follow from Theorem 3.1.1 and Lemma 3.2.1.

Conversely, suppose (a) and (b) hold. For i = 1, 2, ..., l, the matrix quadratic form $Y'W_iY$ has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Sigma)$ from Theorem 3.1.1. To complete the proof, it suffices to show that condition (3.29) holds from statements (a) and (b).

Since (3.29) is equivalent to

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i \otimes W_i) L' L(\mathbf{s}_j \otimes W_j) L' = \mathbf{0}$$
 where $L' L = \Sigma_{Y'}$ and $\mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{s}_j \in \mathbb{S}_p$ (3.32)

and (3.31) amounts to

$$L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L'L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_j)L' = \mathbf{0}, \tag{3.33}$$

we only need to prove (3.32) from statements (a) and (3.33).

For \mathbf{s}_i in set \mathbb{S}_p , \mathbf{s}_i can be written as

$$\mathbf{s}_i = \left[egin{array}{c} \mathbf{a} & * \ & \ * & * \end{array}
ight]_{p imes p} ext{ where } \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{S}_r.$$

Write

$$\mathbf{s}_i^* = \left[egin{array}{c} \mathbf{a} & \mathbf{0} \ & & \ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \end{array}
ight]_{n imes n} ext{ where } \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{S}_r$$

By (A1) of Theorem 3.1.1, for any $\mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{s}_j \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i \otimes W_i)L'L(\mathbf{s}_j \otimes W_j)L' = L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L'L(\mathbf{s}_j^* \otimes W_j)L'.$$
(3.34)

By Lemma 2.1.6 and Lemma 2.1.7, we can obtain from statement (a) that for $\mathbf{s}_i^* \in \mathbb{S}_p$

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \Lambda \mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W) L' = \Theta(\mathbf{s}_i^*, \mathbf{s}_i^*, W_i, L)$$

and

$$L(\mathbf{s}_{i}^{*} \otimes W_{i})L' = L\left[\frac{1}{2}(\Lambda^{+}\Lambda\mathbf{s}_{i}^{*} + \mathbf{s}_{i}^{*}\Lambda\Lambda^{+}) \otimes W_{i}\right]L'$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}[\Theta(\Lambda^{+}, \mathbf{s}_{i}^{*}, W_{i}, L) + \Theta(\mathbf{s}_{i}^{*}, \Lambda^{+}, W_{i}, L)]$$
(3.35)

where $\Theta(\Lambda^+, \mathbf{s}_i^*, W_i, L) = L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L'L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L'$. In particular,

$$L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L' = \Theta(\Lambda^+, \Lambda^+, W_i, L).$$
(3.36)

With (3.35), (3.36) and by Lemma 2.1.4,

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L'L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L' = \Theta(\Lambda^+, \mathbf{s}_i^*, W_i, L).$$
(3.37)

So, from (3.35) and (3.37)

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L' = \Theta(\mathbf{s}_i^*, \Lambda^+, W_i, L).$$
(3.38)

Similarly,

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L' = \Theta(\Lambda^+, \mathbf{s}_i^*, W_i, L).$$
(3.39)

Thus, by (3.34), (3.38) and (3.39), for any $s_i, s_j \in S_p$,

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i \otimes W_i)L'L(\mathbf{s}_j \otimes W_j)L' = L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L'L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L'L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_j)L'L(\mathbf{t}_i^* \otimes W_j)L' = \mathbf{0}$$

that completes the proof.

Next, we shall extend Theorem 3.2.3 from the diagonal covariance Λ to the general nonnegative definite covariance Σ .

Theorem 3.2.4. Suppose that Y has a normal distribution $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W_1 , W_2, \ldots, W_l are symmetric matrices of order n. Then a set of matrix quadratic forms

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

 $Y'W_iY, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$ is an independent family of Wishart $W_p(m_i, \Sigma)$ random matrices for some $m_i \in \{0, 1, 2, \ldots\}$ if and only if there exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that the following statements (a) and (b) hold.

(a) For any $i \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any elements $\mathbf{h}_i, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_i$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}\left[W_{i}\otimes(\mathbf{h}_{i}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i}+\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i}\Sigma\mathbf{h}_{i})\right]\Sigma_{Y}=F(\mathbf{h}_{i},\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i},W_{i},\Sigma_{Y})+F_{i}(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i},\mathbf{h}_{i},W_{i},\Sigma_{Y})$$
(3.40)

with

$$\{\mathbf{h}_i: \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}$$
(3.41)

and

$$m_i = tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma); \tag{3.42}$$

and

(b) For any distinct
$$i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$$
,
 $\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}.$ (3.43)

Proof. Since $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, by Lemma 2.1.1, there is an orthogonal matrix H of order p such that $H'H = I_p$ and

$$H'\Sigma H = diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_r, 0, \dots, 0] \equiv \Lambda, \ r = r(\Sigma), \ \sigma_i > 0, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

And $YH \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_{YH})$, where $\Sigma_{YH} = (I \otimes H')\Sigma_Y(I \otimes H)$, follows from Lemma 2.1.2 and $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$.

Defining

$$\mathbf{t}_i = H' \mathbf{h}_i H$$
 for any $\mathbf{h}_i \in \mathbb{H}_p$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, l$,
for any i = 1, 2, ..., l, the function $\mathbf{t}_i = H' \mathbf{h}_i H$ is a 1-1 map from the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ onto the basic base \mathbb{E}_p . By replacing \mathbf{h}_i , $\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_i$, Σ and Σ_Y , respectively, with $H \mathbf{t}_i H'$, $H \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i H'$, $H \Lambda H'$ and $(I \otimes H) \Sigma_{YH} (I \otimes H')$ in (3.40)-(3.43), we obtain

$$\Sigma_{YH} \left[W \otimes (\mathbf{t}_i \Lambda \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i + \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i \Lambda \mathbf{t}_i) \right] \Sigma_{YH} = F(\mathbf{t}_i, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i, W_i, \Sigma_{YH}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i, \mathbf{t}_i, W_i, \Sigma_{YH})$$
(3.44)

$$\{\mathbf{t}_i: \ \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{t}_i \in \mathbb{E}_p\} = \mathbb{K}_0,$$
(3.45)

$$m_i = tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \Lambda^+))/r(\Lambda) \tag{3.46}$$

and

$$\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH}(W_j \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}$$
(3.47)

which are equivalent to (3.40)-(3.43), respectively. By Theorem 3.2.3, (3.44)-(3.47) are the necessary and sufficient conditions for the matrix quadratic forms $H'Y'W_iYH$'s to be an independent family of Wishart $W_p(m_i, \Lambda)$ random matrices for some $m_i \in$ $\{1, 2, \ldots\}$. By Lemma 2.2.1, (3.40)-(3.43) are the necessary and sufficient conditions for matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_iY$'s to be an independent family of Wishart $W_p(m_i, \Sigma)$ random matrices for some $m_i \in \{1, 2, \ldots\}$ and vice versa. So we have completed the proof of the desired result. \Box

Theorem 3.2.4 is the core result which we intend to establish for the model stated in this Chapter.

Now, let us present its special cases.

In Theorem 3.2.4, if the covariance Σ_Y of Y is replaced with the Kronecker product $A \otimes \Sigma$ where $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$, we have the following corollary which was obtained by Khatri (1963).

Corollary 3.2.5. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, A \otimes \Sigma)$, $A \otimes \Sigma \neq \mathbf{0}$, $W_i \in \mathbb{S}_n$, i = 1, 2, ..., l. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family of Wishart $\mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Sigma)$ random matrices for some $m_i \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if for distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

$$AW_iAW_iA = AW_iA; (3.48)$$

$$AW_iA \neq \mathbf{0}; \tag{3.49}$$

$$m_i = tr(AW_i); and$$
 (3.50)

$$AW_iAW_jA = \mathbf{0}.$$

Proof. Use $A \otimes \Sigma$ to replace Σ_Y in (3.40)-(3.43). The desired results (3.48)-(3.51) follow from (3.40)-(3.43), respectively, in Theorem 3.2.4.

In Theorem 3.2.4, if we replace the covariance Σ_Y of Y with the sum of special Kronecker products, Theorem 3.2.4 is reduced to the following corollary which is an extension of Corollary 3.1.7.

Corollary 3.2.6. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ with $\Sigma_Y = \sum_{i=1}^r A_i \otimes E_{ii}, r \leq p$, where $A_i \in \mathcal{N}_n$ and $W_i \in \mathbb{S}_n, i = 1, 2, ..., l$. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family of Wishart $\mathcal{W}_p(m_\alpha, \Sigma)$ random matrices, where $\Sigma = \sum_{i=1}^r \sigma_i E_{ii}$, for some $m_a \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if there exist real numbers $\sigma_1 > 0, \sigma_2 > 0, ..., \sigma_r > 0$ such that for all $i, j, k \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$ and $a, b \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

$$A_i W_{\alpha} A_k W_{\alpha} A_j = \sigma_k A_i W_{\alpha} A_j; \tag{3.52}$$

$$A_i W_{\alpha} A_j \neq \mathbf{0}; \tag{3.53}$$

$$m_a = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^r \frac{1}{\sigma_i} tr(A_i W_a); \ and$$
 (3.54)

$$A_i W_a A_i W_b A_i = \mathbf{0}. \tag{3.55}$$

Proof. From (3.43), replacing Σ_Y and Σ with $\sum_{i=1}^r A_i \otimes E_{ii}$ and $\sum_{i=1}^r \sigma_i E_{ii}$, respectively, we obtain,

$$\sum_{i,j,k=1}^{r} A_i W_{\alpha} A_k W_{\beta} A_j \otimes E_{ii} \Sigma^+ E_{jj} \Sigma^+ E_{kk} = \mathbf{0}.$$

Namely, $A_i W_{\alpha} A_i W_{\beta} A_i = 0$. Relations (3.52)-(3.54) follow immediately from Corollary 3.1.9 and the proof is completed.

In Theorem 3.2.4, if \mathbf{y} is an $n \times 1$ random normal vector with mean vector $\mathbf{0}$ and covariance C, (3.40)-(3.43) are reduced to the following familiar result which were shown by Khatri (1963), Rayner and Livingstone (1965), Shanbhag (1968) and Styan (1970).

Corollary 3.2.7. Let \mathbf{y} be a random vector normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_n(\mathbf{0}, C)$ and $W_i \in \mathbb{S}_n$, i = 1, 2, ..., l. Then $\{\mathbf{y}' W_i \mathbf{y}\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family of chi-square $\chi^2(m_i)$ random variables with m_i degrees of freedom for $m_i \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

$$CW_i CW_i C = CW_i C; (3.56)$$

$$m_i = r(CW_i); and \tag{3.57}$$

$$CW_i CW_j C = \mathbf{0}. \tag{3.58}$$

Proof. In the univariate case p = 1, $\Sigma_Y = C$, $\Sigma = 1$ without loss of generality (if $Q \sim \mathcal{W}_1(m, \sigma)$, then $Q/\sigma \sim \chi^2(m)$). Then, (3.43) is reduced to (3.58). The rest follows from Corollary 3.1.8.

In Theorem 3.2.4, if the covariance Σ_Y of Y is nonsingular, Theorem 3.2.4 is reduced to the following corollary.

Corollary 3.2.8. In Theorem 3.2.4, suppose Σ_Y is nonsingular. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family of Wishart $W_p(tr(W_i), \Sigma)$ random matrices if and only if there exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

- (a) $(W_i \otimes I_p) \Sigma_Y (W_i \otimes I_p) = W_i \otimes \Sigma$; and
- (b) $(W_i \otimes I_p) \Sigma_Y (W_j \otimes I_p) = \mathbf{0}.$

From Corollary 3.2.8, we can infer the fact that the underlying matrices W_i 's are nonnegative definite if matrix quadratic forms are Wishartness.

Putting Theorem 3.1.11 and Theorem 3.2.4 together, we can obtain the following result.

Theorem 3.2.9. Suppose that random matrix Y is normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(0, \Sigma_Y)$ and $\{W_i\}$ is a family of symmetric matrices of order n. Then matrix quadratic forms $\{Y'W_iY\}$ is an independent family of Wishart $\mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Sigma)$ random matrices for some $m_i \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if there exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that the following statements (a) and (b) hold.

(a) For
$$i \in \{1, 2, \dots, l\}$$
 and $\mathbf{s}_i \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$\Sigma_{Y} \left[W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i} \Sigma \mathbf{s}_{i} \right] \Sigma_{Y} = \Sigma_{Y} (W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i}) \Sigma_{Y} (W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i}) \Sigma_{Y}$$
(3.59)

with

$$\{\mathbf{s}_i: \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \{\mathbf{s}_i: \Sigma \mathbf{s}_i \Sigma = \mathbf{0}\}$$
(3.60)

and

$$m_i = tr[\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+)]/r(\Sigma).$$
(3.61)

(b) For any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, l\}$,

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y = 0.$$
(3.62)

Theorem 3.2.9 gives a matrix presentation of a similar result obtained by Masaro and Wong (2004a) through Jordan algebra homomorphisms.

3.3 Noncentral Wishartness of a MQF

In this section, we shall use the moment generating function of Y'WY to study the noncentral Wishartness of a matrix form in a normal random matrix. The following theorem is the main result of this section.

Theorem 3.3.1. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a noncentral Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda})$ for some matrix $\boldsymbol{\lambda} \in \mathbb{M}_{p \times p}$ and some $m \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if there exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that (a) and (b) hold.

(a) For any elements $\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y} \left[W \otimes (\mathbf{h}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}} + \tilde{\mathbf{h}}\Sigma\mathbf{h}) \right] \Sigma_{Y} = F(\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}, W, \Sigma_{Y}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}, \mathbf{h}, W, \Sigma_{Y})$$
(3.63)

with

$$\{\mathbf{h}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K} \quad and \tag{3.64}$$

$$m = tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma).$$
(3.65)

(b) For any \mathbf{s} in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p and $n = 1, 2, \ldots,$

$$tr(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n}\mathbf{s}) = tr(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'[(W\otimes\mathbf{s})\Sigma_{Y}]^{n}(W\otimes\mathbf{s}))$$
(3.66)

with

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu}. \tag{3.67}$$

Proof. From Lemma 2.3.1, the moment generating function $M(\mathbf{s})$ of Y'WY is given by

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = |I_{np} - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}|^{-1/2} exp\{\langle \mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu} \rangle + 2\Phi_0\}$$
(3.68)

for any $\mathbf{s} \sim \mathbb{S}_p$ such that $sr(\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}) < 1/2$ where

$$\Phi_0 = \langle \operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu})\operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu})', \ (W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}[I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}]^{-1}\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s}) > .$$

Comparing the moment generating function $M_1(\mathbf{s})$ of the Wishart distribution stated in Corollary 2.3.2 with $M(\mathbf{s})$ given in (3.68), we obtain that $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \lambda)$ if and only if for any symmetric matrix \mathbf{s} of order p in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p ,

$$|I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}|^{-1/2} = |I - 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{-m/2}$$
(3.69)

and

$$< \lambda, \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2} (I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} >= \Phi_0$$
 (3.70)

with $\lambda = \mu' W \mu$.

Since, from Lemma 2.3.1, the moment generating function, $M_0(\mathbf{s})$, of matrix quadratic form $(Y - \boldsymbol{\mu})'W(Y - \boldsymbol{\mu})$ is given by

$$M_0(\mathbf{s}) = |I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}|^{-1/2}, \text{ for any } \mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p \cap \mathcal{N}_0,$$
(3.71)

(3.69) amounts to $(Y - \mu)'W(Y - \mu) \sim W_p(m, \Sigma)$. By Theorem 3.1.3, (3.69) amounts to (3.63)-(3.65).

Moreover,

$$<\lambda, \mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}(I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})^{-1}\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}> = tr\left(\lambda\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}(I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})^{-1}\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\right)$$
$$= tr\left(\lambda\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}[I_p + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}(2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2})^n]\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\right) = tr\left(\lambda[\mathbf{s}\Sigma + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}(2\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n+1}]\mathbf{s}\right)$$

and

$$\Phi_0 = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'\left((W\otimes\mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}[2(W\otimes\mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y]^{n+1}\right)(W\otimes\mathbf{s})\right)$$

Thus, (3.70) is equivalent to

$$tr\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}[\mathbf{s}\Sigma + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (2\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n+1}]\mathbf{s}\right)$$

= $tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'\left((W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} [2(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y]^{n+1}\right)(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\right)$ (3.72)

for $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p \cap \mathcal{N}_0$.

We arbitrarily choose \mathbf{s} in \mathcal{N}_0 . Replacing \mathbf{s} in (3.72) by $\alpha \mathbf{s}$ with very small positive number α , two sides of (3.72) are two power series with respect to α . Comparing two power series implies that (3.72) amounts to (3.66), and that proves the desired result.

From the proof in Theorem 3.3.1, we obtain the following relation between Y'WYand $(Y - \mu)'W(Y - \mu)$.

Corollary 3.3.2. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mu, \Sigma_Y)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \mu'W\mu)$ for some matrix $\lambda \in \mathbb{M}_{p \times p}$ and some $m \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ if and only if there exists a $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that (a) $(Y - \mu)'W(Y - \mu) \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma)$ and

(b) for any s in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of 0 in \mathbb{S}_p and $n = 1, 2, \ldots,$

$$tr\left(\boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^n \mathbf{s}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})' [(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y]^n (W \otimes \mathbf{s})\right).$$

The following example gives an application of Theorem 3.3.1 and also provides an illustration of a quadratic form Y'WY which is a noncentral Wishart but where W is not nonnegative definite.

Examples 3.3.3. Let $Y \sim N_{3\times 2}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_Y)$ with

1

$$\boldsymbol{\mu} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \quad and \quad \boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} A & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & B \end{bmatrix}$$

where

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \quad and \quad B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & a & \sqrt{2} \\ a & b & c \\ \sqrt{2} & c & 1 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{S}_3, \ a, \ b, \ c \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then, we discuss the noncentral Wishartness of the matrix quadratic form Y'WY and determine its degrees if Y'WY has a noncentral Wishart distribution.

Proof. Consider $\Sigma = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. In this case

$$\mathbb{H}_{p} = \mathbb{E}_{p} = \left\{ E_{ii} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, E_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, E_{22} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \right\}$$

With necessary matrix operations, (4.1) holds for all element pairs (E_{11}, E_{11}) , (E_{11}, E_{12}) , (E_{11}, E_{22}) , (E_{12}, E_{12}) , (E_{12}, E_{22}) and (E_{22}, E_{22}) .

69

1.

Dividually,
$$\mathbb{K} = \emptyset$$
. Let $\mathbf{h} = \begin{bmatrix} h_1 & h_3 \\ h_3 & h_2 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{H}_2$. Then

 \Rightarrow **h** = **0**, implying that (3.64) holds. And

$$m = tr \left(\begin{bmatrix} A & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & B \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 2\Sigma^{+} & a\Sigma^{+} & \sqrt{2}\Sigma^{+} \\ a\Sigma^{+} & b\Sigma^{+} & c\Sigma^{+} \\ \sqrt{2}\Sigma^{+} & c\Sigma^{+} & \Sigma^{+} \end{bmatrix} \right) / r(\Sigma)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}tr \left(\begin{bmatrix} 2A\Sigma^{+} & * & * \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \\ * & * & B\Sigma^{+} \end{bmatrix} \right) = \frac{1}{2}[tr(2A\Sigma^{+}) + tr(B\Sigma^{+})] = \frac{1}{2}[tr(2A\Sigma^{+}) + tr(B\Sigma^{+})]$$

To verify (3.66), we write

$$C_* = (W \otimes \mathbf{s}) \operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu}) \operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu})' = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \sqrt{2}\mathbf{s}B \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & c\mathbf{s}B \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & sB \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$D_* = (W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = \begin{bmatrix} 2\mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & \sqrt{2}\mathbf{s}B \\ a\mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & c\mathbf{s}B \\ \sqrt{2}\mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{s}B \end{bmatrix} \text{ for } \mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_2$$

Note that $\Sigma = 2A + B$. We have

$$D_{*}^{n+1} = \begin{vmatrix} * & \mathbf{0} & * \\ * & \mathbf{0} & * \\ \sqrt{2}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n}\mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & (\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n}\mathbf{s}B \end{vmatrix} \text{ for } n = 0, 1, 2, \dots.$$
(3.73)

We shall use mathematical induction to prove (3.73) as follows:

For n = 0, (3.73) is reduced to the trivial case. Suppose (3.73) holds for $n = k \ge 1$.

Then

$$D_{*}^{k+1} = D_{*}^{k} D_{*} = \begin{vmatrix} * & \mathbf{0} & * \\ * & \mathbf{0} & * \\ \sqrt{2}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{k-1} \mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & (\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{k-1} \mathbf{s}B \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 2\mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & \sqrt{2}\mathbf{s}B \\ a\mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & c\mathbf{s}B \\ \sqrt{2}\mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{s}B \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} * & \mathbf{0} & * \\ \sqrt{2}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{k-1}\mathbf{s}(2A + B)\mathbf{s}A + & \mathbf{0} & (\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{k-1}\mathbf{s}(2A + B)\mathbf{s}B \\ \sqrt{2}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{k-1}\mathbf{s}(2A + B)\mathbf{s}A + & \mathbf{0} & (\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{k-1}\mathbf{s}(2A + B)\mathbf{s}B \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} * & \mathbf{0} & * \\ * & \mathbf{0} & * \\ \sqrt{2}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{k}\mathbf{s}A & \mathbf{0} & (\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{k}\mathbf{s}B \\ \end{bmatrix}.$$

It follows from (3.73) that n = 0, 1, 2, ...

$$tr(C_*D_*^n) = tr\left(2\mathbf{s}B(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n-1}\mathbf{s}A + \mathbf{s}B(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n-1}\mathbf{s}B\right) = tr\left(\mathbf{s}B(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^n\right).$$

And

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = B$$

So (3.66) holds. Hence, it follows from Theorem 3.3.1 that Y'WY has a Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_2(m, \Sigma, \lambda)$ with m = 1 degree of freedom, covariance $\Sigma = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$

and non-centrality matrix $\boldsymbol{\lambda} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$.

Assume that the covariance Σ_Y of Y is a Kronecker product covariance structure $A \otimes \Sigma$ with non-negative definite matrix A, Theorem 3.3.1 is reduced to the following corollary which was essentially obtained by Khatri (1963) and De Gunst (1987).

Corollary 3.3.4. In Theorem 3.3.1, supposed that $\Sigma_Y = A \otimes \Sigma$ for some $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$. Then, for the symmetric matrix W of order n, the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a noncentral Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(r(AW), \Sigma, \mu'W\mu)$ if and only if

(a)
$$AWAWA = AWA \neq 0$$
, and

(b) $\mu'WAWAW\mu = \mu'WAW\mu = \mu'W\mu$

Proof. (a) follows from Corollary 3.1.6. Replacing Σ_Y with $A \otimes \Sigma$ in (3.66), we obtain that for any symmetric matrix **s** of order p in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of **0** in \mathbb{S}_p and $n = 1, 2, \ldots$,

$$\begin{split} tr(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n}\mathbf{s}) &= tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'[(W\otimes\mathbf{s})(A\otimes\Sigma)]^{n}(W\otimes\mathbf{s})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})\right) \\ &= tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'[(WA)^{n}W\otimes(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n}\mathbf{s}]vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})\right) \\ &= tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'vec[(WA)^{n}W\boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n}\mathbf{s}]\right) = tr(\boldsymbol{\mu}'(WA)^{n}W\boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^{n}\mathbf{s}) \end{split}$$

By Lemma 2.1.8, for n=1,2,...

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}'(WA)^n W \boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\lambda}. \tag{3.74}$$

(3.74) is equivalent to, under (a),

$$\mu'WAWAW\mu = \mu'WAW\mu = \mu'W\mu,$$

so the desired result follows from Theorem 3.3.1.

Moreover, taking $\Sigma_Y = I_n \otimes \Sigma$ in Theorem 3.3.1, we have the following corollary, which was proved earlier by Khatri (1959).

Corollary 3.3.5. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, I_n \otimes \Sigma)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then a necessary and sufficient condition for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY to have a noncentral Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(tr(W), \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\mu}'W\boldsymbol{\mu})$ is that W is idempotent. This distribution is central when $W\boldsymbol{\mu} = \mathbf{0}$.

The following result is due to Eaton (1983).

Corollary 3.3.6. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, A \otimes \Sigma)$ and W be a symmetric nonnegative definite matrix of order n. Write $W = V^2$, where V is nonnegative definite. If VAV is an orthogonal projection of rank m and $VAW\boldsymbol{\mu} = V\boldsymbol{\mu}$, then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\mu}'W\boldsymbol{\mu})$.

Assume that W is a symmetric matrix such that tr(AW) = r(A) and $\Sigma = A \otimes \Sigma$, we get the following result, due to Vaish and Chaganty (2004).

Corollary 3.3.7. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, A \otimes \Sigma)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then a necessary and sufficient condition for matrix quadratic form Y'WY to have a noncentral Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(r(A), \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\mu}'W\boldsymbol{\mu})$ is that WAW = W.

Corollary 3.3.8. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ with $\Sigma_Y = \sum_{i=1}^r A_i \otimes E_{ii}, r \leq p$, where $A_i \in \mathbb{N}_n$. Then, for $W \in \mathbb{S}_n$, the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a noncentral Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\mu}'W\boldsymbol{\mu})$ for some nonnegative integer m, where

$$\Sigma = \sum_{i=1} \sigma_i E_{ii},$$

if and only if there exist real numbers $\sigma_l > 0$, l = 1, 2, ..., r such that for all $i, j, k \in \{1, 2, ..., r\}$,

$$A_i W A_k W A_j = \sigma_k A_i W A_j \neq \mathbf{0}, \ m = \frac{1}{r} \sum_{i=1}^r \frac{1}{\sigma_i} tr(A_i W)$$
(3.75)

and

$$\sigma_i \boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W A_i W \boldsymbol{\mu}, \ \sigma_i \sigma_j \boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W A_i W A_j W \boldsymbol{\mu}.$$
(3.76)

Proof. (3.75) follows from Corollary 3.1.7. Replacing Σ_Y and Σ with $\sum_{i=1}^{r} A_i \otimes E_{ii}$ and $\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sigma_i E_{ii}$, respectively, in (3.66), we obtain that for any symmetric matrix **s** in a

neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of **0** in \mathbb{S}_p and $n = 1, 2, \ldots$

$$tr\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\mathbf{s}\sum_{i=1}^{r}\sigma_{i}E_{ii})^{n}\mathbf{s}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'\left[(W\otimes\mathbf{s})\sum_{i=1}^{r}(A_{i}\otimes E_{ii})\right]^{n}(W\otimes\mathbf{s})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})\right),$$
(3.77)

where $\lambda = \mu' W \mu$.

When n = 1, (3.77) is reduced to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} tr(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\sigma_{i} \mathbf{s} E_{ii} \mathbf{s})) = \sum_{i=1}^{r} tr(\boldsymbol{\mu}' W A_{i} W \boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathbf{s} E_{ii} \mathbf{s})), \text{ for } \mathbf{s} \in \mathcal{N}_{0} \cap \mathbb{S}_{p}.$$

Lemma 2.1.9 and the arbitrariness of s imply that for i = 1, 2, ..., r

$$\sigma_i \mu' W \mu = \mu' W A_i W \mu. \tag{3.78}$$

In a similar way, for n = 2, (3.77) is equivalent to

$$\sigma_i \sigma_j \boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W A_i W A_j W \boldsymbol{\mu}, \text{ for any } i, j = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$
(3.79)

The results of n > 2 in (3.77) can be obtained from (3.77)-(3.79). So the desired result follows immediately from Theorem 3.3.1.

In Theorem 3.3.1, if **y** is $n \times 1$ random normal vector with mean vector $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ and covariance C of order n, (3.63)-(3.67) are reduced to the following familiar result which were shown in the sixties.

Corollary 3.3.9. Let \mathbf{y} be a random vector normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_n(\boldsymbol{\mu}, C)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then the quadratic form $\mathbf{y}'W\mathbf{y}$ has a noncentral Wishart $\mathcal{W}_1(r(CW), 1, \boldsymbol{\mu}'W\boldsymbol{\mu})$ or chi-square distribution with r(CW) degrees of freedom and parameter $\delta^2 = \boldsymbol{\mu}'W\boldsymbol{\mu}$ if and only if

$$CWCWC = CWC, and$$
 (3.80)

$$\boldsymbol{\mu}'WCWCW\boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\mu}'WCW\boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\mu}'W\boldsymbol{\mu}.$$
(3.81)

Proof. In the univariate case p = 1, (3.80) follows from Corollary 3.1.8. Replacing Σ_Y with C and Σ with 1 (if $Q \sim \mathcal{W}_1(m, \sigma)$, then $Q/\sigma \sim \chi^2(m)$), (3.66) is reduced to

$$\mu' W \mu \mathbf{s}^{n+1} = \mu' (WC)^n W \mu \mathbf{s}^{n+1}$$
, for $n = 1, 2, ...$

which is equivalent to (3.81) under (3.80). So the desired result follows from Theorem 3.3.1.

Corollary 3.3.10. In Theorem 3.3.1, suppose Σ_Y is nonsingular, then the matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a noncentral Wishart distribution $\mathcal{W}_p(tr(W), \Sigma, \mu'W\mu)$ if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that

(a) $W \otimes \Sigma = (W \otimes I) \Sigma_Y (W \otimes I)$; and

(b) for any symmetric matrix \mathbf{s} of order p in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p and $n = 1, 2, \ldots,$

$$tr\left(\boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu}(\mathbf{s}\Sigma)^n \mathbf{s}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})' [(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y]^n (W \otimes \mathbf{s})\right).$$

Proof. (a) follows from Corollary 3.1.9 and (b) follows from Theorem 3.3.1. \Box

3.4 Noncentral Wishartness and Independence of Matrix Quadratic Forms

Although the following result and its proof imitate Theorem 2.2 and its proof of Wong *et al.* (1991), some modifications have been made so that the corresponding necessary and sufficient conditions can be verified.

Lemma 3.4.1. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ and $\{W_i\}_{i=1}^l$ be symmetric matrices in \mathbb{S}_n . Then a set of matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_iY$'s is independent if and only if for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any $\mathbf{h}_i, \mathbf{h}_j \in \mathbb{H}_p$, where \mathbb{H}_p is a similar base associated with any given $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$

(a) $\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{h}_j) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0},$

- (b) $\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{h}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \mathbf{0}$, and
- (c) $vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{h}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = 0.$

Proof. Suppose $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family. Let $i \neq j$ and $\mathbf{h}_i, \mathbf{h}_j \in \mathbb{H}_p$, then $\langle \mathbf{h}_i, Y'W_iY \rangle$ and $\langle \mathbf{h}_j, Y'W_jY \rangle$ are independent. Since

$$\langle \mathbf{h}_{i}, Y'W_{i}Y \rangle \rangle = \langle vec(Y), (W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i})vec(Y) \rangle = vec(Y)'(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i})vec(Y)$$

and vec(Y) has a normal distribution $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$, it follows from Theorem 4s of Searle (1971) that (a), (b) and (c) hold.

Conversely, assume that for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any $\mathbf{h}_i, \mathbf{h}_j \in \mathbb{H}_p$ (a), (b) and (c) hold. Then for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any $\mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{s}_j \in \mathbb{S}_p$, $\mathbf{s}_i = \sum_{1 \le k \le l \le p} s_{kl} \mathbf{h}_{kl} \ (s_{kl} \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \mathbf{h}_{kl} \in \mathbb{H}_p)$ and $\mathbf{s}_j = \sum_{1 \le k \le l \le p} s_{kl}^* \mathbf{h}_{kl} \ (s_{kl}^* \in \mathbb{R})$. With simple operations, we have

 $(a') \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0},$

$$(b') \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \mathbf{0}$$
, and

 $(c') \ vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = 0.$

Recall that the family $Y'WY = (Y'W_iY)$ is independent if and only if

$$M_{Y'WY}(\mathbf{s}) = \prod_{i=1}^{\iota} M_{YW_iY}(\mathbf{s}_i)$$

for $\mathbf{s} = (\mathbf{s}_i)$ in \mathcal{N}_0 , where \mathcal{N}_0 is a neighborhood of $\mathbf{0}$ in $\mathbb{S} = \mathbb{S}_p \times \mathbb{S}_p \times \ldots \mathbb{S}_p$ (l times). So by Lemma 2.3.1, the family $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent if and only if

(i)
$$|I - 2\sum_{i=1}^{l} \Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i}) \Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}| = \prod_{i=1}^{l} |I - 2\Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i}) \Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}|$$
, and
(ii) $< \sum_{i=1}^{l} vec(W_{i}\boldsymbol{\mu}\mathbf{s}_{i}), \Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}(I_{np} - 2\Sigma^{*})^{-1} \Sigma_{Y}^{1/2} \sum_{j=1}^{l} vec(W_{j}\boldsymbol{\mu}\mathbf{s}_{j}) >$

$$=\sum_{i=1}^{l} \langle vec(W_{i}\boldsymbol{\mu}\mathbf{s}_{i}), \Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}[I-2\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i}\otimes\mathbf{s}_{i})\Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}]^{-1}\Sigma_{Y}^{1/2}vec(W_{i}\boldsymbol{\mu}\mathbf{s}_{i}) \rangle.$$

where $\Sigma^* = \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{i} W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i \right) \Sigma_Y^{1/2}$. By (a'), $\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}$ for all distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, \dots, l\}$. So (i) follows. For the same reasons,

$$(I - 2\Sigma^*)^{-1} = \prod_{i=1}^{l} \left(I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^{-1}$$

Let $D_{ij} \equiv \langle (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (I - 2\Sigma_*)^{-1} \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) \rangle$, then for (ii),

it suffices to show that

$$D_{ij} = 0 \quad \text{for } i \neq j \text{ and}$$
 (3.82)

$$D_{ii} \equiv \langle vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \left(I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^{-1} \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) > .$$
(3.83)

From (a'), for $i \neq j$,

$$(I - 2\Sigma^*)^{-1} = \prod_{i=1}^l \left(I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^{-1} = \prod_{i=1}^l \sum_{k=0}^\infty \left(2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^k$$
$$= I + \sum_{i=1}^l \sum_{k=1}^\infty \left(2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^k.$$

And for any $i, j \in \{1, 2, \dots, l\}$

$$\begin{split} D_{ij} &= \langle (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \left(I + \sum_{i=1}^l \sum_{k=1}^\infty \left(2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^k \right) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) > \\ &= \langle (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \left(I + \sum_{k=1}^\infty \left(2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^k \right) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) > \\ &= \langle vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) > + \\ &< vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \sum_{k=1}^\infty \left(2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^k \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) > . \end{split}$$

(3.84)

By (c'), for distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, l\}$,

$$< vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) > = vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = 0$$

and by (b'), for distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$

$$< vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}), (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^k \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) >$$

= $vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})' (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^k \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_j \otimes \mathbf{s}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = 0.$

So $D_{ij} = 0$ for $i \neq j$, proving (3.82). Using (3.84) again

$$\begin{split} D_{ii} &= \langle \operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu}), (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \left(I + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^k \right) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu}) > \\ &= \langle \operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu}), (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \left(I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y^{1/2} \right)^{-1} \Sigma_Y^{1/2} (W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu}) >, \end{split}$$

that proves (3.83). (ii) follows from (i) and the proof is completed.

Replacing \mathbb{H}_p with \mathbb{E}_p is a usual usage in Lemma 3.4.1 while replacing \mathbb{H}_p with \mathbb{S}_p is the result of Wong *et al.* (1991). Suppose that $\boldsymbol{\mu} = \mathbf{0}$ in Theorem 3.4.2, it is reduced to Lemma 3.2.1 stated in Section 3.2.

Combining Theorem 3.3.1 with Lemma 3.4.1, we obtain the following multivariate version of Cochran's theorem.

Theorem 3.4.2. Suppose that $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ and $\{W_i\}_{i=1}^l$ is a family of symmetric matrices of order n. Then a set of matrix quadratic forms $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family of noncentral Wishart $\mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_i)$ random matrices for some $m_i \in \{0, 1, 2, \ldots\}$ and some matrix $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_i \in \mathbb{M}_{p \times p}$ if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that the following statements (a), (b) and (c) hold.

(a) For $i \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any elements $\mathbf{h}_i, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_i$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}\left[W_{i}\otimes(\mathbf{h}_{i}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i}+\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i}\Sigma\mathbf{h}_{i})\right]\Sigma_{Y}=F(\mathbf{h}_{i},\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i},W_{i},\Sigma_{Y})+F(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i},\mathbf{h}_{i},W_{i},\Sigma_{Y})\quad(3.85)$$

with

$$\{\mathbf{h}_i: \Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K} \quad and \quad m_i = tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+))/r(\Sigma).$$
(3.86)

(b) For any $i \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$, any symmetric matrix \mathbf{s}_i of order p in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p and n = 1, 2, ...,

$$tr\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\mathbf{s}_{i}\boldsymbol{\Sigma})^{n}\mathbf{s}_{i}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'[(W_{i}\otimes\mathbf{s}_{i})\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{Y}]^{n}(W_{i}\otimes\mathbf{s}_{i})\right)$$
(3.87)

with $\lambda_i = \mu' W_i \mu$.

(c) For any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and $\mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{t}_j \in \mathbb{E}_p$

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}, \tag{3.88}$$

$$\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{j} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{j})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \mathbf{0}, and$$
(3.89)

$$vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{t}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = 0.$$
 (3.90)

Proof. Let $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ be an independent family of noncentral Wishart $W_p(m_i, \Sigma, \lambda_i)$ random matrices. Then statements (a)-(c) follow from Theorem 3.3.1 and Lemma 3.4.1.

Conversely, suppose statements (a)-(c) hold. Since (a) and (b), from Theorem 3.3.1, for any i = 1, 2, ..., l, $Y'W_iY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Sigma, \lambda_i)$.

To prove the independence of matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_iY$'s, it suffices to show that for any $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any $\mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{t}_j \in \mathbb{E}_p$, we have

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{t}_j) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}.$$
(3.91)

First, assume Σ is diagonal matrix, namely, $\Sigma = \Lambda = diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \ldots, \sigma_r, 0 \ldots, 0]$. Due to the structure of Λ , we only need to consider elements E_{ij} , $1 \le i \le j \le r$, in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p for (3.91).

Exactly as in the proof of Lemma 2.1.6, we can prove that (3.88) is equivalent to

$$L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L'L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L' = \mathbf{0} \text{ where } L'L = \Sigma_{Y'}$$
(3.92)

and (3.91) is equivalent to

$$L(\mathbf{t}_i \otimes W_i)L'L(\mathbf{t}_j \otimes W_j)L' = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{t}_j \in \{E_{ij} : \ 1 \le i \le j \le r\}.$$
(3.93)

So it suffices to show (3.93). Since $\Lambda^+ = \sum_{i=1}^r \frac{1}{\sigma_i} E_{ii}$, by (3.85) or its corresponding Lemma 2.1.6,

$$L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L' = L(\Lambda^+ \Lambda \Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L' = \Theta(\Lambda^+, \Lambda^+, W_i, L).$$
(3.94)

Also by (3.85) or its corresponding Lemma 2.1.6,

$$L(\mathbf{t}_i \otimes W_i)L' = L\left[\frac{1}{2}(\Lambda^+ \Lambda \mathbf{t}_i + \mathbf{t}_i \Lambda \Lambda^+) \otimes W_i\right]L' = \frac{1}{2}[\Theta(\Lambda^+, \mathbf{t}_i, W_i, L) + \Theta(\mathbf{t}_i, \Lambda^+, W_i, L)].$$
(3.95)

With (3.94) and (3.95), we obtain from Lemma 2.1.4

$$L(\mathbf{t}_i \otimes W_i) L' L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i) L' = \Theta(\Lambda^+, \mathbf{t}_i, W_i, L).$$
(3.96)

Thus, (3.95) and (3.96) give

$$L(\mathbf{t}_i \otimes W_i)L' = \Theta(\mathbf{t}_i, \Lambda^+, W_i, L).$$
(3.97)

In a similar way, we get

$$L(\mathbf{t}_{i} \otimes W_{i})L' = \Theta(\Lambda^{+}, \mathbf{t}_{i}, W_{i}, L).$$
(3.98)

Hence, (3.93) follows from (3.97), (3.98) and (3.88), which equivalently proved (3.91).

Next, for the nonnegative definite Σ , there exists an orthogonal matrix H such that $H'\Sigma H = \Lambda$. Then (3.88) can be written as

$$\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH}(W_j \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}$$

where $\Sigma_{YH} = (I \otimes H')\Sigma_Y(I \otimes H)$. Also, (3.85) can be written as

$$\Sigma_{YH} \left[W_i \otimes (\mathbf{t}_i \Lambda \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i + \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i \Lambda \mathbf{t}_i) \right] \Sigma_{YH} = F(\mathbf{t}_i, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i, W_i, \Sigma_{YH}) + F(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i, \mathbf{t}_i, W_i, \Sigma_{YH}).$$

The first equation of (3.86) can be written as

$$\{\mathbf{t}_i: \Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}_0.$$

From the proof of the previous special case, for any $\mathbf{t}_i, \mathbf{t}_j \in \mathbb{E}_p$,

$$\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_{YH}(W_j \otimes \mathbf{t}_j) \Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0},$$

equivalently, for any $\mathbf{h}_i, \mathbf{h}_j \in \mathbb{H}_p$, $\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)\Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{h}_j)\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}$. Thus, (3.91) follows from the fact that each $\mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p$ is the linear combination of elements in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ , that completes the proof.

Theorem 3.4.2 is reduced to Theorem 3.2.4 when $\mu = 0$.

In Theorem 3.4.2, suppose Σ_Y is nonsingular, we have the following corollary.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Corollary 3.4.3. In Theorem 3.4.2, suppose Σ_Y is nonsingular, then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family of noncentral Wishart $W_p(tr(W_i), \Sigma, \mu'W_i\mu)$ random matrices if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that

(a) $W_i \otimes \Sigma = (W_i \otimes I) \Sigma_Y (W_i \otimes I);$

b) for any $i \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$, any symmetric matrix \mathbf{s}_i of order p in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p and n = 1, 2, ...,

$$tr(\mu' W_i \mu(\mathbf{s}_i \Sigma)^n \mathbf{s}_i) = tr(vec(\mu)vec(\mu)'[(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i) \Sigma_Y]^n(W_i \otimes \mathbf{s}_i)); and$$

(c) for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, l\}$,

$$(W_i \otimes I_p) \Sigma_Y (W_i \otimes I_p) = \mathbf{0}$$

Proof. The proof follows immediately from Corollary 3.3.2 and Corollary 3.2.5. \Box

If Σ_Y is a Kronecker product structure $A \otimes \Sigma$ for some $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$, Theorem 3.4.2 is reduced to the following familiar result.

Corollary 3.4.4. In Theorem 3.4.2, suppose $\Sigma_Y = A \otimes \Sigma$ for some $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$, then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family of noncentral Wishart $\mathcal{W}_p(tr(AW_i), \Sigma, \mu'W_i\mu)$ random matrices if and only if for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

(a)
$$AW_iAW_iA = AW_iA \neq \mathbf{0};$$

- (b) $\mu' W_i A W_i A W_i \mu = \mu' W_i A W_i \mu = \mu' W \mu;$
- (c) $AW_iAW_jA = \mathbf{0};$
- (d) $AW_iAW_j\mu = 0$; and
- (e) $\boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i A W_j \boldsymbol{\mu} = \mathbf{0}.$

Note that when p = 1, Theorem 3.4.2 is reduced to the chi-square version of Cochran's theorem obtained in the sixties.

Corollary 3.4.5. Let $\mathbf{y} \sim \mathcal{N}_{\mathbf{n}}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \mathbf{C})$ and $\{W_i\}$ be a set of symmetric matrices of order n. Then a set of quadratic forms $\mathbf{y}'W_i\mathbf{y}$'s is an independent family of noncentral chi-square $\chi^2(r(CW_i), \boldsymbol{\mu}'W_i\boldsymbol{\mu})$ random variables if and only if for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

- (a) $CW_iCW_iC = CW_iC \neq \mathbf{0};$
- (b) $\mu' W_i C W_i C W_i \mu = \mu' W_i C W_i \mu = \mu' C \mu$; and
- (c) $CW_iCW_jC = \mathbf{0}, \ CW_iCW_j\boldsymbol{\mu} = \mathbf{0}, \ \boldsymbol{\mu}'W_iCW_j\boldsymbol{\mu} = \mathbf{0}.$

Chapter 4

A Multivariate Version of Cochran's Theorem Concerning DINWRMs

In this Chapter we shall discuss the extended problem stated in Section 1.1. Let Y be an $n \times p$ multivariate normal random matrix with mean μ and general covariance Σ_Y . In Section 4.3, we give a set of necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 4.3.1) for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY with the symmetric matrix W to be distributed as differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices (DINWRMs). In Section 4.4, we consider the symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l . Then we develop a set of necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 4.4.1) for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices.

In this Chapter, as the intermediate result, we also use a matrix approach to

present the proven result for the mean zero case. This case has been solved by Masaro and Wong (2004b). They used Jordan algebra homomorphisms to obtain the necessary and sufficient conditions for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, $\dots, Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent Wishart random matrices (DIWRMs). Their result and proof is more mathematically involved. Our presentation provides a discrete representation version of Cochran's theorem concerning DIWRMs. For details, in Section 4.1 a set of necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 4.1.2 and Theorem 4.1.1 for a special case) is established for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY with the symmetric matrices W to be distributed as a difference of independent Wishart random matrices (DIWRM). In Section 4.2, we consider symmetric matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l and develop a set of necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 4.2.2) for the matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent Wishart random matrices. Some special cases are presented. Also, we use a matrix approach to present the result (Theorem 4.1.8) obtained by Masaro and Wong (2004b).

4.1 Conditions for a MQF to be Distributed as a DIWRM

The following theorem gives a set of condition for the matrix quadratic form Y'WYto be distributed as a difference of independent Wishart random matrices, where the Wishart distributions $\mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Lambda)$ and $\mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Lambda)$ have a diagonal common covariance Λ.

Theorem 4.1.1. Let Y be an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed as $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Lambda) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Lambda)$ for some nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 if and only if there exists a diagonal $\Lambda \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any elements $\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}$ in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p ,

$$\Sigma_Y \left[W \otimes (\mathbf{t}\Lambda \tilde{\mathbf{t}} + \tilde{\mathbf{t}}\Lambda \mathbf{t}) \right] \Sigma_Y = G(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}, \Lambda, \Sigma_Y) + G(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}, \mathbf{t}, \Lambda, \Sigma_Y)$$
(4.1)

where $G(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}, \Lambda, \Sigma_Y) = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t}) \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t}) \Sigma_Y$ and

$$\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma(W \otimes \mathbf{t}) \Sigma_Y = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t}) \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_Y$$
(4.2)

with

$$\{\mathbf{t}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}_0 \tag{4.3}$$

where $\mathbb{K}_0 \equiv \{\mathbf{t} : \Lambda \mathbf{t} \Lambda = \mathbf{0}, \mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{E}_p\}$ and

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Lambda^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})) + tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})) = 2m_1 tr(\Lambda \mathbf{t})$$
(4.4)

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Lambda^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})) - tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{t})) = 2m_2 tr(\Lambda \mathbf{t}).$$
(4.5)

Proof. By Lemma 2.1.1, decompose the nonnegative definite matrix $\Sigma_{Y'}$ as

$$\Sigma_{Y'} = L'L, \quad L = [L_1, L_2, \dots, L_p]$$

with $L_i \in \mathbb{M}_{q \times n}$ $(i = 1, 2, \dots, p)$ and $\mathbf{r}(\Sigma_{Y'}) \leq q \leq np$.

Exactly as in the proof of Lemma 2.1.6, we obtain the following equivalent relations of (4.1)-(4.5), respectively,

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

(a)
$$L[(\mathbf{t}\Lambda\mathbf{t} + \mathbf{\tilde{t}}\Lambda\mathbf{t}) \otimes W]L' = \Gamma(\mathbf{t}, \mathbf{t}, \Lambda, L) + \Gamma(\mathbf{t}, \mathbf{t}, \Lambda, L);$$

(b) $L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L'L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L' = L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L'L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L';$
(c) $\{\mathbf{t} : L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L' = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}_0;$
(d) $tr(L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L'L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L') + tr(L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L') = 2m_1tr(\Lambda\mathbf{t});$ and
(e) $tr(L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L'L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L') - tr(L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L') = 2m_2tr(\Lambda\mathbf{t})$
where $\Gamma(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}}, \Lambda, L) = L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L'L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L'L(\tilde{\mathbf{t}} \otimes W)L'.$

Let

$$B_{ij} = [L_i W L'_j + L_j W L'_i] / 2\sqrt{\sigma_i \sigma_j}, \ i, j \le r.$$

Then from the Theorem of the Appendix, we only show that (a) - (e) are equivalent to the following conditions (C1)-(C6).

(C1) $L_iWL'_j + L_jWL'_i = 0$ for *i* or j > r; (C2) $B_{ii}^3 = B_{ii}, tr(B_{ii}) = m_1 - m_2, tr(B_{ii}^2) = m_1 + m_2$; (C3) $B_{ii}B_{jj} = 0, i \neq j$; (C4) $4B_{ij}^2 = B_{ii}^2 + B_{jj}^2, i \neq j$; (C5) $B_{ii}B_{ij} = B_{ij}B_{jj}, i \neq j$; and (C6) $2(B_{ii} + B_{jj})(B_{ik}B_{jk} + B_{jk}B_{ik}) = B_{ij}$ for all distinct *i*, *j*, *k*. First of all, suppose conditions (C1)-(C6) hold. We show that (4.1)-(4.5) hold. Let

$$B = \sum_{i=1}^{r} B_{ii} \tag{4.6}$$

and use (ij, i'j') to represent combination $(\mathbf{t}, \tilde{\mathbf{t}})$ from the basic base \mathbb{E}_p . Then by (C1) we only consider these combinations (ij, i'j'), $1 \le i \le j \le r, 1 \le i' \le j' \le r$. Write $\Omega = \{(ij, i'j') : 1 \le i \le j \le r, 1 \le i' \le j' \le r\}$. Divide the index set Ω into the

following seven index subsets:

$$D_{1} = \{(ii, ii): 1 \leq i \leq r\};$$

$$D_{2} = \{(ij, ij): 1 \leq i < j \leq r\};$$

$$D_{3} = \{(ii, jj): 1 \leq i, j \leq r; i \neq j\};$$

$$D_{4} = \{(ii, ij) \cup (ij, ii): 1 \leq i < j \leq r\};$$

$$D_{5} = \{(ik, jk): 1 \leq i, j < k \leq r; i, j \text{ distinct}\};$$

$$D_{6} = \{(ii, i'j') \cup (i'j', ii): 1 \leq i, i', j' \leq r; i, i', j' \text{ distinct}, i' < j'\}; \text{ and }$$

$$D_{7} = \{(ij, i'j'): 1 \leq i < j \leq r, 1 \leq i' < j' \leq r; i, j, i', j' \text{ distinct}\}.$$

Note that by (C3), (C4) and Lemma 2.1.3,

$$B_{ij}B_{kk} = \mathbf{0} \quad \text{for distinct } i, j, k.$$

For $(ij, i'j') \in D_1$, (a) is reduced to $\sigma_i \sigma_j (B_{ii} + B_{jj}) = \sigma_i^2 B_{ii} B B_{ii}$, which follows from (C2) and (C3).

For $(ij, i'j') \in D_2$, (a) is reduced to $\sigma_i \sigma_j (B_{ii} + B_{jj}) = 4\sigma_i \sigma_j B_{ij} B B_{ij}$, which is derived from (C5) and (4.7).

For $(ij, i'j') \in D_3$, (a) is reduced to $\sigma_i \sigma_j (B_{ii} B B_{jj} + B_{jj} B B_{ii}) = 0$, which is obtained from (C3).

For $(ij, i'j') \in D_4$, (a) is reduced to

$$2\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}\sigma_iB_{ij} = 2\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}\sigma_i(B_{ii}BB_{ij} + B_{ij}BB_{ii})$$

which follows from (C5), (C6) and (4.7).

For $(ij, i'j') \in D_5$, (a) is reduced to

$$2\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}\sigma_k B_{ij} = 4\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}\sigma_k (B_{ik}BB_{jk} + B_{jk}BB_{ik}),$$

which follows from (C5), (C6) and (4.7).

For $(ij, i'j') \in D_6 \cup D_7$, (a) is reduced to

$$4\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j\sigma_{i'}\sigma_{j'}}(B_{ij}BB_{i'j'}+B_{i'j'}BB_{ij})=\mathbf{0}$$

which follows from (4.7), that proves that (a) holds.

For $(ij, i'j') \in \Omega$, (b) or $BB_{ij} = B_{ij}B$ follows from (4.7) and (C5).

Further, let

$$t = \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le p} t_{ij} E_{ij}, \ t_{ij} = 0 \text{ or } 1, \ 1 \le i \le j \le p.$$

Then, by (C1)

$$L(\mathbf{t}\otimes W)L' = L(\sum_{1\leq i\leq j\leq p} t_{ij}E_{ij}\otimes W)L' = \sum_{i=1}^r t_{ii}\sigma_i B_{ii} + \sum_{1\leq i< j\leq r} t_{ij}\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}B_{ij}.$$

Since $\mathbf{t} \in {\mathbf{t} : L(\mathbf{t} \otimes W)L' = \mathbf{0}}$, we get

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} t_{ii}\sigma_i B_{ii} + \sum_{1 \le i < j \le p} t_{ij}\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j} B_{ij} = \mathbf{0}.$$

From (C2) and (C5), $B_{ij} \neq 0$, $1 \leq i \leq j \leq r$, $1 \leq i' \leq j' \leq r$. So $t_{ij} = 0$ for i, j = 1, 2, ..., r, which is equivalent to (c).

Finally, taking $\mathbf{t} = E_{ii}$, by (C2) and (C3),

$$tr(L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L'L(E_{ii} \otimes W)L') + tr(L(E_{ii} \otimes W)L')$$

$$=\sigma_{i}tr(BB_{ii} + B_{ii}) = \sigma_{i}[tr(B_{ii}^{2}) + tr(B_{ii})] = 2m_{1}\sigma_{i} = 2m_{1}tr(\Lambda E_{ii})$$

and similarly,

$$tr(L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W)L'L(E_{ii} \otimes W)L') - tr(L(E_{ii} \otimes W)L') = \sigma_i[tr(B_{ii}^2) - tr(B_{ii})] = 2m_2 tr(\Lambda E_{ii})$$

90

Taking $\mathbf{t} = E_{ij}$ $i \neq j$, $tr(\Lambda E_{ij}) = 0$. By (C2) and (C3), there exists an orthogonal matrix H, which does not depend on i, such that

$$B_{ii} = H(E_{ii} \otimes A_{ii})H' \tag{4.8}$$

where $A_{ii} = diag[I_{m_1}, -I_{m_2}, 0]$. By (C3)-(C5) and (4.8) we obtain

$$2B_{ij} = H(\mathbf{e_{ij}} \otimes A_{ij} + \mathbf{e_{ji}} \otimes A_{ji})H' \tag{4.9}$$

where $A_{ij} = diag[U_{ij}, V_{ij}, \mathbf{0}] \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times n}, U_{ij} \in \mathbb{M}_{m_1 \times m_1}, V_{ij} \in \mathbb{M}_{m_2 \times m_2}$ and $A'_{ij} = A_{ji},$ $U_{ij}U'_{ij} = I_{m_1}, V_{ij}V'_{ij} = I_{m_2}$. So

$$tr(L(\Lambda^{+} \otimes W)L'L(E_{ij} \otimes W)L') \pm tr(L(E_{ij} \otimes W)L')$$
$$= 2\sqrt{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}}[tr(BB_{ij}) \pm tr(B_{ij})] = 2\sqrt{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}}tr[(B_{ii} + B_{jj} \pm I)B_{ij}]$$
$$= \sqrt{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}}tr((\mathbf{e}_{ii} \otimes A_{ii} + \mathbf{e}_{jj} \otimes A_{jj} \pm I)(\mathbf{e}_{ij} \otimes A_{ij} + \mathbf{e}_{ji} \otimes A_{ji})) = 0,$$

which proves (d) and (e).

Conversely, suppose (4.1)-(4.5) hold and, equivalently, (a)-(e) hold. We show that conditions (C1)-(C6) hold.

(C1) follows from (c), i.e. $L(E_{ij} \otimes W)L' = \mathbf{0}$, for i or j > 0.

Fixing $(1 \le i < j \le r)$ and taking $\mathbf{t} = \tilde{\mathbf{t}} = E_{ii}$ in (a)-(b), we have

$$B_{ii} = B_{ii}BB_{ii}, \ B_{ii}B = BB_{ii} \tag{4.10}$$

and $tr(BB_{ii} + B_{ii}) = 2m_1$, $tr(BB_{ii} - B_{ii}) = 2m_2$ or

$$tr(B_{ii}) = m_1 - m_2, \ tr(BB_{ii}) = m_1 + m_2.$$
 (4.11)

Taking $\mathbf{t} = E_{ii}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{t}} = E_{jj}$ in (a) gives

$$B_{ii}BB_{jj} + B_{jj}BB_{ii} = 0. ag{4.12}$$

By (4.10) and (4.12), we have $||B_{ii}B_{jj} \pm B_{jj}B_{ii}||^2 = 0$, i.e. $B_{ii}B_{jj} = 0$, which proves (C3). Also by (4.10) and (4.12), we obtain

$$B^3 = B, (4.13)$$

and then

$$B_{ii}^3 = B_{ii}, (4.14)$$

so $tr(B_{ii}^2) = tr(B_{ii}B_{ii}BB_{ii}) = tr(B_{ii}^3B) = tr(B_{ii}B) = m_1 + m_2$, which proves (C2). Taking $\mathbf{t} = E_{ii}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{t}} = E_{ij}$ in (a) gives

$$B_{ij} = B_{ii}BB_{ij} + B_{ij}BB_{ii}.$$
(4.15)

Taking $\mathbf{t} = E_{ij}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{t}} = E_{jj}$ in (a) and (b) gives

$$B_{ij} = B_{ij}BB_{jj} + B_{jj}BB_{ij} \tag{4.16}$$

and

$$BB_{ij} = B_{ij}B. ag{4.17}$$

So $B_{ii}B_{ij} = B_{ii}B_{ij}BB_{jj}$ and $B_{ij}B_{jj} = B_{ii}BB_{ij}B_{jj}$, which proves (C5).

Taking $\mathbf{t} = \tilde{\mathbf{t}} = E_{ij}$ in (a) gives

$$4B_{ij}BB_{ij} = B_{ii} + B_{jj}. (4.18)$$

From (C3), (C5) and (4.16)-(4.18), we obtain $4B_{ij}^2 = B_{ii}^2 + B_{jj}^2$, which proves (C4). From (4.9), (4.15), (4.16) and (C3), we obtain that for distinct i, j, k,

$$B_{ij}B_{kk} = \mathbf{0} \tag{4.19}$$

Taking $\mathbf{t} = E_{ik}$ and $\tilde{\mathbf{t}} = E_{jk}$ for distinct i, j, k in (a) gives

$$B_{ij} = 2B_{ik}BB_{jk} + 2B_{jk}BB_{ik}.$$
(4.20)

So from (4.20), (4.19) and (C5),

$$B_{ij} = 2B_{ik}B_{kk}B_{jk} + 2B_{jk}B_{kk}B_{ik} = 2B_{ii}B_{ik}B_{jk} + 2B_{jj}B_{jk}B_{ik}$$
$$= 2(B_{ii} + B_{jj})(B_{ik}B_{jk} + 2B_{jk}B_{ik}),$$

which proves (C6) and then the proof is completed.

Theorem 4.1.1 provides us the equivalent matrix algebraic conditions of $Y'WY \sim W_p(m_1, \Lambda) - W_p(m_2, \Lambda)$. Here the covariance Λ is a diagonal matrix. Based on Theorem 4.1.1, we establish the matrix algebraic conditions equivalent to $Y'WY \sim W_p(m_1, \Sigma) - W_p(m_2, \Sigma)$ with a common covariance Σ . The following theorem is for the case of a common covariance matrix $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ instead of a diagonal common covariance Λ .

Theorem 4.1.2. Suppose that $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W is a symmetric matrix of order n. Then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any elements $\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}\left[W\otimes(\mathbf{h}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}}+\tilde{\mathbf{h}}\Sigma\mathbf{h})\right]\Sigma_{Y}=G(\mathbf{h},\tilde{\mathbf{h}},\Sigma,\Sigma_{Y})+G(\tilde{\mathbf{h}},\mathbf{h},\Sigma,\Sigma_{Y})$$
(4.21)

and

$$\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y$$
(4.22)

with

$$\{\mathbf{h}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}$$
(4.23)

where $\mathbb{K} \equiv \{\mathbf{h} : \Sigma \mathbf{h} \Sigma = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{h} \in \mathbb{H}_p\}$ and

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) + tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) = 2m_1 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h})$$
(4.24)

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) - tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) = 2m_2 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h}).$$
(4.25)

Proof. Since $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, there is an orthogonal matrix H of order p such that

$$H'\Sigma H = diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_r, 0, \dots, 0] \equiv \Lambda, \ r = r(\Sigma), \ \sigma_i > 0, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, r,$$

and YH has a normal distribution $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_{YH})$ where $\Sigma_{YH} = (I \otimes H')\Sigma_Y(I \otimes H))$. Assume (4.21)-(4.25) hold. Let

$$\mathbf{t} = H'\mathbf{h}H,$$

then the function $\mathbf{t} = H'\mathbf{h}H$ is a one to one map from the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ onto the basic base E_p . By replacing \mathbf{h} , $\tilde{\mathbf{h}}$ and Σ , respectively, with $H\mathbf{t}H'$, $H\tilde{\mathbf{t}}H'$ and $H\Lambda H'$ in (4.21)-(4.25), with (2.5) and necessary tensor calculations, (4.21)-(4.25) are, respectively, expressed as, for any \mathbf{t} , $\tilde{\mathbf{t}}$ in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p .

$$\Sigma_{YH} \left[W \otimes (\mathbf{t} \Lambda \tilde{\mathbf{t}} + \tilde{\mathbf{t}} \Lambda \mathbf{t}) \right] \Sigma_{YH} = G(\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}, \Lambda, \Sigma_{YH}) + G(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}, \mathbf{h}, \Lambda, \Sigma_{YH})$$

 $\Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{t}) \Sigma_{YH} = \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{t}) \Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH},$

$$\{\mathbf{t}: \Sigma_{YH}(W\otimes \mathbf{t})\Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}_0,$$

$$tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \Lambda^+)\Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{t})) + tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W \otimes \mathbf{t})) = 2m_1 tr(\Lambda \mathbf{t}),$$

and

$$tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W\otimes\Lambda^+)\Sigma_{YH}(W\otimes{f t}))-tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W\otimes{f t}))=2m_2tr(\Lambda{f t}).$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

By Theorem 4.1.1, $H'Y'WYH \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Lambda) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Lambda)$. Hence $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Lambda)$ follows from Lemma 2.2.2.

The converse can be shown by following the above steps backwards.

Remark 4.1.3. In fact, whenever $Y'WY \sim W_p(m_1, \Sigma) - W_p(m_2, \Lambda)$, the degrees of freedom m_1 and m_2 can be given by

$$m_1 = \frac{1}{2r(\Sigma)} \left[tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+))^2 + tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)) \right],$$

$$m_2 = \frac{1}{2r(\Sigma)} \left[tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+))^2 - tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)) \right].$$

Next we shall discuss the applications of Theorem 4.1.2 and Theorem 4.1.1.

In Theorem 4.1.2, suppose that the covariance Σ_Y is the Kronecker product $A \otimes \Sigma$ for nonnegative definite A of order n. Theorem 4.1.2 is reduced to the following corollary, which was obtained by Tan (1975).

Corollary 4.1.4. Let W be a symmetric matrix of order n and $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, A \otimes \Sigma)$ with $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$ and $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$. Then, $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 if and only if

(1)
$$AWA = AWAWAWA \neq \mathbf{0}$$
; and
(2) $tr(AW)^2 + tr(AW) = 2m_1$, $tr(AW)^2 - tr(AW) = 2m_2$.

Proof. Replace $A \otimes \Sigma$ with Σ_Y in (4.21)-(4.25). With (2.5) and some calculations, we prove (4.23). Then, (1) follows from (4.21) and (4.22); and (2) follows from (4.24) and (4.25), which proves the desired result.

In Theorem 4.1.2, if **y** is an $n \times 1$ random normal vector with mean vector **0** and covariance C of order n, (4.21)-(4.25) are reduced to the familiar conditions which were showed by Tan (1975).

Corollary 4.1.5. Let $\mathbf{y} \sim \mathcal{N}_n(\mathbf{0}, C)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then $\mathbf{y}'W\mathbf{y} \sim \chi^2(m_1) - \chi^2(m_2)$ for nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 if and only if

$$CWC = CWCWCWC \neq \mathbf{0}; and$$
 (4.26)

$$tr(CW)^{2} + tr(CW) = 2m_{1}, tr(CW)^{2} - tr(CW) = 2m_{2}.$$
 (4.27)

Proof. In the univariate case p = 1, $\Sigma_Y = C$. Using Theorem 4.1.2, we get Corollary 4.1.5.

If C=I in Corollary 4.1.5, (4.26) is reduced to the well-known condition, $W^3 = W$, if and only if the quadratic form $\mathbf{y}'W\mathbf{y}$ is distributed as a difference of two independent chi-square random variables, see Luther (1965) and Graybill (1969).

In Theorem 4.1.2, if we replace the covariance Σ_Y of Y with the sum of special Kronecker products, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 4.1.6. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ with $\Sigma_Y = \sum_{i=1}^r A_i \otimes E_{ii}, r \leq p, A_i \in \mathbb{N}_n$. Then, for $W \in \mathbb{S}_n$, $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma)$, where $\Sigma = \sum_{i=1}^r \sigma_i E_{ii}$, for nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 if and only if there exist real numbers $\sigma_k > 0$, $k = 1, 2, \ldots, r$ such that for all $i, j, k \leq r$, (1) $A_i W A_k W A_k W A_j = \sigma_k^2 A_i W A_j \neq \mathbf{0}$; (2) $\sigma_i A_i W A_i W A_i = \sigma_i A_i W A_i W A_i$; and

(3)
$$\frac{1}{\sigma_i^2} tr(A_iW)^2 + \frac{1}{\sigma_i} tr(A_iW) = 2m_1, \ \frac{1}{\sigma_i^2} tr(A_iW)^2 - \frac{1}{\sigma_i} tr(A_iW) = 2m_2.$$

Proof. Replace Σ_Y and Σ with $\sum_{i=1}^r A_i \otimes E_{ii}$ and $\sum_{i=1}^r \sigma_i E_{ii}$, respectively, in (4.21)-(4.25). (4.21)-(4.25), respectively, become

$$\sum_{i,j,k=1}^{r} (\sigma_k A_i W A_j - \frac{1}{\sigma_k} A_i W A_k W A_k W A_j) \otimes E_{ii} (\mathbf{t} E_{kk} \tilde{\mathbf{t}} + \tilde{\mathbf{t}} E_{kk} \mathbf{t}) E_{jj} = \mathbf{0},$$

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} \left(\frac{1}{\sigma_i} A_i W A_i W A_j - \frac{1}{\sigma_j} A_i W A_j W A_j\right) \otimes E_{ii} \mathbf{t} E_{jj} = \mathbf{0},$$
$$\left\{ \mathbf{t} : \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} A_i W A_j \otimes E_{ii} \mathbf{t} E_{jj} = \mathbf{0} \right\} = \left\{ \mathbf{t} : \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} \sigma_i \sigma_j E_{ii} \mathbf{t} E_{jj} = \mathbf{0} \right\},$$
and

$$tr\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sigma_i} A_i W A_i W \otimes E_{ii} \mathbf{t}\right) + tr\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} tr(A_i W) tr(E_{ii} \mathbf{t})\right) = 2m_1 tr(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sigma_i E_{ii} \mathbf{t})$$
$$tr\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \frac{1}{\sigma_i} A_i W A_i W \otimes E_{ii} \mathbf{t}\right) - tr\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r} tr(A_i W) tr(E_{ii} \mathbf{t})\right) = 2m_2 tr(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sigma_i E_{ii} \mathbf{t}).$$

The desired results follow from the above equations by the arbitrariness of $t \in \mathbb{E}_p$. \Box

Corollary 4.1.7. In Theorem 4.1.2, suppose Σ_Y is nonsingular. Then $Y'WY \sim$ $\mathcal{W}_p(m_1,\Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2,\Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any element \mathbf{h} in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$W \otimes \Sigma = (W \otimes I) \Sigma_Y (W \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y (W \otimes I)$$
(4.28)

and

$$(W \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y (W \otimes \mathbf{h}) = (W \otimes \mathbf{h}) \Sigma_Y (W \otimes \Sigma^{-1})$$
(4.29)

with

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^{-1})\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) + tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) = 2m_1 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h})$$
(4.30)

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^{-1})\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) - tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) = 2m_2 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h}).$$
(4.31)

Proof. Note that if Σ_Y is nonsingular, then Σ^{-1} exists from (4.23) in Theorem 4.1.2. The desired results are obtained from Theorem 4.1.2 with routine tensor operations.
Considering the symmetric matrix set \mathbb{S}_p rather than the similar base set \mathbb{H}_p , the following theorem can be obtained from Theorem 4.1.2.

Theorem 4.1.8. Let Y an $n \times p$ random matrix normally distributed with $\mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(0, \Sigma_Y)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any matrix \mathbf{s} in \mathbb{S}_p ,

$$\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y$$
(4.32)

and

$$\Sigma_{Y}(W \otimes \Sigma^{+})\Sigma(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{Y} = \Sigma_{Y}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_{Y}(W \otimes \Sigma^{+})\Sigma_{Y}$$

$$(4.33)$$

with

$$\{\mathbf{s}: \ \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \{\mathbf{s}: \ \Sigma\mathbf{s}\Sigma = \mathbf{0}\}$$
(4.34)

and

$$tr[(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y + I)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y] = 2m_1 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{s})$$
(4.35)

$$tr[(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y - I)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y] = 2m_2 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{s}).$$
(4.36)

Proof. $(4.22) \iff (4.33), (4.24) \iff (4.35)$ and $(4.25) \iff (4.36)$ are trivial by the linearity of these conditions. And the equivalence between (4.23) and (4.34) can be shown by using the same way in the proof of Theorem 3.1.11.

Since for any elements $\mathbf{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}$ in the similar base \mathbb{S}_p ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma\mathbf{s})]\Sigma_{Y} = \frac{1}{2}\Sigma_{Y}\left(W \otimes \left[(\mathbf{s} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}})\Sigma(\mathbf{s} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}) - (\mathbf{s} - \tilde{\mathbf{s}})\Sigma(\mathbf{s} - \tilde{\mathbf{s}})\right]\right)\Sigma_{Y}, \quad (4.37)$$

(4.32) is equivalent to

$$\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{s}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{s}} + \tilde{\mathbf{s}}\Sigma\mathbf{s})]\Sigma_{Y} = G(\mathbf{s},\tilde{\mathbf{s}},\Sigma,\Sigma_{Y}) + G(\tilde{\mathbf{s}},\mathbf{s},\Sigma,\Sigma_{Y}) \text{ for } \mathbf{s},\tilde{\mathbf{s}}\in\mathbb{S}_{p}.$$
(4.38)

Obviously, (4.38) implies (4.21) and hence $(4.32) \Longrightarrow (4.21)$.

Further, assume that (4.21) holds. For any s, \tilde{s} in the set \mathbb{S}_p , s and \tilde{s} can be expressed as the linear combinations of $\mathbf{h}_{ij} \in \mathbb{H}_p$, $1 \leq i \leq j \leq p$. Let

$$\mathbf{s} = \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le p} s_{ij} \mathbf{h}_{ij}, \ s_{ij} \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \tilde{\mathbf{s}} = \sum_{1 \le k \le l \le p} \tilde{s}_{kl} \mathbf{h}_{kl}, \ \tilde{s}_{kl} \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then we have

$$\begin{split} & \Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{\tilde{s}} + \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{\tilde{s}})]\Sigma_{Y} \\ &= \sum_{i} 1 \leq i \leq j \leq p \sum_{1 \leq k \leq l \leq p} s_{ij}\tilde{s}_{kl}\Sigma_{Y}[W \otimes (\mathbf{h}_{ij}\Sigma\mathbf{h}_{kl} + \mathbf{h}_{kl}\Sigma\mathbf{h}_{ij})]\Sigma_{Y} \\ &= \sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq p} \sum_{1 \leq k \leq l \leq p} s_{ij}\tilde{s}_{kl}[G(\mathbf{h}_{ij}, \mathbf{h}_{kl}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y}) + G(\mathbf{h}_{kl}, \mathbf{h}_{ij}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y})] \\ &= G(\sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq p} s_{ij}\mathbf{h}_{ij}, \sum_{1 \leq k \leq l \leq p} \tilde{s}_{kl}\mathbf{h}_{kl}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y}) + G(\sum_{1 \leq k \leq l \leq p} \tilde{s}_{kl}\mathbf{h}_{kl}, \sum_{1 \leq i \leq j \leq p} s_{ij}\mathbf{h}_{ij}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y}) \\ &= G(\mathbf{s}, \tilde{\mathbf{s}}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y}) + G(\tilde{\mathbf{s}}, \mathbf{s}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y}), \end{split}$$

that proves that (4.21) implies (4.38), which implies (4.32), and that completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

Masaro and Wong (2004b) essentially obtained Theorem 4.1.8 as the special case of their main result by using Jordan algebra homomorphisms in their technical report. Their result was obtained for very general case and its proof was quite technical. In this thesis, we use a matrix approach to obtain the same result as Masaro and Wong. Thus, our approach has advantage to be simple for applications while providing the same result as in Masaro and Wong (2004b). Putting Theorem 4.1.2, Theorem 4.1.8 and Lemma 2.3.5 together, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 4.1.9. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(0, \Sigma_Y)$ and $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$. Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 ;
- (b) There exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$|I_{np} - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}| = |I_p - 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{m_1}|I_p + 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{m_2};$$

(c) There exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that the matrix $\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}$ and the diagonal matrix diag $[I_{m_1} \otimes \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}, -I_{m_2} \otimes \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}, \mathbf{0}] \in \mathbb{S}_{np}$ have the same characteristic polynomial for all $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$; and

(d) There exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any positive integer k and any $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W\otimes \mathbf{s}))^k = [m_1 + (-1)^k m_2] tr(\Sigma \mathbf{s})^k.$$

(e) There exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any matrix \mathbf{s} in \mathbb{S}_p ,

$$\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = G(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{s}, \Sigma, \Sigma_Y)$$

and

$$\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y$$

with $\{\mathbf{s}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \{\mathbf{s}: \Sigma \mathbf{s}\Sigma = \mathbf{0}\}$ and

$$tr[(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y + I)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y] = 2m_1 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{s})$$
$$tr[(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y - I)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y] = 2m_2 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{s})$$

(f) There exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any elements \mathbf{h}, \mathbf{h} in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}\left[W\otimes(\mathbf{h}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}}+\tilde{\mathbf{h}}\Sigma\mathbf{h})\right]\Sigma_{Y}=G(\mathbf{h},\tilde{\mathbf{h}},\Sigma,\Sigma_{Y})+G(\tilde{\mathbf{h}},\mathbf{h},\Sigma,\Sigma_{Y})$$

and

$$\Sigma_Y(W\otimes\Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W\otimes\mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y=\Sigma_Y(W\otimes\mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y(W\otimes\Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y$$

with $\{\mathbf{h}: \Sigma_Y(W\otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}$ and

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) + tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) = 2m_1 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h})$$

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) - tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) = 2m_2 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h})$$

It is seen that (f) of Corollary 4.1.9 is easy to verify, compared to the rest.

4.2 Conditions for MQFs to be an Independent Family of Random Matrices Distributed as DI-WRMs

Replacing \mathbb{H}_p with \mathbb{E}_p and applying Theorem 4.1.1 and Lemma 3.4.1, we establish a multivariate version of Cochran's theorem. Namely, we prove a result concerning differences of independent Wishart random matrices with a common diagonal covariance Λ .

Theorem 4.2.1. Suppose that $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W_i 's are symmetric matrices of order n. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for i = 1, 2, ..., l, $Y'W_iY \sim W_p(m_{1i}, \Lambda) - W_p(m_{2i}, \Lambda)$ for nonnegative integers m_{1i} and m_{i2} if and only if there exists some $\Lambda \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and \mathbf{t}_i , \tilde{t}_i in the basic base \mathbb{E}_p ,

$$\begin{aligned} (a) \ \Sigma_{Y}[W_{i} \otimes (\mathbf{t}_{i}\Lambda\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i}+\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i}\Lambda\mathbf{t}_{i})]\Sigma_{Y} &= G_{i}(\mathbf{t}_{i},\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i},\Lambda,\Sigma_{Y}) + G_{i}(\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i},\mathbf{t}_{i},\Lambda,\Sigma_{Y}); \\ (b) \ \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Lambda^{+})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})\Sigma_{Y} &= \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Lambda^{+})\Sigma_{Y}; \\ (c) \ \{\mathbf{t}_{i}:\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})\Sigma_{Y} = \mathbf{0}\} &= \{\mathbf{t}_{i}:\Lambda\mathbf{t}_{i}\Lambda = \mathbf{0}\}; \\ (d) \ tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Lambda^{+})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})) + tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})) = 2m_{1i}tr(\Lambda\mathbf{t}_{i}), \\ \ tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Lambda^{+})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})) - tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})) = 2m_{2i}tr(\Lambda\mathbf{t}_{i}); \ and \\ (e) \ \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Lambda^{+})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{j} \otimes \Lambda^{+})\Sigma_{Y} = \mathbf{0} \\ where \ G_{i}(\mathbf{t}_{i},\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_{i},\Lambda,\Sigma_{Y}) = \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Lambda^{+})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{t}_{i})\Sigma_{Y}. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. Let $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ be an independent family of random matrices distributed as the differences of independent Wishart random matrices. Then (a)-(e) hold by Theorem 4.1.1 and Lemma 3.2.1.

Conversely, suppose (a)-(e) hold. For i = 1, 2, ..., l,

$$Y'W_iY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i},\Lambda) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i},\Lambda)$$

follows from Theorem 4.1.1. Thus, to prove the independence of the matrix quadratic family, by Lemma 3.2.1, it suffices to show condition (3.29) or condition (3.30), from conditions (a)-(e).

Exactly as in the proof of Lemma 2.1.6, (3.30) is equivalent to

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i \otimes W_i)L'L(\mathbf{s}_i \otimes W_i)L' = \mathbf{0} \text{ where } L'L = \Sigma_{Y'} \mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{s}_i \in \mathbb{S}_n$$

$$(4.39)$$

and (e) amounts to

$$L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L'L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_j)L' = \mathbf{0}.$$
(4.40)

Namely, we only need to obtain (4.39) from statements (a)-(e).

For any \mathbf{s}_i in the set \mathbb{S}_p , \mathbf{s}_i can be written as

$$\mathbf{s}_i = \left[egin{ameta} \mathbf{a} & * \ * & * \end{bmatrix}_{p imes p} ext{ where } \mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{S}_r.$$

Write

$$\mathbf{s}_i^* = \left[egin{array}{cc} \mathbf{a} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \end{array}
ight]_{p imes p}$$
 where $\mathbf{a} \in \mathbb{S}_r$.

By (c), for any $\mathbf{s}_i, \mathbf{s}_j \in \mathbb{S}_p$,

$$L(\mathbf{s}_i \otimes W_i)L'L(\mathbf{s}_j \otimes W_j)L' = L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L'L(\mathbf{s}_j^* \otimes W_j)L'.$$
(4.41)

Since, by (a) and (b),

$$\begin{split} L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L' = & L\left[\frac{1}{2}(\Lambda^+\Lambda \mathbf{s}_i^* + \mathbf{s}_i^*\Lambda\Lambda^+) \otimes W_i\right]L' \\ = & \frac{1}{2}\left([L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L']^2 L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L' + L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L'[L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L']^2\right] \\ = & L(\mathbf{s}_i^* \otimes W_i)L'[L(\Lambda^+ \otimes W_i)L']^2, \end{split}$$

(4.42)

similarly,

$$L(\mathbf{s}_{j}^{*} \otimes W_{j})L' = [L(\Lambda^{+} \otimes W_{j})L']^{2}L(\mathbf{s}_{j}^{*} \otimes W_{j})L', \qquad (4.43)$$

we obtain (4.39) from (4.41), (4.42) and (4.43), so the proof is complete.

Based on Theorem 4.2.1, we obtain a multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning differences of independent Wishart random matrices with a common covariance Σ rather than a diagonal common covariance Λ . Exactly as in the proof of Theorem 4.1.2, we derive the following theorem from Theorem 4.2.1 and (1) of Lemma 3.4.1.

Theorem 4.2.2. Suppose that $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W_i 's are symmetric matrices of order n. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for i = 1, 2, ..., l, $Y'W_iY \sim W_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma) - W_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_{1i} and m_{i2} if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $i \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any elements \mathbf{h}_i and $\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_i$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$(a) \Sigma_{Y} \left[W_{i} \otimes (\mathbf{h}_{i} \Sigma \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i} + \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i} \Sigma \mathbf{h}_{i}) \right] \Sigma_{Y} = G_{i}(\mathbf{h}_{i}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y}) + G_{i}(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i}, \mathbf{h}_{i}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y});$$

$$(b) \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Sigma^{+}) \Sigma(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i}) \Sigma_{Y} = \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i}) \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Sigma^{+}) \Sigma_{Y};$$

$$(c) \{\mathbf{h}_{i} : \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i}) \Sigma_{Y} = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K};$$

$$(d) tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Sigma^{+}) \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i})) + tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i})) = 2m_{1i}tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h}_{i}),$$

$$tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Sigma^{+}) \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i})) - tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{h}_{i})) = 2m_{2i}tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h}_{i}); and$$

$$(e) for any distinct i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\},$$

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}.$$
(4.44)

Proof. Since $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$, by Lemma 2.1.1, there is an orthogonal matrix H of order p such that $H'H = I_p$ and

$$H'\Sigma H = diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_r, 0, \dots, 0] \equiv \Lambda, \ r = r(\Sigma), \ \sigma_i > 0, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

And $YH \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_{YH})$, where $\Sigma_{YH} = (I \otimes H')\Sigma_Y(I \otimes H)$.

Defining

$$\mathbf{t}_i = H' \mathbf{h}_i H$$
 for any $\mathbf{h}_i \in \mathbb{H}_p, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, l$

for any i = 1, 2, ..., l, the function $\mathbf{t}_i = H' \mathbf{h}_i H$ is a one to one map from the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ onto the basic base \mathbb{E}_p . By replacing \mathbf{h}_i , $\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_i$, Σ and Σ_Y , respectively, with $H\mathbf{t}_i H'$, $H\tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i H'$, $H\Lambda H'$ and $(I \otimes H) \Sigma_{YH} (I \otimes H')$ in (a)-(e), we obtain

$$\Sigma_{YH} \left[W_i \otimes (\mathbf{t}_i \Lambda \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i + \tilde{\mathbf{t}}_i \Lambda \mathbf{t}_i) \right] \Sigma_{YH} = G_i(\mathbf{h}_i, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_i, \Lambda, \Sigma_{YH}) + G_i(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_i, \mathbf{h}_i, \Lambda, \Sigma_{YH})$$
(4.45)

$$\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_{YH} = \Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH}, \quad (4.46)$$

$$\{\mathbf{t}_i: \Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{t}_i) \Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}, \mathbf{t}_i \in \mathbb{E}_p\} = \mathbb{K}_0,$$
(4.47)

$$tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) + tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) = 2m_{1i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{h}_i),$$

$$tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) - tr(\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) = 2m_{2i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{h}_i)$$

(4.48)

and

$$\Sigma_{YH}(W_i \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH}(W_j \otimes \Lambda^+) \Sigma_{YH} = \mathbf{0}.$$
(4.49)

By Theorem 4.2.1, (4.50)-(4.49) are the necessary and sufficient conditions for matrix quadratic forms $H'Y'W_iYH$'s to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent Wishart random matrices with $\mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i}, \Lambda)$ and $\mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i}, \Lambda)$. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent Wishart random matrices with $\mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma)$ and $\mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma)$ from Lemma 2.2.2 and vice versa, so the proof is completed. \Box

Theorem 4.2.2 is the core result in this chapter. In the sequence, we discuss its special cases and applications.

Corollary 4.2.3. In Theorem 4.2.2, suppose Σ_Y is nonsingular. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for i = 1, 2, ..., l, $Y'W_iY \sim W_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma) - W_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_{1i} and m_{i2} if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any element $\mathbf{h}_i \in \mathbb{H}_p$,

(1) $W_i \otimes \Sigma = (W_i \otimes I) \Sigma_Y (W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y (W_i \otimes I);$

(2)
$$(W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1})\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) = (W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1});$$

(3) $tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1})\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) + tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) = 2m_{1i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{h}_i),$
 $tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1})\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) - tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) = 2m_{2i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{h}_i); and$
(4) $(W_i \otimes I)\Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes I) = \mathbf{0}.$

Proof. Note that if Σ_Y is nonsingular, then Σ^{-1} exists from (c) in Theorem 4.2.2. (4) follows from (e) of Theorem 4.2.2. With routine tensor product calculations, the rest follows from Corollary 4.1.7.

In Theorem 4.2.2, suppose that the covariance Σ_Y of Y is the Kronecker product $A \otimes \Sigma$ for nonnegative definite A of order n. Theorem 4.2.2 is reduced to the following corollary, which was shown by Tan (1975) and Wong and Wang (1995).

Corollary 4.2.4. Let W_1 , W_2 , ..., W_l be symmetric matrices of order n and $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, A \otimes \Sigma)$ with $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$ and $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$. Then, $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent with for i = 1, 2, ..., l, $Y'W_iY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_{1i} and m_{i2} if and only if any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

(1)
$$AW_iA = AW_iAW_iAW_iA \neq \mathbf{0};$$

(2) $tr(AW_i)^2 + tr(AW_i) = 2m_{1i}, tr(AW_i)^2 - tr(AW_i) = 2m_{2i}; and$
(3) $AW_iAW_jA = \mathbf{0}.$

Proof. (3) is obtained by replacing $A \otimes \Sigma$ with Σ_Y in (4.50) in Theorem 4.2.2. (1) and (2) follow from Corollary 4.1.4; that proves the desired result.

In particular, if \mathbf{y} is an $n \times 1$ random normal vector with mean vector $\mathbf{0}$ and covariance C of order n, Theorem 4.2.2 is reduced to the familiar conditions which were shown by Tan (1977).

Corollary 4.2.5. Let $\mathbf{y} \sim \mathcal{N}_{\mathbf{n}}(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{\Sigma})$ and W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l be symmetric matrices of order n. Then $\{\mathbf{y}'W_i\mathbf{y}\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, l$, $\mathbf{y}'W_i\mathbf{y} \sim \chi^2(m_{1i}) - \chi^2(m_{2i})$ for nonnegative integers m_{1i} and m_{i2} if and only if any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, l\}$

(1)
$$CW_iC = CW_iCW_iCW_iC \neq \mathbf{0};$$

(2) $tr(CW)^2 + tr(CW) = 2m_1, tr(CW)^2 - tr(CW) = 2m_2;$ and
(3) $CW_iCW_jC = \mathbf{0}.$

In Theorem 4.2.2, if we replace the covariance Σ_Y of Y with the sum of special Kronecker products, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 4.2.6. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ with $\Sigma_Y = \sum_{a=1}^{r} A_a \otimes E_{aa}, r \leq p, A_a \in \mathbb{N}_n$ and $W_i \in \mathbb{S}_n, i = 1, 2, ..., l$. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for i = 1, 2, ..., l, $Y'W_iY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma)$, where $\Sigma = \sum_{b=1}^r \sigma_b E_{bb}$, for nonnegative integers m_{1i} and m_{i2} if and only if there exist real numbers $\sigma_c > 0, c = 1, 2, ..., r$, such that for all $a, b, c \in \{1, 2, ..., \leq r\}$ and any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

- (1) $A_a W_i A_c W_i A_c W_i A_b = \sigma_c^2 A_a W_i A_b;$
- (2) $A_a W_i A_b \neq 0;$
- $(3) \ \sigma_b A_a W_i A_a W_i A_b = \sigma_a A_a W_i A_b W_i A_b;$
- (4) $A_a W_i A_a W_j A_a = \mathbf{0}$; and

$$(5) \ \frac{1}{\sigma_a^2} tr(A_a W_i)^2 + \frac{1}{\sigma_a} tr(A_a W_i) = 2m_{1i}, \ \frac{1}{\sigma_a^2} tr(A_a W_i)^2 - \frac{1}{\sigma_a} tr(A_a W_i) = 2m_{2i}.$$

Proof. We use (4.50) by replacing Σ_Y and Σ with $\sum_{a=1}^{r} A_a \otimes E_{ii}$ and $\sum_{b=1}^{r} \sigma_b E_{bb}$ respectively. Then, (4.50) becomes

$$\sum_{a,b,c=1}^{\prime} A_a W_i A_b W_j A_c \otimes E_{aa} \Sigma^+ E_{bb} \Sigma^+ E_{cc} = \mathbf{0},$$

hence, $A_a W_i A_a W_j A_a = 0$, which proves (4). The other conditions follow from Corollary 4.1.6.

Putting Theorem 4.1.8 and Theorem 4.2.2 together, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 4.2.7. Suppose that $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W_i 's are symmetric matrices of order n. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for i = 1, 2, ..., l, $Y'W_iY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma)$ for nonnegative integers m_{1i} and m_{i2} if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for any $i \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any elements \mathbf{s}_i in \mathbb{S}_p ,

 $(a) \Sigma_{Y}[W_{i} \otimes (\mathbf{s}_{i}\Sigma\mathbf{s}_{i})]\Sigma_{Y} = G_{i}(\mathbf{s}_{i}, \mathbf{s}_{i}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y})$ $(b) \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Sigma^{+})\Sigma(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i})\Sigma_{Y} = \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Sigma^{+})\Sigma_{Y};$ $(c) \{\mathbf{s}_{i} : \Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i})\Sigma_{Y} = \mathbf{0}\} = \{\mathbf{s} : \Sigma\Sigma = \mathbf{0}\};$ $(d) tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Sigma^{+})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i})) + tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i})) = 2m_{1i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{s}_{i}),$ $tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \Sigma^{+})\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i})) - tr(\Sigma_{Y}(W_{i} \otimes \mathbf{s}_{i})) = 2m_{2i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{s}_{i}); and$ $(e) for any distinct i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\},$

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}.$$
(4.50)

Theorem 4.2.7 was essentially obtained by Masaro and Wong (2004b) through Jordan algebra homomorphisms.

4.3 Conditions for a MQF to be Distributed as a DINWRM

In this section, we extend Theorem 4.1.2 to the case where $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ with nonzero mean matrix $\boldsymbol{\mu}$. **Theorem 4.3.1.** Suppose that $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W is a symmetric matrix of order n. Then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_1) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)$ for some matrices $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 \in \mathbb{M}_{p \times p}$ and nonnegative integers m_1, m_2 if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that the following statements (a) and (b) hold.

(a) For any elements $\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y} \left[W \otimes (\mathbf{h}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}} + \tilde{\mathbf{h}}\Sigma\mathbf{h}) \right] \Sigma_{Y} = G(\mathbf{h}, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y}) + G(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}, \mathbf{h}, \Sigma, \Sigma_{Y})$$
(4.51)

such that

$$\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y$$
(4.52)

with

$$\{\mathbf{h}: \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})\Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}\} = \mathbb{K}$$
(4.53)

and

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) + tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) = 2m_1 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h})$$
(4.54)

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) - tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h})) = 2m_2 tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h});$$
(4.55)

(b) For any \mathbf{s} in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p and $k = 1, 2, \ldots$,

$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 + \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)\mathbf{s}(\Sigma \mathbf{s})^{2k-1}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W \otimes \mathbf{s})[\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})]^{2k-1}\right) \quad (4.56)$$

$$tr((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k}) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W \otimes \mathbf{s})[\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})]^{2k}\right)$$
(4.57)

with

$$\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 = \mu' W \mu.$$
 (4.58)

Proof. By Lemma 2.3.1, the moment generating function M(s) of Y'WY is given by

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = |I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}|^{-1/2} exp\{<\mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu} > +2\Phi_0\}$$
(4.59)

where $sr(\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}) < 1/2$ and $\Phi_0 = \operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu})\operatorname{vec}(\boldsymbol{\mu})', \ (W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}[I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}]^{-1}\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s}) > \}.$

Recall that $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2)$ means that Y'WY can be expressed as a difference of two independent random matrices D_1 and D_2 with $D_1 \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1)$ and $D_2 \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2)$. By Corollary 2.3.2, the moment generating function $M_1(\mathbf{s})$ of D_1 and the moment generating function $M_2(\mathbf{s})$ of $-D_2$, respectively, are given by

$$M_{1}(\mathbf{s}) = |I - 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{-m_{1}/2}exp\{\langle \mathbf{s}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1} \rangle + 2\Phi_{1}\}$$
(4.60)

and

$$M_2(\mathbf{s}) = |I + 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}|^{-m_2/2} exp\{< -\mathbf{s}, \lambda_2 > +2\Phi_2\}$$
(4.61)

where $\Phi_1 = \langle \lambda_1, \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2} (I - 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \rangle$, $\Phi_2 = \langle \lambda_2, \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2} (I + 2\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \rangle$ $\Sigma^{1/2})^{-1} \Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \rangle$ and $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$ such that $sr(\Sigma^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Sigma^{1/2}) < 1/2$.

Independence implies that for \mathbf{s} in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p ,

$$M(\mathbf{s}) = E(e^{\langle \mathbf{s}, D \rangle}) = E(e^{\langle \mathbf{s}, D_1 - D_2 \rangle}) = E(e^{\langle \mathbf{s}, D_1 \rangle})E(e^{\langle \mathbf{s}, -D_2 \rangle}) = M_1(\mathbf{s})M_2(\mathbf{s}).$$

Using (4.59)-(4.61) and comparing the same items in both sides of $M(\mathbf{s}) = M_1(\mathbf{s})M_2(\mathbf{s})$, we obtain the following conditions:

(i)
$$|I - 2\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2}|^{-1/2} = |I - 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{-m_1/2}|I + 2\Sigma^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Sigma^{1/2}|^{-m_2/2};$$

(ii) for any symmetric matrix \mathbf{s} in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p

$$\Phi_0 = \Phi_1 + \Phi_2; \text{ and}$$
 (4.62)

(iii) $\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 = \mu' W \mu$, which proves (4.58).

By Lemma 2.3.5, (i) is equivalent to $(Y - \boldsymbol{\mu})'W(Y - \boldsymbol{\mu}) \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma)$. (4.51)-(4.55) follow from Theorem 4.1.2.

For any s in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of 0 in \mathbb{S}_p , we have

$$\Phi_1 = tr(\lambda_1[\mathbf{s}\Sigma\mathbf{s} + 2\mathbf{s}(\Sigma\mathbf{s})^2 + 2^2\mathbf{s}(\Sigma\mathbf{s})^3 + \dots]), \qquad (4.63)$$

$$\Phi_2 = tr(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_2[\mathbf{s}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s} - 2\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^2 + 2^2\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^3 + \dots])$$
(4.64)

and

$$\Phi_0 = tr(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'((W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y \Upsilon + 2(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Upsilon^2 + 2^2(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Upsilon^3 + \dots)) \quad (4.65)$$

where $\Upsilon = \Sigma_Y (W \otimes \mathbf{s}).$

We arbitrarily choose \mathbf{s} in \mathcal{N}_0 . Replacing \mathbf{s} in (4.63)-(4.65) by $\alpha \mathbf{s}$ with very small positive number α and putting (4.63)-(4.65) into (4.62), two sides of (4.62) are two power series with respect to α . Comparing two power series implies that (4.62) amounts to (4.56) and (4.57), and that proves the desired result.

In fact, we have obtained the following relation between Y'WY and $(Y-\mu)'W(Y-\mu)$ in the proof of Theorem 4.3.1.

Corollary 4.3.2. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order *n*. Then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_1) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)$ for matrices $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 \in \mathbb{M}_{p \times p}$ and nonnegative integers m_1, m_2 if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that

(1)
$$(Y - \boldsymbol{\mu})'W(Y - \boldsymbol{\mu}) \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma);$$
 and

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

(2) for any \mathbf{s} in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0} \in \mathbb{S}_p$ and $k = 1, 2, \dots$,

$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1}+\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2})\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k-1}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W\otimes\mathbf{s})[\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{Y}(W\otimes\mathbf{s})]^{2k-1}\right),$$
$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2})\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W\otimes\mathbf{s})[\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_{Y}(W\otimes\mathbf{s})]^{2k}\right);$$

with $\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 = \mu' W \mu$.

Suppose that Σ_Y is the Kronecker product covariance structures $A \otimes \Sigma$ for $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$ Theorem 4.3.1 is reduced to the following corollary.

Corollary 4.3.3. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, A \otimes \Sigma)$ with $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_1) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)$ for matrices $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 \in \mathbb{M}_{p \times p}$ and nonnegative integers m_1, m_2 if and only if the following statements (1)-(4) hold.

- (1) $AWAWAWA = AWA \neq \mathbf{0};$
- (2) $tr(AW)^2 + tr(AW) = 2m_1, tr(AW)^2 tr(AW) = 2m_2;$
- (3) $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = \mu' WAW \mu = \mu' WAWAWAW \mu$; and
- (4) $\lambda_1 \lambda_2 = \mu' W \mu = \mu' W A W A W \mu$.

Proof. (1) and (2) follow from Corollary 4.1.4. Use $A \otimes \Sigma$ to replace Σ_Y in (4.56) and (4.57) of Theorem 4.3.1. By (2.5) and (2.6), (4.56) and (4.57) are expressed as, for $k = 1, 2, \ldots,$

$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 + \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k-1}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W \otimes \mathbf{s})[\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_Y(W \otimes s)]^{2k-1}\right)$$
$$= tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'vec(W(AW)^{2k-1}\boldsymbol{\mu}\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k-1})\right)$$
$$= tr\left(\boldsymbol{\mu}W(AW)^{2k-1}\boldsymbol{\mu}\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k-1}\right)$$

and

$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k}\right) = tr\left(\boldsymbol{\mu}W(AW)^{2k}\boldsymbol{\mu}\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k}\right)$$

By Lemma 2.1.8, we have

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 + \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W(AW)^{2k-1} \text{ and }$$
(4.66)

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W (AW)^{2k} \tag{4.67}$$

for k = 1, 2, ... (3) and (4) are equivalent to (4.66) and (4.67) from (1), and so the proof is completed.

The following corollary is for the special case p = 1 of Theorem 4.3.1.

Corollary 4.3.4. Let $\mathbf{y} \sim \mathcal{N}_{\mathbf{n}}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \mathbf{C})$ with $C \in \mathbb{N}_n$ and W be a symmetric matrix of order n. Then $\mathbf{y}'W\mathbf{y} \sim \chi^2(m_1, \delta_1^2) - \chi^2(m_2, \delta_2^2)$ for some numbers δ_1^2 , δ_2^2 and nonnegative integers m_1 , m_2 if and only if the following statements (1)-(4) hold.

(1)
$$CWCWCWC = CWC \neq 0;$$

(2) $tr(CW)^2 + tr(CW) = 2m_1, tr(CW)^2 - tr(CW) = 2m_2;$
(3) $\delta_1^2 + \delta_2^2 = \mu'WCW\mu = \mu'WCWCWCW\mu;$ and
(4) $\delta_1^2 - \delta_2^2 = \mu'W\mu = \mu'WCWCW\mu.$

4.4 Conditions for MQFs to be an Independent Family of Random Matrices Distributed as DIN-WDs

In this section, we shall extend Theorem 4.2.2 to the case where $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ with nonzero mean matrix $\boldsymbol{\mu}$.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Exactly as in the proofs of Theorem 4.2.2 and Theorem 4.3.1, we only need to put them with Lemma 3.4.1 together and obtain the following multivariate version of Cochran's theorem concerning differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices.

Theorem 4.4.1. Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \Sigma_Y)$ and W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l be symmetric matrices of order n. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, l$, $Y'W_iY \sim W_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1i}) - W_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2i})$ for some matrices $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1i}, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2i}$ of order p and some nonnegative integers m_{1i}, m_{2i} if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that the following statements (a), (b) and (c) hold.

(a) For any $i \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any elements $\mathbf{h}_i, \tilde{\mathbf{h}}_i$ in the similar base \mathbb{H}_p associated with Σ ,

$$\Sigma_{Y}\left[W\otimes(\mathbf{h}_{i}\Sigma\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i}+\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i}\Sigma\mathbf{h}_{i})\right]\Sigma_{Y}=G_{i}(\mathbf{h}_{i},\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i},\Sigma,\Sigma_{Y})+G_{i}(\tilde{\mathbf{h}}_{i},\mathbf{h}_{i},\Sigma,\Sigma_{Y})$$
(4.68)

such that

$$\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma(W \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) \Sigma_Y = \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y$$
(4.69)

with

$$\{\mathbf{h}_i: \ \Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)\Sigma_Y = 0,\} = \mathbb{K}$$
(4.70)

and

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) + tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) = 2m_{1i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{h}_i)$$
(4.71)

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) - tr(\Sigma_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) = 2m_{2i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{h}_i);$$
(4.72)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

(b) For any distinct
$$i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$$
 and $\mathbf{h}_i, \mathbf{h}_j \in \mathbb{H}_p$

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \Sigma^+) \Sigma_Y = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (4.73)$$

$$\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{h}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = \mathbf{0}$$
(4.74)

$$vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) \Sigma_Y(W_j \otimes \mathbf{h}_j) vec(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = 0;$$

$$(4.75)$$

and

(c) For any \mathbf{s} in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0}$ in \mathbb{S}_p and $k = 1, 2, \ldots$,

$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 + \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)\mathbf{s}(\Sigma\mathbf{s})^{2k-1}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W\otimes\mathbf{s})[\Sigma_Y(W\otimes s)]^{2k-1}\right) \quad (4.76)$$

$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)\mathbf{s}(\boldsymbol{\Sigma}\mathbf{s})^{2k}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W \otimes \mathbf{s})[\boldsymbol{\Sigma}_Y(W \otimes \mathbf{s})]^{2k}\right)$$
(4.77)

with

$$\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W \boldsymbol{\mu}. \tag{4.78}$$

Theorem 4.4.1 is the core result in this chapter. Now, let us discuss its special cases.

Corollary 4.4.2. In Theorem 4.4.1, suppose Σ_Y is nonsingular. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ independent and, for i = 1, 2, ..., l, $Y'W_iY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma, \lambda_{1i}) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma, \lambda_{2i})$ for matrices λ_{1i} , λ_{2i} of order p and some nonnegative integers m_{1i} , m_{2i} if and only if there exists some $\Sigma \in \mathbb{N}_p$ such that for distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$ and any element \mathbf{h}_i in the similar base H_p associate with Σ ,

(1)
$$(W_i \otimes \Sigma) = (W_i \otimes I) \Sigma_Y (W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1}) \Sigma_Y (W_i \otimes I);$$

(2)
$$(W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1})\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i) = (W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1})$$

(3)
$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+)\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) + tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) = 2m_{1i}tr(\Sigma\mathbf{h}_i),$$

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^{-1})\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) - tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \mathbf{h}_i)) = 2m_{2i}tr(\Sigma \mathbf{h}_i);$$

(4)
$$(W_i \otimes I) \Sigma_Y (W_j \otimes I) = 0;$$

(5) for any \mathbf{s} in a neighborhood \mathcal{N}_0 of $\mathbf{0} \in \mathbb{S}_p$ and $k = 1, 2, \ldots$,

$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1+\boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)\mathbf{s}(\Sigma\mathbf{s})^{2k-1}\right)=tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W\otimes\mathbf{s})[\Sigma_Y(W\otimes\mathbf{s})]^{2k-1}\right),$$

$$tr\left((\boldsymbol{\lambda}_1 - \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2)\mathbf{s}(\Sigma \mathbf{s})^{2k}\right) = tr\left(vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})vec(\boldsymbol{\mu})'(W\otimes \mathbf{s})[\Sigma_Y(W\otimes \mathbf{s})]^{2k}\right); and$$

with $\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 = \mu' W \mu$.

Proof. Conditions (1)-(4) follow from Corollary 4.2.3 while conditions (5) follows from Theorem 4.4.1. \Box

Corollary 4.4.3. In Theorem 4.4.1, suppose $\Sigma_Y = A \otimes \Sigma$ for some $A \in \mathbb{N}_n$. Then $\{Y'W_iY\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for i = 1, 2, ..., l,

$$Y'W_iY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i},\Sigma,oldsymbol{\lambda}_{1i}) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i},\Sigma,oldsymbol{\lambda}_{2i})$$

for matrices λ_{1i} , λ_{2i} of order p and nonnegative integers m_{1i} , m_{2i} if and only if for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$,

- (1) $AW_iAW_iAW_iA = AW_iA \neq \mathbf{0};$
- (2) $tr(AW_i)^2 + tr(AW_i) = 2m_{1i}, tr(AW_i)^2 tr(AW_i) = 2m_{2i};$
- (3) $\lambda_{1i} + \lambda_{2i} = \mu' W_i A W_i \mu = \mu' W_i A W_i A W_i A W_i \mu$,
 - $\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{1i} \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2i} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i \boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i A W_i A W_i \boldsymbol{\mu};$
- (4) $AW_iAW_jA = \mathbf{0};$
- (5) $AW_iAW_j\mu = 0$; and
- (6) $\boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i A W_j \boldsymbol{\mu} = \mathbf{0}.$

Proof. (1)-(3) follow from Corollary 4.4.2. (4)-(6) follow from Corollary 3.4.4. \Box

Let us look the special case p = 1 of Theorem 4.4.1.

Corollary 4.4.4. Let $\mathbf{y} \sim \mathcal{N}_{\mathbf{n}}(\boldsymbol{\mu}, \mathbf{C})$ with $C \in \mathbb{N}_n$ and W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l be symmetric matrices of order n. Then $\{\mathbf{y}'W_i\mathbf{y}\}_{i=1}^l$ is independent and, for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, l$,

$$\mathbf{y}' W_i \mathbf{y} \sim \chi^2(m_{1i}, \delta_{1i}^2) - \chi^2(m_{2i}, \delta_{2i}^2)$$

for some numbers δ_{1i} , δ_{2i} and nonnegative integers m_{1i} , m_{2i} if and only if for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., l\}$

- (1) $CW_iCW_iCW_iC = CW_iC \neq \mathbf{0};$
- (2) $tr(CW_i)^2 + tr(CW_i) = 2m_{1i}, tr(CW_i)^2 tr(CW_i) = 2m_{2i};$
- (3) $\delta_{1i}^2 + \delta_{2i}^2 = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i C W_i \boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i C W_i C W_i C W_i \boldsymbol{\mu};$
- (4) $\delta_{1i}^2 \delta_{2i}^2 = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i \boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i C W_i C W_i \boldsymbol{\mu};$
- (5) $CW_iCW_jC = \mathbf{0};$
- (6) $CW_i CW_j \mu = 0$; and
- (7) $\boldsymbol{\mu}' W_i C W_j \boldsymbol{\mu} = 0.$

These special cases stated in Corollary 4.4.3 and Corollary 4.4.4 were also discussed

in Tan (1975), Tan (1977) and Wong and Wang (1995).

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Future Research

5.1 Model One

The case discussed in Chapter 3 is called model one. In model one assume that Y is an $n \times p$ multivariate normal random matrix with nonzero mean μ and general covariance Σ_Y and W, W_1 , W_2 , ..., W_l are symmetric matrices of order n. We have derived a set the general necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 3.3.1 and Theorem 3.1.1, Theorem 3.1.3 for special cases) for matrix quadratic form Y'WY to have a noncentral Wishart distribution and then obtained a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 3.2.4 for special cases) for matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y$, $Y'W_2Y$, ..., $Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of noncentral Wishart random matrices.

Now, let $W = \sum_{i=1}^{l} W_i$. Consider the following propositions:

- (B₁) The matrix quadratic form Y'WY has a $\mathcal{W}_p(m, \Sigma, \mu' W \mu)$ distribution.
- (B₂) The matrix quadratic form $Y'W_iY$ has a $\mathcal{W}_p(m_i, \Sigma, \mu'W_i\mu)$ distribution (i =

(B₃) $Y'W_iY$ and $Y'W_jY$ are independent $(i \neq j; i, j = 1, 2, ..., l)$.

The interrelationship of propositions (B_1) , (B_2) and (B_3) will be the first topic of interest. Proposition (B_1) follows from propositions (B_2) and (B_3) by Theorem 10.3.4 of Muirhead (1982). We are wondering if the other two implications hold. That is, (B_1) and (B_3) imply (B_2) ; (B_1) and (B_2) imply (B_3) . Then, we shall study the interrelationship of propositions (B_1) , (B_2) and (B_3) with some imposing conditions, for example, nonsingular covariance Σ_Y or nonnegative definite matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l .

The second topic will be to study new propositions or conditions, denoted as (B_4) , $(B_5), \ldots, (B_k)$, and then discuss the interrelationship of $(B_1), (B_2), \ldots, (B_k)$, also see Vaish and Chaganty (2004) and Tian and Styan (2005).

Although we have established a general multivariate version of Cochran's theorem stated in Theorem 3.4.2, the improvement of condition (b) in Theorem 3.4.2 is required. Then whether there exists some verifiable condition equivalent to condition (b) will be one of our interested topics. Other topics of future research on this model will include the refinement, simplification of Theorem 3.4.2 and the extension of Theorem 3.4.2 to more general matrix quadratic expressions.

5.2 Model Two

The case discussed in Chapter 4 is called model two. Model two involves the problem that asks what are the equivalent conditions for matrix quadratic forms to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices. We have established a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 4.3.1 and Theorem 4.1.1 or Theorem 4.1.2 for special cases) for the matrix quadratic form Y'WY to be distributed as differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices and then we obtained a set of general necessary and sufficient conditions (Theorem 4.4.1 and Theorem 4.2.1 or Theorem 4.2.2 for special cases) for matrix quadratic forms $Y'W_1Y, Y'W_2Y, \ldots, Y'W_lY$ to be an independent family of random matrices distributed as differences of independent noncentral Wishart random matrices.

Now suppose $W = \sum_{i=1}^{l} W_i$. Consider the following propositions:

 $(D_1) Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Sigma, \lambda_1) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Sigma, \lambda_2).$

$$(D_2)$$
 For $i = 1, 2, \ldots, l, Y'W_iY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_{1i}, \Sigma, \lambda_{1i}) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_{2i}, \Sigma, \lambda_{2i}).$

(D₃) $Y'W_iY$ and $Y'W_jY$ are independently $(i \neq j; i, j = 1, 2, ..., l)$.

The interrelationship of propositions (D_1) , (D_2) and (D_3) will be the first topic of interest. Proposition (D_1) follows from propositions (D_2) and (D_3) by Theorem 10.3.4 of Muirhead (1982) and Lemma 2.2.4. We are wondering if the other two implications hold. That is, (D_1) and (D_3) imply (D_2) ; (D_1) and (D_2) imply (D_3) . We may investigate the interrelationship of (A), (B) and (C) with some imposing conditions, for example, nonsingular covariance Σ_Y or nonnegative definite matrices W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_l .

The second topic will study new propositions or conditions, denoted as (D_4) , $(D_5), \ldots, (D_k)$, and study the interrelationship of $(D_1), (D_2), \ldots, (D_k)$, also see Tan (1975).

Moreover, we are wondering if its condition (4.67) and (4.68) can be replaced with the following conditions

$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+))^2 + tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+)) = 2m_{1i}r(\Sigma)$$
$$tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+))^2 - tr(\Sigma_Y(W_i \otimes \Sigma^+)) = 2m_{2i}r(\Sigma).$$

The examples and applications of Theorem 4.4.1 or Theorem 4.2.2 should be investigated. Other topics of future research on this model will include the refinement, simplification of Theorem 4.4.1 and the extension of Theorem 4.4.1 to more general matrix quadratic expressions. Tan (1975) and Wong and Wang (1995) obtained their results for matrix quadratic expressions.

Necessary and Sufficient Conditions for a MQF to be Distributed as a DIWRM

The following result and its proof are due of Masaro and Wong (2004b).

Theorem Let $Y \sim \mathcal{N}_{n \times p}(\mathbf{0}, \Sigma_Y)$ and $W \in \mathbb{S}_n$. Decompose $\Sigma_{Y'}$ as

$$\Sigma_{Y'} = L'L, \quad L = [L_1, L_2, \dots, L_p]$$
 (1)

with $L_i \in \mathbb{M}_{q \times n}$ and $r(\Sigma_{Y'}) q \leq np$. Assume (without loss of generality) that $L_i W L'_i \neq 0$ $(i \leq r)$. Let $\Lambda = diag[\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \ldots, \sigma_r, 0, \ldots, 0]$ $(\sigma_i > 0, i \leq r)$ and define

$$B_{ij} = [L_i W L'_j + L_j W L'_i] / 2 \sqrt{\sigma_i \sigma_j}, \ i, j \le r$$

Then $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Lambda) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Lambda)$ with the common covariance Λ for nonnegative integers m_1 and m_2 if and only if

(C1) $L_iWL'_j + L_jWL'_i = 0$ for *i* or j > r(C2) $B^3_{ii} = B_{ii}, tr(B_{ii}) = m_1 - m_2, tr(B^2_{ii}) = m_1 + m_2$ (C3) $B_{ii}B_{jj} = 0, i \neq j$ (C4) $4B^2_{ij} = B^2_{ii} + B^2_{jj}, i \neq j$ (C5) $B_{ii}B_{ij} = B_{ij}B_{jj}, i \neq j$ (C6) $2(B_{ii} + B_{jj})(B_{ik}B_{jk} + B_{jk}B_{ik}) = B_{ij}$ for all distinct *i*, *j*, *k*.

Proof. First note that in (1) we may, without loss of generality, assume q = np (or just replace L' by $[L', \mathbf{0}] \in \mathbb{M}_{np \times np}$). This will simplify the notation later on in our proof (see (7)-(9)).

First assume that conditions (C1)-(C6) hold. By Lemma 2.3.5 we must show that for k = 1, 2, ...

$$tr(\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2})^k = [m_1 + (-1)^k m_2] tr(\Lambda^{1/2} \mathbf{s} \Lambda^{1/2})^k , \ \mathbf{s} = (s_{ij}) \in \mathbb{S}_p$$
(2)

Using (2.7) - (2.8) we obtain

$$tr(\Sigma_Y^{1/2}(W \otimes \mathbf{s})\Sigma_Y^{1/2})^k = tr(L(\mathbf{s} \otimes W)L')^k = tr\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^r s_{ij}L_iWL'_j\right)^k = tr\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^r \sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}s_{ij}B_{ij}\right)^k$$

Note that $tr(\Lambda^{1/2}\mathbf{s}\Lambda^{1/2})^k = tr(\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}s_{ij})^k$. Thus since $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{S}_p$ is arbitrary we must show that

$$tr\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} u_{ij}B_{ij}\right)^{k} = [m_{1} + (-1)^{k}m_{2}]trU^{k}, \quad U = [u_{ij}] \in \mathbb{S}_{r}, \ k = 1, 2, \dots \quad (3)$$

Now from condition (C2) it follows that

$$B_{ii}^{2k+1} = B_{ii}, \quad tr(B_{ii}^{2k+1}) = m_1 - m_2 \quad k = 1, 2, \dots \text{ and}$$

$$B_{ii}^{2k} = B_{ii}^2, \quad tr(B_{ii}^{2k}) = m_1 + m_2, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots$$
(4)

Thus using (C4), (C3) and (4) it is easily shown that for $i \neq j$, $||B_{ij} - 4B_{ij}^3||^2 = 0$ and so

$$B_{ij} = 4B_{ij}^3. \quad i \neq j \tag{5}$$

Combining (C4) with (5) we get that, for $i \neq j$, $(B_{ii}^2 + B_{jj}^2)B_{ij} = 4B_{ij}^2B_{ij} = B_{ij}$. The symmetry of B_{ij} then yields

$$B_{ij} = (B_{ii}^2 + B_{jj}^2)B_{ij}(B_{ii}^2 + B_{jj}^2). \quad i \neq j$$
(6)

Now by (4) and (C3) we may choose an orthogonal matrix H which does not depend on i and such that

$$\tilde{B}_{ii} \equiv H' B_{ii} H = \mathbf{e}_{ii} \otimes A_{ii} \tag{7}$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

where $A_{ii} = diag[U_{ii}, V_{ii}, 0] \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times n}$ and $U_{ii} = I_{m_1}, V_{ii} = -I_{m_2}$.

For $i \neq j$, let $\tilde{B}_{ij} \equiv H'B_{ij}H$. Then using (6), (C5) and (C4) with B_{ii}, B_{jj} and B_{ij} replaced by $\tilde{B}_{ii}, \tilde{B}_{jj}$ and \tilde{B}_{ij} we obtain

$$\tilde{B}_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{e}_{ij} \otimes A_{ij} + \mathbf{e}_{ji} \otimes A_{ji})$$
(8)

where $A_{ij} = diag[U_{ij}, V_{ij}, \mathbf{0}] \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times n}, U_{ij} \in \mathbb{M}_{m_1 \times m_1}, V_{ij} \in M_{m_2 \times m_2}$ and $A'_{ij} = A_{ji}, U_{ij}U'_{ij} = I_{m_1}, V_{ij}V'_{ij} = I_{m_2}$. Thus from (7) and (8) we have

$$H'\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} u_{ij}B_{ij}\right)H = diag[[u_{ij}A_{ij}], \mathbf{0}].$$
(9)

We now claim that for all i, j, k

$$U_{ik}U_{kj} = U_{ij}, \ V_{ik}V_{kj} = -V_{ij}.$$
 (10)

Indeed (10) is clear if k = i or j (since $U_{ii} = I_{m_1}$ and $V_{ii} = -I_{m_2}$) or if i = j (since $U_{ij}U'_{ij} = I_{m_1}$ and $V_{ij}V'_{ij} = I_{m_2}$). The remaining case (i.e. when i, j and k are distinct) is obtained by substituting the matrix representations \tilde{B}_{ij} given in (8) into (C6).

Now from (10) it easily follows that for all i, j, k, ℓ

$$A_{ik}A_{k\ell}A_{\ell j} = A_{ij}.$$
(11)

Finally, by (9), we have

$$tr\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} u_{ij}B_{ij}\right)^{k} = tr(u_{ij}A_{ij})^{k}$$
$$= tr(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{\ell_{1},\ell_{2},\dots,\ell_{k-1}=1}^{r} u_{i\ell_{1}}u_{\ell_{1}\ell_{2}}\dots u_{\ell_{k-2}\ell_{k-1}}u_{\ell_{k-1}i}A_{i\ell_{1}}A_{\ell_{1}\ell_{2}}\dots A_{\ell_{k-2}\ell_{k-1}}A_{\ell_{k-1}i})$$
$$= tr(\sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{\ell_{1},\ell_{2},\dots,\ell_{k-1}=1}^{r} u_{i\ell_{1}}u_{\ell_{1}\ell_{2}}\dots u_{\ell_{k-2}\ell_{k-1}}u_{\ell_{k-1}i}C)$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

where

$$C = \begin{cases} diag[I_m, \mathbf{0}], & \text{if } k \text{ is even}; \\ diag[I_{m_1}, -I_{m_2}, \mathbf{0}], & \text{if } k \text{ is odd}. \end{cases}$$
(by (11))

Thus $\left[\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} u_{ij} B_{ij}\right]^k = [m_1 + (-1)^k m_2] tr U^k$, which proves (3) as required.

Conversely assume $Y'WY \sim \mathcal{W}_p(m_1, \Lambda) - \mathcal{W}_p(m_2, \Lambda)$. We show that conditions (C1)-(C6) hold.

Using (2) and (2.7)-(2.8) and arguing as before we have that for k = 1, 2...

$$tr\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{p} s_{ij}L_iWL_j'\right)^k = [m_1 + (-1)^k m_2]tr(\sqrt{\sigma_i\sigma_j}s_{ij})^k \quad , \quad \mathbf{s} = (s_{ij}) \in \mathbb{S}_p.$$
(12)

Fixing u and v with u or v > r and letting $s_{uv} = s_{vu} = 1$ and all other $s_{ij} = 0$ we see that condition (C1) then follows from (3.13) since $\sigma_i = 0$ for i > r.

Now setting $u_{ij} = \sqrt{\sigma_i \sigma_j} s_{ij}$, $i, j \leq r$, we obtain from (12) and (C1) that

$$tr\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} u_{ij}B_{ij}\right)^{k} = [m_{1} + (-1)^{k}m_{2}]trU^{k}, \ U = [u_{ij}] \in \mathbb{S}_{r}, \ k = 1, 2,$$
(13)

Fixing i and letting $u_{ii} = 1$ and all other $u_{k\ell} = 0$ in (13) yields

$$tr(B_{ii}^k) = m_1 + (-1)^k m_2, \quad k = 1, 2,$$
(14)

which proves (C2).

Also, fixing $i \neq j$ and letting $u_{ij} = u_{ji} = 1$ and all other $u_{kl} = 0$ in (13) gives

$$tr(2B_{ij})^{k} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } k \text{ is odd;} \\ 2(m_{1} + m_{2}), & \text{if } k \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$
(15)

Now from (13) we get for $i \neq j$

$$tr(aB_{ii}+bB_{jj}+2cB_{ij})^4 = (m_1+m_2)(a^4+b^4+2c^4+4a^2c^2+4b^2c^2+4abc^2).$$
(16)

By comparing the coefficients of a^2b^2 on the left and right sides of equation (16) we find that

$$2tr(B_{ii}^2 B_{jj}^2) + tr(B_{ii} B_{jj})^2 = 0 , \ i \neq j$$
(17)

Now since $|tr(B_{ii}B_{jj})^2| = | < B_{ii}B_{jj}, B_{jj}B_{ii} > | \leq ||B_{ii}B_{jj}||^2 = tr(B_{ii}^2B_{jj}^2)$, (17) implies that $0 = tr(B_{ii}^2B_{jj}^2) = ||B_{ii}B_{jj}||^2$ which proves (C3).

Comparing the coefficients of abc^2 on the left and right sides of equation (16) and using (C3) we obtain

$$4tr(B_{ii}B_{ij}B_{jj}B_{ij}) = m_1 + m_2, \quad i \neq j$$
(18)

Thus, by (C3), (14), (15)) and (18)

$$tr(4B_{ij}^{2} - (B_{ii}^{2} + B_{jj}^{2}))^{2} = tr(16B_{ij}^{4} + B_{ii}^{4} + B_{jj}^{4} - 8B_{ij}^{2}(B_{ii}^{2} + B_{jj}^{2}))$$

= $4(m_{1} + m_{2}) - 8[||B_{ii}B_{ij}||^{2} + ||B_{ij}B_{jj}||^{2}]$
 $\leq 4(m_{1} + m_{2}) - 16||B_{ii}B_{ij}||||B_{ij}B_{jj}|| \leq 4(m_{1} + m_{2}) - 16 < B_{ii}B_{ij}, B_{ij}B_{jj} >$
= $4(m_{1} + m_{2}) - 16(m_{1} + m_{2})/4 = 0$

which proves (C4).

Also using (C4), (C3), (14) and (18), a straightforward calculation shows that $||B_{ii}B_{ij} - B_{ij}B_{jj}||^2 = 0$ which proves (C5).

Finally, to prove (C6), note first that $(C6)'\left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{r} B_{ij}\right)^3 = r^2 \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} B_{ij}$. Indeed this is a consequence of setting all $u_{ij} = 1$ in (13). Also note that since we have shown that (C1)-(C5) hold, we may use the matrix representation given by (7)-(9). Using this representation in (C6)' gives

$$r^2[A_{ij}] = [A_{ij}]^3 (19)$$

where $A_{ij} = diag[P_{ij}, \mathbf{0}] \in \mathbb{M}_{n \times n}$, $P_{ij} \in M_{m \times m}$, $P'_{ij} = P_{ji}$, $P_{ij}P'_{ij} = I_m$, $m = m_1 + m_2$. We claim that for all i, j, k, ℓ

$$A_{ik}A_{k\ell}A_{\ell j} = A_{ij}.$$

Indeed by (19) we have

$$r^2 P_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{\prime} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\prime} P_{ik} P_{k\ell} P_{\ell j}.$$

Hence,

$$r^{2}I_{m} = \sum_{k=1}^{r} \sum_{\ell=1}^{r} P_{ji} P_{ik} P_{k\ell} P_{\ell j} = \sum_{k=1}^{r} \sum_{\ell=1}^{r} F_{k\ell} \quad , \quad F_{k\ell} = P_{ji} P_{ik} P_{k\ell} P_{\ell j}.$$
(21)

Now since $F_{k\ell}$ is orthogonal,

$$tr(F_{k\ell}) = \langle F_{k\ell}, I_m \rangle \leq ||F_{k\ell}||||I_m|| = m.$$
(22)

Thus from (21) and (22) we have

$$mr^{2} = \sum_{k=1}^{r} \sum_{\ell=1}^{r} tr(F_{k\ell}) \le mr^{2}.$$
(23)

Now (23) shows that the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality in (22) must be an equality. Thus $F_{k\ell}$ is a scalar multiple of I_m and since $tr(F_{k\ell}) = m$, $F_{k\ell} = I_m$. Hence $P_{ji}P_{ik}P_{k\ell}P_{\ell j} = I_m$ or $P_{ik}P_{k\ell}P_{\ell j} = P_{ij}$ which proves (20).

Now taking k = i in (20) yields $A_{ii}A_{i\ell}A_{\ell j} = A_{ij}$ or

$$A_{ii}A_{i\ell} = A_{ij}A_{j\ell}.$$
 (24)

Equation (C6) can now be verified by replacing the B_{uv} in that equation by their matrix representations given in (7) and (8) and using (24).

126

Bibliography

- Anderson, B. M., Anderson, T. W. and Olkin, I. (1986). Maximum likelihood estimators and likelihood ratio criterion in multivariate components of variance. *Ann. Statist.* 14, 405-417.
- [2] Anderson, T. W. (1971). The Statistical Analysis of Times Series. Wiley, New York.
- [3] Anderson, T. W. and Fang, K. T. (1987). Cochran's theorem for elliptically contoured distributions. Sankhyā Ser. A 49, 305-315.
- [4] Anderson, T. W. and Fang, K. T., eds. (1990). Statistical Inference in Elliptically Contoured and related Distributions, Wiley, New York.
- [5] Anderson, T. W. and Styan, G. P. H. (1982). Cochran's theorem, rank additivity, and tripotent matrices. In *Statistics and Probability: Essays in Honor of C. R. Rao*, G. Kallianpur, P.R. Krishnaiah, and J. K. Ghosh, Eds., 1-23, North-Holland, Amsterdam.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Bibliography

- [6] Baksalary, J. K. and Hauke, J. (1990). On a matrix version of Cochran's statistical theorem. Special issue honoring Calyampudi Radhakrishna Rao. *Linear Algebra Appl.* 127, 157-169.
- [7] Baksalary, J. K., Hauke, J. and Styan, G. P. H. (1994). On some distributional properties of qradratic forms in normal variables and on some associated matrix partial orderings. in T.W. Anderson, K.T. Fang and I. Olkin(Eds), *Multivariate Analysis and its Applications*, in: IMS Lecture Notes monogr, Ser. 24, Inst. of Mathematical Statistics, Hayward, CA, 1994, 111-121.
- [8] Baldessari, B. (1967). The distribution of a quadratic form of normal random variables. Ann. Math. Statist. 38, 1700-1704.
- [9] Banerjee, K. S. (1964). A note on idempotent matrices. Ann. Math. Statist. 35, 880-882.
- [10] Banerjee, K. S. and Nagase, G (1976). A note on the generalization of Cochran's theorem. Comm. Statist. Theory Method 5, 837-842.
- [11] Behboodian, J. (2001). A generalization of Cochran's theorem using ring theory. Proceeding of the 13th Algebra Seminar (Urmia, 2001), 15-18, Univ. Urmia, Urmia.
- [12] Chipman, J. S. and Rao, M. M. (1964). Projections, generalized inverses, and quadratic forms. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 9, 1-11.
- [13] Craig, A. T. (1943). Note on the independence of certain quadratic forms. Ann. Math. Statist. 14, 195-197.

- [14] Cochran, W. G. (1934). The distribution of quadratic forms in a normal system with applications to the analysis of covariance. *Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc.* 30, 178-191.
- [15] de Gunst, M. C. M. (1987). On the distribution of general quadratic functions in normal vectors. Statist. Neerlandica 41, 245-251.
- [16] Driscoll, M. F. and Gundberg, M. C. M. (1986). A history of the development of Craig's theorem. Amer. Statistician 40, 65-70.
- [17] Dumais, M. and Styan, G. P. H. (1998). A bibliography on the distribution of quadratic forms in normal variables with special emphasis on the Craig-Skamoto theorem and on Cochran's theorem, in: The Seventh International Workshop on the Matrices and Statistics, in Celebration of T. W. Anderson's 80th Birthday. Fort Lauderdale, FL.
- [18] Eaton, M. L. (1983). Multivariate Statistics, a Vector Space Approach. Wiley, New York.
- [19] Fan, J. (1986). Distributions of quadratic forms and non-central Cochran's theorem. Acta Mathematicae Sinica (News Series) 2, 185-198.
- [20] Fang, K. T. and Wu, Y. (1984). Distributions of quadratic forms and Cochran's theorem. Mathematics in Economics 1, 29-48.
- [21] Fang, K. T. and Zhang, Y. T. (1990). Generalized Multivariate Analysis. Springer, New York.

- [22] Good, I. J. (1963). On the independence of quadratic expression (with an appendix by L.R.Welch). J. Royal Soc. Ser. B 25, 377-382.
- [23] Good, I. J. (1969). Conditions for a quadratic form to have chi-square distribution. *Biometrika* 56, 215-216, 57, 225.
- [24] Graybill, F. J. (1969). Introduction to Matrices with Applications in Statistics.Wiley, New York.
- [25] Graybill, F. A. and Marsaglia, G. (1957). Independent matrices and quadratic forms in the general linear hypothesis. Ann. Math. Statist. 28, 678-686.
- [26] Jacobson, N. (1968). Structure and Representations of Jordan Algebras, Amer. Math. Soc. Coll. Publ., XXXIX, Providence, Rhode Island.
- [27] James, G. S. (1952). Notes on a theorem of Cochran. Proc. Camb. Philos. Soc.
 48, 443-446.
- [28] Johnson, N. L. and Kotz, S. (1970). Distributions in Statistics: Continuous Mutivariate Distributions. Wiley, New York.
- [29] Khatri, C. G. (1959). On conditions for the forms of the type: XAX' to be distributed independently or to obey Wishart distribution. Calcutta Statist. Assn. Bull. 8, 162-168.
- [30] Khatri, C. G. (1962). Conditions for Wishartness and independence of second degree polynomial in normal vectors. Ann. Math. Statist. 33, 1002-1007.

- [31] Khatri, C. G. (1963). Further contributions to Wishartness and independence of second degree polynomials in normal vectors. J. Indian Statist. Assoc. 1, 61-70.
- [32] Khatri, C. G. (1968). Some results for the singular normal multivariate regression models. Sankhyā Ser. A 30, 267-280.
- [33] Khatri, C. G. (1977). Quadratic forms and extension of Cochran's theorem to normal vector variables. In *Multivariate Analysis*, IV, ed. Krishnaiah, North-Holland, 79-94.
- [34] Khatri, C. G. (1980). Quadratic forms in normal variables. Handbooks of Statistics, P.R. Krishnaiah, Ed, 443-469, North Holland, Amsterdam.
- [35] Kruskal, W. (1975). The geometry of generalized inverse. J. Roy. Statist. Soc. Ser. B 37, 272-283.
- [36] Laha, R. G. (1956). On the stochastic independence of two second degree polynomial statistics in normal distributed variates. Ann. Math. Statist. 27, 790-796.
- [37] Lešnjak, G. (2004). A note on an algebraic version of Cochran's theorem. J. Statist. Plann. Inference 388, 295-299.
- [38] Loynes, R. M. (1966). On idempotent matrices. Ann. Math. Statist. 37, 295-296.
- [39] Luther, N. Y. (1965). Decomposition of symmetric matrices and distributions of quadratic forms. Ann. Math. Statist. 36, 683-690.
- [40] Madow, W. G. (1940). The distribution of quadratic forms in non-central normal random variables. Ann. Math. Statist. 11, 100-103.

Bibliography

- [41] Magnus, J. R. and Neudecker, H. (1979). The commutation matrix: some properties and application. Ann. Statist. 7, 381-394.
- [42] Magnus, J. R. and Neudecker, H. (1991). Matrix Differential Calculus with Application in Statistics and Econometrics. Wiley, New York.
- [43] Masaro, J. and Wong, C. S. (2003). Wishart distributions associated with matrix quadratic forms. J. Multivariate Anal. 85, 1-9.
- [44] Masaro, J. and Wong, C. S. (2004a). Wishertness of quadratic forms: a characterization via Jordan algebra homomorphisms. Unpublished manuscript.
- [45] Masaro, J. and Wong, C. S. (2004b). A general Cochran theorem via a Jordan algebra homomorphisms. Unpublished manuscript.
- [46] Mathai, A. M. (1993). On noncentral generalized Laplacianness of quadratic forms in normal variables. J. Multivariate Anal. 46, 239-246.
- [47] Mathai, A. M. and Provost, S. B. (1992). Quadratic Forms in Random Variables: Theory and Applications. Marcel Dekker Inc., New York.
- [48] Mathai, A. M., Provost, S. B. and Hayakawa, T. (1995). Bilinear Forms and Zonal Polynomials. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- [49] Mathew, T. (1989). MANOVA in the multivariate components of variance model.J. Multivariate Anal. 29, 30-38.
- [50] Mathew, T. and Nordstrom, K. (1997). Wishart and chi-square distributions associated with matrix quadratic forms. J. Multivariate Anal. 61, 129-143.
- [51] Muirhead, R. J. (1982). Aspects of Multivariate Statistical Theory. Wiley, New York.
- [52] Ogasawara, T. and Takahasshi, M. (1951). Independence in quadratic forms in normal system. J. Sci. Hiroshoma Univ. 15, 1-9.
- [53] Pavur, R. J. (1987). Distribution of multivariate quadratic forms under certain covariance structures. *Canad. J. Statist.* 15, 169-176.
- [54] Rao, C. R. (1973). Linear Statistical Inference and its Applications. Wiley, New York.
- [55] Rao, C. R. and Kleffe, J. (1988). Estimation of Variance Components and Applications. Wiley, New York.
- [56] Rao, C. R. and Mitra, S. K. (1971). Generalized Inverse of Matrices and its Applications. Wiley, New York.
- [57] Rayner, A. A. and Livingstone, D. (1965). On the distribution of quadratic forms in singular normal variates. S. African J. Agric. Sci. 8, 357-370.
- [58] Sakamoto, H. (1944). On the independence of two statistics. Res. Mem. Inst. Statist. Math. 1, 1-25.
- [59] Searle, S. R. (1971). Linear Models. Wiley, New York.
- [60] Šemrl, P. (1996). On a matrix version of Cochran's statistical theorem. Linear Algebra Appl. 238, 477-487.

- [61] Shanbhag, D. N. (1966). On the independence of quadratic forms. J. Roy. Statist. Soc. Ser. B 28, 582-583.
- [62] Shanbhag, D. N. (1968). Some remarks concerning Khatri's result on quadratic forms. *Biometrika* 55, 593-595.
- [63] Siotani, M., Hayakawa, T. and Fujikoshi, Y. (1985). Modern Multivariate Statistical Analysis. American Science Press, Columbus, OH.
- [64] Srivastava, M. S. (2003). Singular Wishart and multivariate beta distributions. Ann. Statist. 31, 1537-1560.
- [65] Styan, G. P. H.(1970). Note on the distribution of quadratic forms in singular normal variable. *Biometrika* 57, 567-572.
- [66] Styan, G. P. H. and Takemura, A. (1983). Rank additivity and matrix polynomials, in *Studies in Econometrics, Times Series, and Multivariate Statistics* (S. Karlin, T. Amemiya, and L.A. Goodman, eds.), Academic, 1983, 545-558.
- [67] Tan, W. Y. (1975). Some matrix results and extensions of Cochran's theorems. SIAM J. Appl. Math. 28, 547-554, Errata 30, 608-610.
- [68] Tan, W. Y. (1977). On the distribution of quadratic forms in normal random variables. *Canad. J. Statist.* 5, 241-250.
- [69] Tian, Y. and Styan, G. P. H. (2005). Cochran's statistical theorem for outer inverses of matrices and matrix quadratic forms. *Linear Multilinear Algebra* 53, 387–392.

Bibliography

- [70] Vaish, A. K. and Chaganty, N. R. (2004). Wishartness and independence of matrix quadratic forms for Kronecker product covariance structures. *Linear Algebra Appl.* 388, 379-388.
- [71] Wang, T. (1997). Versions of Cochran's theorem for general quadratic expressions in normal matrices. J. Statist. Plann. Inference 58, 283-297.
- [72] Wang, T., Fu, R. and Wong, C. S. (1996). Cochran theorems for multivariate components of variance models. Sankhyā Ser. A 58, 328–342.
- [73] Wang, T. and Wong, C. S. (1995). Cochran theorems for a multivariate elliptically contoured model. J. Statist. Plann. Inference 43, 257-270.
- [74] Waterhouse, W. C. (2001). Cochran theorem for rings. Amer. Math. Monthly 108, 58-59.
- [75] Wong, C. S. (2000). Probability Theory. Hunan Science and Technology Publisher, Changsha.
- [76] Wong, C. S. and Cheng, H. (1998). Cochran theorems to vector elliptically contoured distributions of gamma type. Sankhyā Ser. B 60, 407–432.
- [77] Wong, C. S. and Cheng, H. (1999). Cochran theorems for a multivariate vectorelliptically contoured model. II. J. Statist. Plann. Inference 79, 299–324.
- [78] Wong, C. S., Cheng, H. and Masaro, J. (1999). Multivariate versions of Cochran theorems. *Linear Algebra Appl.* 291, 227-234.

Bibliography

- [79] Wong, C. S., Masaro, J. and Deng. W. (1995). Estimating covariance in a growth curve model. *Linear Algebra Appl.* 214, 103-118.
- [80] Wong, C. S., Masaro, J. and Wang, T. H. (1991). Multivariate versions of Cochran theorems. J. Multivariate Anal. 39, 154-174.
- [81] Wong, C. S. and Wang, T. H. (1993). Multivariate versions of Cochran theorems II. J. Multivariate Anal. 44,146-159.
- [82] Wong, C. S. and Wang, T. (1995). Laplace-Wishart distributions and Cochran theorems. Sankhyā Ser. A 57, 342-359.
- [83] Zhang, G. (1989). A non-cetral Cochran's theorem in elliptically contoured distribution. Chinese J. Appl. Probab. Statist. 5, 234-242.

Vita Auctoris

Jianhua Hu was born in Hunan, China. He received his M.S. in Applied Mathematics in Changsha Railway University (currently Central South University), China, in 1989. He earned his M.A. in Statistics at University of Windsor, Canada, in 2001. He is currently a candidate for the Doctoral degree in Statistics at the University of Windsor and hopes to finish his graduate study in June of 2007.